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The future of transportation 
is an impressive sight.
Our proven electronic toll systems provide the 
infrastructure for innovative ITS applications.
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*) What you see here: Vehicles equipped with an on-board unit,  
enable electronic toll collection systems to charge fees fully auto-
matically – without interfering at all with the traffic flow.

Toll Collection Systems – Electronic toll collection systems also provide a robust and extensible infrastructure for numerous 
and diverse Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) applications. Our toll collection systems are increasingly used as the basis 
for advanced ITS solutions that offer road users, road operators and public agencies increased safety, improved services  
and significant cost savings.    
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FotodoppelseiteKapsch TrafficCom’s core competence lies in the 
development, realization and operation of electronic 
road user charging solutions. Alongside reliable 
collection of fees and tolls, our systems offer the 
perfect platform for a broad spectrum of future-ready 
solutions for Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS): 
applications that capitalize on existing transportation 
infrastructure to improve safety and mobility – by 
controlling traffic flows and preventing traffic jams, 
speeding up emergency responses and automating  
the identification and tracking of specific vehicles. 

Manage traffic intelligently,  
systematically create added value.
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*) What you don’t see here: By recording speed over a defined  
distance, our ‘Section Control’ does not allow speeders to simply 
get away with it.

Section Control – Measuring the average speed over a road section is gaining in importance as a measure for improving 
traffic safety. Such traffic monitoring systems automatically evaluate whether vehicles are driving within legal speed limits 
and encourage good driving behavior. Experience has shown that monitoring the driving speed over entire road sections 
significantly reduces the number of road accidents while helping to improve the environmental situation.    
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Highlights of Fiscal Year.
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Revenues increased by 80 % to an all-time high of EUR 388.6 million. EBIT increased by 99 % to an all-time high of EUR 48.9 million.
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Profit for the period (adjusted) 1 decreased (increased) by 22 % (27 %) to EUR 28.4 million. Earnings per share (adjusted) 1 decreased (increased) by 32 % (21 %) to EUR 1.81.
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Revenues in segment SEC increased by 38 % to EUR 223.3 million. Revenues in segment RSP increased by 247 % to EUR 158.9 million.
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Net working capital increased by EUR 71.3 million (68 %) to EUR 175.9 million. Equity ratio decreased to 42.5 % widely due to corporate bond issuance.

Revenues

Revenues in segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC)

Profit for the period (adjusted) 1

Net working capital 	 Total assets and equity ratio 3

Earnings per share 2 (adjusted) 1

Revenues in segment Road Solution Projects (RSP)

EBIT and EBIT margin

1	 2009/10 adjusted for the EUR 14 million fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway
2	 earnings per share relate to 12.2 million shares
3	 incl. minority interests
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Consortium led by Kapsch TrafficCom was the best bidder in the 

tender for a nationwide electronic truck tolling system on a road 

network of up to 7,600 kilometers, as announced at the beginning 

of October 2010. 

Contract signed on 2 November 2010 for the implementation and 

operation over eight years of an electronic truck tolling system for 

an existing road network initially covering about 1,750 kilometers.

Large contract award in Poland

Acquisition of 56.81 % in TMT Services and Supplies (Proprietary) 

Limited, a provider of traffic management solutions.

Contract awarded to implement and subsequently operate an 

automatic fare collection system on the bus fleet of the City of 

Johannesburg.

Order of 1.5 million on-board units for the electronic toll collection 

system in the Gauteng province.

Extension of presence in South Africa

First contract in Russia to equip traffic crossings with fully 

automatic applications for red light enforcement, lane control 

and speed control in the city of Kazan.

First contract in Russia

Acquisition of the Mark IV IVHS businesses in the United States, 

Canada and Mexico, the largest equipment supplier of electronic 

toll collection systems based on the established 915 MHz 

technology in North America.

Port of Hood River as the first road operator in the United States 

to deploy an electronic toll collection system based on the 

newly developed 5.9 GHz technology.

Important steps in the U.S.A.

Average performance rate 1 of the nationwide electronic truck 

tolling system in the Czech Republic increased to an all-time 

high of 99.31 % in calendar year 2010.

System performance 1 in the Czech Republic
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Volume of on-board units delivered increased to an all-time high 

of 5.2 million units.

Business with on-board units
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Average transaction rate 1 of the nationwide electronic truck 

tolling system in Austria increased to an all-time high of 

99.88 % in calendar year 2010.

System performance 1 in Austria

in
 %
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Issuance of a 4.25 % corporate bond with a tenor of seven 

years and a volume of EUR 75 million on 3 November 2010.

Corporate bond priced at a re-offer spread of mid-swap plus 

195 basis points; demand was high, above all from retail 

investors.

Issuance of a corporate bond

1	 The calculation of the system performance is based on methods agreed upon with the respective customer, meaning that 
	 comparisons between the performance rates achieved in different projects are only possible on a limited basis.
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The Fiscal Year in Review.
Earnings Data  2010/11 2009/10 +/- % 2008/09

Revenues in million EUR 388.6 216.0 80 % 200.3

EBITDA  in million EUR 62.5 32.0 95 % 35.0

EBITDA margin in % 16.1 14.8 17.5

EBIT in million EUR 48.9 24.5 99 % 29.0

EBITDA margin in % 12.6 11.4 14.5

Profit before tax in million EUR 41.3 43.9 -6 % 21.9

Profit for the period (adjusted) 1 in million EUR 28.4 36.5 (22.5) -22 % (27 %) 16.4

Earnings per share 2 (adjusted) 1 in EUR 1.81 2.64 (1.49) -32 % (21 %) 1.06

Free cash flow 3 in million EUR -19.9 41.6 <-100 % 19.9

Capital expenditure 4 in million EUR 8.3 4.8 71 % 22.2

Employees 5 2,167 1,023 >100 % 946

On-board units delivered in million units 5.2 3.5 49 % 2.7

Business Segments 2010/11 2009/10 +/- % 2008/09

Road Solution Projects (RSP)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 158.9 (41 %) 45.8 (21 %) >100 % 56.8 (28 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 0.1 (0.1 %) -20.9 (-45.6 %) <-100 % -1.7 (-2.9 %)

Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 223.3 (57 %) 161.9 (75 %) 38 % 135.6 (68 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 48.3 (21.6 %) 45.3 (28.0 %) 7 % 31.7 (23.4 %)

Others (OTH)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 6.4 (2 %) 8.3 (4 %) -23 % 8.0 (4 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 0.4 (6.7 %) 0.2 (1.9 %) >100 % -1.0 (-12.6 %)

Region 2010/11 2009/10 +/- % 2008/09

Austria – Revenues (% of Revenues) in million EUR 37.5 (10 %) 42.4 (20 %) -12 % 37.8 (19 %)

Europe (excl. Austria) – Revenues (% of Revenues) in million EUR 182.0 (47 %) 117.1 (54 %) 55 % 122.8 (61 %)

Americas – Revenues (% of Revenues) in million EUR 27.6 (7 %) 12.1 (5 %) >100 % 14.0 (7 %)

Rest of World – Revenues (% of Revenues) in million EUR 141.5 (36 %) 44.5 (21 %) >100 % 25.6 (13 %)

Balance Sheet Data 31 March 2011 31 March 2010 +/- % 31 March 2009

Total assets in million EUR 450.1 295.1 53 % 324.5

Total equity 6 in million EUR 191.5 168.2 14 % 134.2

Equity ratio 6 in % 42.5 57.0 41.4

Net assets (+) / debt (-) in million EUR -47.2 35.3 <-100 % 5.0

Capital employed in million EUR 288.7 187.5 54 % 193.4

Net working capital in million EUR 175.9 104.6 68 % 122.3

Stock Exchange Data  2010/11 2009/10 2008/09

Number of shares 5 in million 12.2 12.2 12.2

Free float 5 in % 31.6 31.6 31.6

Closing price 5 in EUR 62.5 25.3 14.8

Market capitalization 5 in million EUR 762.5 308.2 180.6

Share performance in % 247.4 70.9 -53.8

Dividend per share in EUR 1.00 7 0.75 0.50

1	 2009/10 adjusted for the EUR 14 million fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway
2	 earnings per share relate to 12.2 million shares
3	 operating cash flow minus capital expenditure from operations (excl. payments for acquisition  
	 of companies and purchases of securities and investments)

4	 capital expenditure from operations (excl. payments for acquisition  
	 of companies and purchases of securities and investments)
5	 as of 31 March of each year
6	 incl. minority interests   
7	 proposal of the managing board subject to approval of the  
	 shareholders’ meeting   



The Fiscal Year in Review | IV

The Kapsch TrafficCom Group recorded the highest operating results in its corporate history in the fiscal year 

2010/11 ended 31 March 2011: Revenues increased by 80 % as compared to the previous year to an all-time 

high of EUR 388.6 million. EBIT increased by 99 % year-on-year to another all-time high of EUR 48.9 million. In 

relation to revenues, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group generated an EBIT margin of 12.6 % compared with 11.4 % 

during the same period in the previous fiscal year.

The development of the business of Kapsch TrafficCom Group in the last fiscal year was primarily driven by the 

segment SEC (Services, System Extensions, Components Sales), representing the recurring part of the Group’s 

business, and by the segment RSP (Road Solution Projects), which represents the large-scale project business. 

In the segment SEC, revenues increased by 38 % year-on-year to EUR 223.3 million. This positive development 

was primarily attributable to a record volume of 5.2 million on-board units delivered (previous fiscal year: 3.5 

million units), the first-time consolidation of acquired companies during the fiscal year 2010/2011 as well as higher 

operating revenues in the Czech Republic and in Austria. In both countries, performance rates of the nationwide 

electronic truck tolling systems increased from already high levels, resulting in higher bonus payments to Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group. In the segment RSP, revenues increased by 247 % year-on-year to EUR 158.9 million. This positive 

development resulted largely from electronic toll collection system implementations in South Africa and Poland.

Due to a decrease in the financial result by EUR 11.7 million as compared to the previous fiscal year and a 

one-time fair value adjustment relating to the stake held in Q-Free ASA in the amount of EUR 14.0 million in the 

previous fiscal year, profit for the period decreased from EUR 36.5 million in the previous fiscal year to EUR 28.4 

million in the fiscal year 2010/2011. As a result, earnings per share decreased from EUR 2.64 in the previous 

fiscal year to EUR 1.81 in the fiscal year 2010/2011. Adjusted for the one-time fair value adjustment relating 

to the stake held in Q-Free ASA, profit for the period increased by 27 % year-on-year (previous fiscal year as 

adjusted: EUR 22.5 million). Adjusted earnings per share increased from EUR 1.49 in the previous fiscal year by 

21 % to EUR 1.81 in the fiscal year 2010/2011. 

The balance sheet of Kapsch TrafficCom Group was influenced by the issuance of a 4.25 % corporate bond  

with a volume of EUR 75 million on 3 November 2010. Accordingly, with total assets of EUR 450.1 million as of  

31 March 2011, up by 53 % year-on-year, Kapsch TrafficCom Group’s equity ratio was 42.5 % as of 31 March 

2011 (31 March 2010: 57.0 %). Free cash flow for the fiscal year 2010/2011 was negative at EUR 19.9 million 

(previous fiscal year: positive at EUR 41.6 million), largely due to an increase in net working capital by EUR 71.3 

million to EUR 175.9 million resulting from continuing system implementations in South Africa and Poland.  

The project business recorded sound performance in the past fiscal year. In particular, Kapsch TrafficCom 

received a large contract award in Poland for the implementation and operation of a nationwide electronic truck 

tolling system on a road network of up to 7,600 kilometers. On 2 November 2010, the contract was signed for the 

implementation and the operation over eight years on an existing road network that will initially cover about 1,750 

kilometers. Kapsch TrafficCom also recorded its first success in Russia: In the city of Kazan, traffic crossings will be 

equipped with fully automatic applications for red light enforcement, lane control and speed control.

Kapsch TrafficCom not only expanded into new markets, but also continued to extend its presence in existing 

markets: In South Africa, Kapsch TrafficCom acquired a 56.81% stake in TMT Services and Supplies (Proprietary) 

Limited, a provider of traffic management solutions, which shortly thereafter was awarded a contract to imple-

ment and operate an automatic fare collection system on the bus fleet of the City of Johannesburg. Kapsch 

TrafficCom also received orders of 1.5 million on-board units for the electronic toll collection system which is in 

implementation in the Gauteng province.

Kapsch TrafficCom took important steps in the U.S.A.: In addition to the acquisition of the Mark IV IVHS busi-

nesses in the United States, Canada and Mexico, the largest equipment supplier for electronic toll collection 

systems based on the established 915 MHz technology in North America, Port of Hood River was won as 

the first road operator in the United States to deploy an electronic toll collection system based on the newly 

developed 5.9 GHz based technology.
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To improve general readability, generic masculine pronouns and word forms have been used where appropriate and the continuous quotation of academic titles was neglected. An 
overview of the technical terms used in this document can be found in the glossary on page 93. This annual report was created with the greatest possible care, and all data has been 
checked conscientiously. Nevertheless, the possibility of layout and printing errors cannot be completely excluded. Slight differences in calculations may arise due to the rounding of 
individual items and percentages. The English translation is for convenience; only the German text is binding.  

Disclaimer
Certain statements contained in this report constitute “forward-looking statements.” These statements, which contain the words “believe”, “intend”, “expect” and words of similar 
meaning, reflect management’s beliefs and expectations and are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially. As a result, readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements. The company disclaims any obligation to publicly announce the result of any revisions to the forward-looking 
statements made herein, except where it would be required to do so under applicable law.
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Always one step ahead.
The company philosophy of Kapsch TrafficCom is concisely expressed in a single phrase: always one  

step ahead. Striving for global quality and innovation leadership in the rapidly growing market of intelligent 

transportation systems, Kapsch TrafficCom is always the decisive step ahead of the competition.

Kapsch TrafficCom is always future-oriented. Visionary ideas combined with entrepreneurial expertise 

are a high priority at Kapsch TrafficCom. Based on the technology applied in systems around the world, we 

are helping to define the future for drivers, road operators and commercial service providers with innovative 

traffic applications. At the same time, we are committed to consistent value creation and we accept holistic 

responsibility for our endeavors.

Kapsch TrafficCom is always innovative. Taking advantage of the newest technologies in practical applica-

tions is an integral part of our company strategy and a key element of our success. The networked international 

research and development centers of Kapsch TrafficCom are therefore constantly searching for new, forward-

looking applications. This has given rise to pioneering projects such as Section Control, Weigh in Motion System, 

Incident Detection System, Traffic Flow Analysis or Hazardous Goods Transport Tracking, which offer added value 

to our customers and enable new commercial applications. A system-independent perspective, an international 

pool of experts and a sound business attitude allow us to develop products and solutions used around the world.

Kapsch TrafficCom is always performance-oriented. Our systems offer customers high return on investment, 

outstanding transaction performance and system security thanks to state-of-the-art technologies, more than 

2,100 dedicated employees and our many years of experience. Around the world, almost 44 million delivered on-

board units and more than 18,000 equipped lanes provide for safe and reliable operation. The processes of the 

Kapsch TrafficCom quality management system are based on ISO 9001 and ISO 20000 for IT service management.

Kapsch TrafficCom is always aware of its responsibilities. With superior intelligent transportation systems, 

Kapsch TrafficCom makes a meaningful contribution to shaping a sustainable future. Our solutions provide a 

wide range of benefits: they contribute to the financing of infrastructure projects, improve traffic safety and help 

to prevent traffic jams, which also reduces CO2 emissions. You can learn how sustainability and responsibility are 

addressed by the company in the Kapsch TrafficCom Sustainability Report.

Kapsch TrafficCom is always close to its customers. Solutions from Kapsch TrafficCom accompany people 

around the world. The international success of the company is exemplified by 260 reference projects in 41 

countries on all 5 continents. We offer products, systems and services for superior intelligent transportation 

systems as a one-stop shop and cover the entire value creation chain of our customers with our end-to-end 

solution portfolio.



Fotodoppelseite

*) What you don’t see here: Our ‘Weigh in Motion System’ can  
weigh trucks automatically, while driving.

Weigh in Motion – The Kapsch Weigh in Motion System can be used to check vehicle weight and to immediately enforce 
rules for overloaded vehicles. With the help of automatic weight detection, trucks can be pre-selected for further exami-
nation as they approach a vehicle inspection site. This prevents overweight vehicles from crossing bridges with limited 
capacity. In addition, the system can also be used for the collection of statistical weight data or to automatically measure 
the weight of vehicles when entering/leaving factory premises, making logistics operations more efficient.     
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Letter from the  
Chief Executive Officer.
 

Dear Shareholders.

I am delighted to report about the most successful fiscal year to date in the corporate history of Kapsch 

TrafficCom. As can be seen from this annual report, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group recorded tremendous 

increases leading to all-time highs in revenues and EBIT. We can look back to an eventful fiscal year in which 

we were awarded a large contract in Poland, extended our presence in South Africa, took important steps in the 

U.S.A. in connection with our continuing global expansion and received our first contract in Russia. In addition, 

we successfully issued a corporate bond. 

This development reflects our continued controlled growth of the business and the extension of our strong 

position in various markets. At the same time, we built the basis for further internally driven growth and consider 

ourselves well prepared, even in an economic environment that is expected to remain challenging.

Revenues rose by 80 % as compared to the previous year to an all-time high of EUR 388.6 million in the fiscal 

year 2010/11. EBIT nearly doubled, which also reflects an all-time high. In relation to revenues, the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group generated an EBIT margin of 12.6 %. In this past fiscal year, we continued to invest in 

the development of future business opportunities and remained true to our philosophy of recognizing such 

investment as expenses to the greatest extent possible. Our objective is the sustainable advancement of the 

Kapsch TrafficCom Group.

Reflecting the successful implementation of our strategy, revenues in the segment SEC (Services, System 

Extensions, Components Sales), which represents the recurring part of our business, increased by 38 % year-

on-year to EUR 223.3 million. We delivered more than 5.2 million on-board units, an absolute record, and can 

now reference to almost 44 million units delivered worldwide to date. 

Georg Kapsch, Chief Executive Officer 
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We are paricularly pleased that we were able to raise the performance rates in each of our two large system deliv-

eries to date in Austria and in the Czech Republic to new record levels in the past fiscal year. These improvements 

resulted in higher bonus payments and consequently higher operations revenues. They also confirm our strategy 

to permanently aim for technological leadership that, in our opinion, can be best measured in performance. 

Another important driver for our business was the segment RSP (Road Solution Projects), which contains the 

large-scale project business. In this segment, we more than tripled revenues year-on-year to EUR 158.9 million. 

This tremendous improvement was based, above all, on the implementation of electronic toll collection systems  

in South Africa and in Poland as well as the telematic platform in the Czech Republic. EBIT in this segment 

turned from negative in the previous two fiscal years to positive.

Due to a decrease in the financial result by EUR 11.7 million as compared to the previous fiscal year and a 

one-time fair value adjustment relating to the stake held in Q-Free ASA in the amount of EUR 14.0 million in 

the previous fiscal year, profit for the period decreased from EUR 36.5 million in the previous fiscal year to EUR 

28.4 million in the fiscal year 2010/2011. As a result, earnings per share decreased from EUR 2.64 in the previous 

fiscal year to EUR 1.81 in the fiscal year 2010/2011. Adjusted for the one-time fair value adjustment relating to the 

stake held in Q-Free ASA, profit for the period increased by 27 % year-on-year (previous fiscal year as adjusted: 

EUR 22.5 million). Adjusted earnings per share increased from EUR 1.49 in the previous fiscal year by 21 % to 

EUR 1.81 in the fiscal year 2010/2011. Based on the positive development of the Group’s business, the managing 

board proposes to the shareholders’ meeting to be held on 22 August 2011 a dividend of EUR 1.00 per share for 

the fiscal year 2010/2011 (2009/2010: EUR 0.75 per share). Subject to the resolution of the shareholders’ meeting, 

this represents a pay-out ratio of approximately 55 %, which exceeds the long-term average. 

On 3 November, we issued a corporate bond with a volume of EUR 75 million to also support our growth with 

capital. The high demand and the oversubscription of the order book confirmed the confidence of investors  

in Kapsch TrafficCom and our strategy. This strengthening of our financial power also changed the balance sheet 

of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group with an increase in total assets and, against this backdrop, a decrease in the 

equity ratio from 57.0 % to 42.5 %. However, our balance sheet structure remains solid. 

Free cash flow for the fiscal year 2010/2011 was negative at EUR 19.9 million (previous fiscal year: positive at 

EUR 41.6 million), largely due to an increase in net working capital by EUR 71.3 million to EUR 175.9 million 

resulting from continuing system implementations in South Africa and Poland.  

From a project perspective, the highlight in the reporting period was Poland. Here the consortium led by Kapsch 

TrafficCom was announced as best bidder of the tender for a nationwide electronic truck tolling system at the 

beginning of October 2010. The contract, with a value of approximately EUR 560 million, for the implementation 

and the operation over eight years on an existing road network that initially covers about 1,750 kilometers was 

signed on 2 November 2010.

We are also particularly pleased over our first success in Russia: In the city of Kazan, we were awarded a 

contract to equip traffic crossings with fully automatic applications for red light enforcement, lane control and 

speed control. 

We not only expanded into new markets during the reporting year, but also continued to extend our presence 

in existing markets. In South Africa, Kapsch TrafficCom acquired a 56.81% stake in TMT Services and Supplies 

(Proprietary) Limited, a provider of traffic management solutions, which shortly thereafter was awarded a 

contract worth ZAR 175 million (approximately EUR 18 million) to implement and operate an automatic fare 

collection system on the bus fleet of the City of Johannesburg. In addition, Kapsch TrafficCom received orders 

totaling 1.5 million on-board units for the electronic toll collection system which is under implementation in the 

Gauteng province. 
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These awards should put us in a strong position to take advantage of existing and upcoming opportunities in 

Russia and South Africa, two of the most dynamic markets in our industry worldwide.

We took very important steps in connection with the continuing global expansion of the Kapsch TrafficCom 

Group in the U.S.A.: On 30 November 2010, we completed the acquisition of the Mark IV IVHS businesses in 

the United States, Canada and Mexico for a purchase price of USD 73 million (approximately EUR 55 million). 

The acquisition of the largest equipment supplier for electronic toll collection (ETC) systems based on the 

established 915 MHz technology in North America enables us to offer current and future customers in this region 

an extended end-to-end solution portfolio, above all for intelligent transportation systems and ETC. In addition, 

Port of Hood River was won as the first road operator in the United States to deploy an electronic toll collection 

system based on the newly developed 5.9 GHz technology, which we introduced at the ITS America Annual 

Meeting 2010 in Houston in May 2010.

The project business remains in an exciting cycle: Although our consortium did not succeed in the tender for 

a nationwide electronic truck tolling system in France, several other projects – among others, the nationwide 

systems in Hungary, Slovenia and Denmark – are close to the final decision for a tender.

With regard to the current fiscal year 2011/2012, the company’s outlook on market developments over the long-

term is promising. Key events in the current fiscal year will be the implementation and the start of operations 

of the electronic toll collection systems in South Africa and Poland. In the United States, Kapsch TrafficCom 

expects the decision of the pending tender for the award of the E-Z Pass® Group contracts. In addition, 

developments in the current fiscal year will also be influenced by the preparation for tenders expected in 

Hungary, Slovenia and Denmark as well as by the continuing integration of Mark IV IVHS.

The success of our company is based on a strong corporate culture and goal-oriented teamwork by all parties. 

My special thanks go out at first to our more than 2,100 employees all over the world, whose commitment 

allowed us to record excellent results despite substantial investments in new markets and products. I would 

also like to thank my colleagues on the managing board, Erwin Toplak and André Laux, for our most intense and 

constructive cooperation, and the supervisory board for our productive discussions and their efficient handling 

of all issues. I would further like to thank our customers.

In conclusion, I would like to express my thanks to you, our shareholders, for the trust you have placed in us.  

We see the 247 % increase in our share price during the last fiscal year not only as a sign of this trust, but also 

as an obligation for the years to come. Please continue to accompany us on our growth course into a successful 

future.

 

 
Georg Kapsch

Chief Excecutive Officer 
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Corporate Governance Report. 
In June 2007, the managing board (Vorstand) and supervisory board (Aufsichtsrat) resolved to apply the rules of 

the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (the Code) as far as they are consistent with the specific situation 

of the company. The Code as amended in January 2010 is available for download under http://www.corporate-

governance.at on the website of the Austrian Working Group for Corporate Governance. The evaluation of 

compliance with the Code is made by the compliance officer together with internal audit on an annual basis.

Corporate Governance Declaration.

In the fiscal year 2010/11 ended 31 March 2011, Kapsch TrafficCom AG complied with the L-Rules and C-Rules 

of the Code in the January 2010 version, with the exception of C-Rule 53 (the company does not intend to 

establish independence criteria that differ from the general requirement set forth in the Code as it believes such 

additional criteria are not required) and C-Rule 67 (due to the intense competition in the industry in which the 

company is active, it will not make available to all shareholders all information it may make available to financial 

analysts).  

Managing Board.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG has a two-tier management and oversight structure in accordance with the Austrian 

Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), consisting of the managing board (Vorstand) and the supervisory board 

(Aufsichtsrat). The managing board is responsible for directing the business and represents the company in 

dealings with third parties. The supervisory board is responsible for appointing and dismissing the members of the 

managing board and supervising the business conducted by the managing board. Although the supervisory board 

does not actively manage the company, the managing board must obtain the consent of the supervisory board 

before engaging in certain transactions in accordance with the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), the 

company’s articles of association and the managing board’s internal rules of procedure (Geschäftsordnung).

 
Erwin Toplak, Chief Operating Officer        Georg Kapsch, Chief Executive Officer        André Laux, Executive Board Member
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Pursuant to our articles of association, the managing board consists of one to four members appointed by the 

supervisory board for a term of up to five years. The managing board currently consists of three members.

Name Area of responsibility
Year  

of birth
Year first
appointed

Year current
term expires

Georg Kapsch 
(CEO)

Finance and Administration, Mergers & Acquisitions, 
Investor Relations, Legal, International Subsidiaries, 
Human Resources, Marketing & Communications, 
International Relations & Affairs, Innovation Management, 
Production, Telematic Services and North American 
Market 1959 2002 2014

Erwin Toplak 
(COO)

Sales Region 1, Business Development, System Engineer-
ing, Research & Development and Technical Operations 1961 2002 2014

André Laux
(Executive 
Board
Member)

Sales Region 2, Business Development, Product and 
Project Management  

1962 2010 2013

Georg Kapsch was appointed CEO of Kapsch TrafficCom AG in December 2002 and holds functions in certain 

of its direct and indirect subsidiaries. Since October 2000, Georg Kapsch has also served as the CEO of 

KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH. He has been a member of the managing board of Kapsch AG since July 

1989 and was appointed as its CEO in October 2001. Georg Kapsch, who studied business administration 

at Vienna University of Economics and Business Administration (Wirtschaftsuniversität Wien) and graduated 

in 1981, has been the chairman of the Technikum Wien Academy (Fachhochschule Technikum Wien) since 

September 2002 and of the Austrian Electronic Association (Österreichischer Elektronikverband) since December 

2002. He has been the vice president of the Association of the Austrian Electronical and Electronics Industries 

(Fachverband der Elektro- und Elektronikindustrie) since January 2003. In December 2008, Georg Kapsch was 

appointed president of the Federation of Austrian Industries Vienna (Industriellenvereinigung Wien).  

In addition, Georg Kapsch serves as CEO of DATAX HandelsgmbH, as chairman of the supervisory board 

of Kapsch CarrierCom AG and as deputy chairman of Kapsch BusinessCom AG as well as member of the 

supervisory board of Teufelberger Holding AG.

Erwin Toplak has been a member of the managing board of Kapsch TrafficCom AG since June 2002 and holds 

functions in certain of its direct and indirect subsidiaries. He has been employed by the Kapsch Group since 

1991, first as marketing and sales manager of the toll collection start-up of Kapsch AG (1991–1994) and later 

as senior manager (1994–1999) as well as director (1999– 2002) of the traffic control systems division of Kapsch AG. 

Erwin Toplak graduated from the Polytechnic (Höhere Technische Lehranstalt) in Graz in 1984 with a degree 

in engineering. He is vice president of the Austrian Electrotechnical Association (Österreichischer Verband für 

Elektrotechnik).

André Friedrich Laux has joined Kapsch TrafficCom Group in December 2007 and has been a member of 

the managing board of Kapsch TrafficCom AG since 1 April 2010 and holds functions in certain of its direct 

and indirect subsidiaries. He began his professional career in different sales and management functions, both 

internationally and domestically (1988–1997), after completing a degree in business administration in Germany 

and England. In 1997, he became director of the German chip maker ODS Landis & Gyr in Munich. In 2000, 

André Laux transferred within the group to become CEO of Skidata AG in Salzburg. In 2004, he took over as 

CEO of Winter AG in Munich.
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Work Flow. The areas of responsibility of the individual managing board members, the procedures (such as 

requirements and procedures to pass resolutions) as well as the transactions that require approval by the 

supervisory board are defined in the articles of association and the internal rules of procedure for the managing 

board. The managing board holds regular meetings to exchange information and pass resolutions on all issues 

that fall under the competence of the entire managing board.

Remuneration. In the fiscal year 2010/11, the aggregate fixed and variable remuneration for the members of the 

managing board, including the cross-charge from Kapsch AG for the services of Georg Kapsch, amounted to 

EUR 1.57 million (fiscal year 2009/10: EUR 1.46 million). Georg Kapsch is employed by Kapsch AG. His work is 

part of the management and consulting services provided by Kapsch AG, which are billed to Kapsch TrafficCom 

AG and disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under “Related parties”.

The remuneration of Erwin Toplak is based on a compensation system that, in addition to the base compensa-

tion, provides for annual variable compensation of up to 28 % of the base compensation. The variable compen-

sation depends primarily on the achievement of certain predefined financial performance indicators. If his man-

aging board contract is terminated at the end of the current term of office, Erwin Toplak is entitled to a severance 

payment that equals eleven-times his monthly salary. Mr. Toplak is required to comply with a non-competition 

clause for one year following the termination of his managing board position (unless he is terminated for cause). 

In addition, he has an individual defined pension scheme for which Kapsch TrafficCom AG pays approximately 

TEUR 14 annually to an outside pension fund. Erwin Toplak holds 154,528 shares of Kapsch TrafficCom AG.

The remuneration of André Laux is determined based on a compensation system that, in addition to the base 

compensation, provides for annual variable compensation of up to 34 % of the base compensation. The variable 

compensation depends primarily on the achievement of certain predefined financial performance indicators. 

If his managing board contract is terminated at the end of the current term of office, André Laux is required to 

comply with a non-competition clause for one year following termination of his managing board position (unless 

he is terminated for cause). André Laux has an individual defined pension scheme for which Kapsch TrafficCom 

AG pays approximately TEUR 5 annually to an outside pension fund.   

Managing board remuneration 2010/11 in   TEUR Fixed Variable Total

Georg Kapsch 416 405 821

Erwin Toplak 360 57 417

André Laux 278 56 334

Total 1,054 518 1,573

Directors and officers liability insurance. The members of the managing board are insured against financial 

losses with a directors and officers liability insurance policy. In addition to the managing board, the members 

of the supervisory board as well as key managers of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group are also insured. A collective 

premium is paid, and it is therefore not possible to allocate a specific amount to individual members of the 

managing board. 
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Supervisory Board. 

Pursuant to the articles of association, the supervisory board consists of three to six members elected by  

the shareholders’ meeting, plus the representatives delegated by the works council (Betriebsrat) according to  

the Austrian Labor Constitutional Act (Arbeitsverfassungsgesetz). The current members are:   

Name Position
Year  

of birth
Year first
appointed

Year current
term expires

Franz Semmernegg Chairman 1968 2002 2013

Kari Kapsch Deputy chairman 1964 2002 2013

William Morton Llewellyn Member 1 1965 2008 2011

Christian Windisch Member 2 1963 – –

Claudia Rudolf-Misch Member 2, 3 1967 – –

Werner Dreschl Member 2, 4 – – –

1	 member meeting the criteria of rule C-54 of the Code
2	 delegated by the works council; without information on appointment since the works council may recall a member it has delegated at any time
3	 since 20 November 2010
4	 until 19 November 2010

Franz Semmernegg has been a member of the supervisory board of Kapsch TrafficCom AG since June 

2002. Since September 2005, he has been the chairman of the supervisory board. Franz Semmernegg has 

been the CFO of KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH since April 2005. He also serves as the CEO of Kapsch 

BusinessCom AG and has been a member of the managing board of Kapsch BusinessCom AG since March 

2003. He has also been the CFO of Kapsch AG since October 2001 and was a member of the managing board 

of Schrack BusinessCom AG from 1999 to September 2001. In 1998, Franz Semmernegg was responsible for 

the successful management buy-out of Schrack BusinessCom AG from Ericsson Austria AG and was previously 

involved in management functions at Ericsson Austria AG (1998) and Schrack Seconet AG (1997). He graduated 

with a degree in business administration (1992) and a Ph.D. (1997) from the University of Graz (Karl-Franzens-

Universität). 

In addition, Franz Semmernegg serves as a member of the managing board of CALPANA business consulting 

GmbH, Kapsch Smart Energy GmbH, Kapsch Cashpooling and Hedging GmbH, Kapsch IT Services for finance 

and industries GmbH and Kapsch S.R.L., as deputy chairman of Austria Telecommunication International AG 

and as a member of the advisory board of Kapsch Sp. z.o.o., Kapsch Kft., Kapsch s r.o. (Prague), Kapsch s r.o. 

(Bratislava) and Enso GmbH.

Kari Kapsch has been a member of the supervisory board of Kapsch TrafficCom AG since June 2002. He 

served as deputy chairman of the supervisory board from June 2002 to December 2002 and as chairman of the 

supervisory board from December 2002 to September 2005. Kari Kapsch has also been the COO of KAPSCH-

Group Beteiligungs GmbH since December 2005. He is also the COO of Kapsch AG and CEO of Kapsch 

CarrierCom AG. He is involved in several industry-related associations and was the chairman of the management 

board of Young Industry Vienna (Junge Industrie Wien) and vice-chairman of Young Industry Austria (Junge 

Industrie Österreich) from 1996 to 2002. Kari Kapsch graduated with a degree in physics (1988) and a Ph.D. 

(1992) from the University of Vienna (Universität Wien). 

In addition, Kari Kapsch is a member of the managing board of Kapsch Immobilien GmbH, chairman of the 

board of Kapsch BusinessCom AG and of Austria Telecommunication International AG as well as a member of 

the advisory board of Kapsch Sp. z.o.o., Kapsch Kft., Kapsch s r.o. (Prague) and Kapsch s r.o. (Bratislava).  

Kari Kapsch is the brother of Georg Kapsch, the CEO of Kapsch TrafficCom AG.
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William Morton Llewellyn was elected to the company’s supervisory board by the annual shareholders’  

meeting on 10 July 2008. He has worked in the banking industry since 1994, namely in the ING, WestLB and 

HSBC Groups, where he was involved in corporate, leveraged and project finance as well as debt capital 

markets. He is currently head of debt capital markets at Evolution Securities Ltd., UK. He qualified as a 

chartered accountant in 1991 with Robson Rhodes, where he worked in auditing, accounting, and insolvency 

services. He graduated from London University in 1987 with a BA in Law and Economics.

Christian Windisch has been a member of the supervisory board delegated by the works council since 

November 2002. He joined Kapsch Group in September 1984 and is currently employed in quality management. 

Christian Windisch graduated from the Polytechnic (Höhere Technische Lehranstalt) in Vienna with a degree in 

engineering.

Claudia Rudolf-Misch has been a member of the supervisory board of Kapsch TrafficCom AG delegated by 

the works council since November 2010. She joined Kapsch TrafficCom in June 2004 and is responsible for 

the integrated management systems HSSEQ (Health, Safety, Security, Environment, Quality). She is a certified 

manager and auditor according to ISO 9001, ISO 14001, and OHSAS 18001. Claudia Rudolf-Misch received an 

MBA in 2001.

All members elected by the shareholders’ meeting are considered independent as defined by rule C-53 of the 

Code and the guidelines for independence according to appendix 1 of the Code. William Morton Llewellyn is 

also independent of the principal shareholder of KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH as defined by rule C-54 of 

the Code. 

The supervisory board held four meetings in the past fiscal year. No member of the supervisory board attended 

fewer than half the meetings. In the past fiscal year, there were no transactions requiring approval in accordance 

with § 95 para. 5 no. 12 of the Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) with members of the supervisory board or 

with companies in which a member of the supervisory board has a significant financial interest, with the excep-

tion of the transactions listed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under “Related parties”.

Remuneration. The members of the supervisory board and its committees receive reimbursement of actual 

expenses, including reasonable travel expenses. In addition, the shareholders’ meeting may provide for the 

remuneration of supervisory board members. On 24 June 2009, the annual shareholders’ meeting resolved to 

grant William Morton Llewellyn remuneration of TEUR 3 per meeting. Remuneration of TEUR 21 was paid for the 

past fiscal year. No other member of the supervisory board receives specific remuneration for such office. 

Kapsch AG renders remunerated consulting services, which are performed in part by Franz Semmernegg and/or 

Kari Kapsch, to Kapsch TrafficCom AG. 

Directors and officers liability insurance. The members of the supervisory board are insured against financial 

losses with a directors and officers liability insurance policy. In addition to the supervisory board, the members 

of the managing board as well as key managers of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group are also insured. A collec-

tive premium is paid, and it is therefore not possible to allocate a specific amount to individual members of the 

supervisory board.
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Committees of the Supervisory Board.

The supervisory board has established an audit committee (Prüfungsausschuss) and a committee for managing 

board matters (Ausschuss für Vorstandsangelegenheiten). 

The committee for managing board matters is responsible for the relationship between the company and 

the members of the managing board (including remuneration issues), except for the appointment or dismissal 

of members of the managing board. It consists of two members of the supervisory board elected by the 

shareholders’ meeting, including the chairman of the supervisory board. The current members of the committee 

for managing board matters are Franz Semmernegg (chairman) and Kari Kapsch. The committee for managing 

board matters held one meeting in the past fiscal year.

The audit committee is responsible for the duties set out in section 92 para 4a Stock Corporation Act 

(Aktiengesetz). These responsibilities include the review and preparation of the approval of the financial 

statements and consolidated financial statements, the audit of the corporate governance report, the review of 

the audit process and the auditor’s independence, the preparation of a proposal for the distribution of profit 

and the preparation of a report to the annual shareholders’ meeting. Furthermore, the audit committee prepares 

the proposal of the supervisory board for the selection of an auditor, reviews the accounting process and the 

effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems.

One member of the audit committee must be a financial expert (Finanzexperte). Persons who were previously 

members of the managing board, managing directors or auditors of the company or persons who certified the 

company’s annual or consolidated financial statements within the last three years do not qualify as financial 

experts and may not serve as chairman of the audit committee. The current members of the audit committee 

are Franz Semmernegg (chairman/financial expert), Kari Kapsch and Christian Windisch (since November 2010, 

formerly Werner Dreschl). The audit committee held a total of four meetings in the past fiscal year.

In addition to the members of the audit committee, the managing board and a representative of the auditor,  

if requested by the chairman of the audit committee or required by law, attend the audit committee meetings.   

Promotion of Women to the Managing  
and Supervisory Boards and Senior Positions.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG has no specific plan for promoting women to the managing board, the supervisory board 

or senior positions in the company and its subsidiaries. Candidates are always selected with a view to identifying 

the best person for the job, regardless of gender. Women are employed in various senior positions throughout 

Kapsch TrafficCom AG (such as head of finance and administration) and its subsidiaries. In November 2010 the 

works council delegated a female representative to the supervisory board. 

Women are supported through a flexible working hour scheme that is designed to combine professional and 

private life. In addition, Kapsch TrafficCom cooperates with schools, universities and colleges in order to 

increase the female quota. It also engages in gender mainstreaming through participation in specific programs 

such as “FIT Frauen in die Technik” or “FemTech”. A specific trainee programm “Women into sales” has been 

established. The Kapsch TrafficCom Group has established a committee for gender mainstreaming.
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Report of the Supervisory Board. 
 

The Kapsch TrafficCom AG supervisory board held a total of four meetings during the fiscal year from 1 April 

2010 to 31 March 2011. No member of the supervisory board attended fewer than half of the meetings. The 

supervisory board was informed by the managing board on an ongoing basis in writing and verbally as well 

as in the meetings held jointly with the managing board on the position, development and strategy of the 

company, and monitored and advised the managing board during the period under review. The chairman of the 

supervisory board was in regular contact with the chairman of the managing board in order to discuss business 

development, strategy and risk management within the company.

The annual financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG and the consolidated financial statements, each as of 

31 March 2011, as well as the management report on the Company and the Group dated 13 May 2011, which 

were prepared by the managing board, were audited by the appointed independent auditor PwC INTER-TREU-

HAND GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Vienna and awarded an unqualified audit 

opinion. The annual and consolidated financial statements, the managing board’s proposal for the distribution 

of profit and the auditors’ reports (including the management letter) as well as the corporate governance report 

were discussed in detail with the managing board and the independent auditors at a meeting of the audit com-

mittee and subsequently presented to the supervisory board. The supervisory board reviewed these documents 

in accordance with Section 96 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz) and approved the unconsoli-

dated financial statements in line with Section 96 Para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). 

The supervisory board concurs with the managing board’s proposal for the distribution of profit.

The audit committee held a total of four meetings during the fiscal year from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 and 

met the responsibilities as set out in section 92 para 4a of the Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). 

The committee for managing board matters held one meeting in the past fiscal year and addressed extending 

the managing board mandates with Georg Kapsch and Erwin Toplak until 31 March 2014 and concluding a new 

management contract with Erwin Toplak.

The supervisory board extends its thanks to the members of the managing board and all employees of Kapsch 

TrafficCom AG for their work in the fiscal year 2010/11.

Vienna, 8 June 2011

  

Franz Semmernegg

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Franz Semmernegg, Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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The Kapsch TrafficCom Share. 
Stock Markets in Fiscal Year 2010/11.

International stock markets. The development of share prices in 2010 was marked by pronounced differences 

between individual markets and industries. The general market recovery that began during 2009 only continued 

on a selective basis. The varying performance of the markets is a reflection of the complex environment during 

the stock exchange year 2010. The mood on the stock exchanges was positively influenced by the unexpectedly 

strong economic recovery, the continued low-interest policy by central banks and, in particular, the improvement 

in corporate earnings that by far surpassed analysts’ expectations. Performance was essentially subdued by 

the debt crisis in several euro-zone countries. In the first quarter of 2011, the international stock markets were 

affected by the events in North Africa, the Near East and Japan.

Vienna Stock Exchange. After recording a plus of 42.5 percent in 2009, the Austrian Traded Index ATX 

continued its upward trend and gained 16.4 percent in 2010. The prices of Austrian stocks still remain well below 

the highest levels of previous years. The market capitalization totalled EUR 91.9 billion as of 31 December 2010, 

and the average monthly stock turnover amounted to EUR 3.1 billion in 2010 (single count). The Vienna Stock 

Exchange was also heavily influenced by the events in North Africa, the Near East and Japan in the first quarter 

of 2011.

Kapsch TrafficCom Share in Fiscal Year 2010/11.

In the fiscal year 2010/11, the Kapsch TrafficCom share clearly outperformed the Austrian and international stock 

markets. The entire year saw a sharp increase in the share price and trading volume. Compared with a fiscal 

year 2009/10 closing price of EUR 25.26 as at 31 March 2010, the share price significantly increased throughout 

the fiscal year 2010/11 and closed at EUR 62.50 on 31 March 2011. This corresponds to an increase of 247.4 %, 

which by far exceeds the 45.2 % plus recorded by the comparative index ATX Prime during the same period.

 

1	 offer price on 26 June 2007 and opening value for ATX Prime on 26 June 2007, each indexed to 100
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Based on a closing price of EUR 62.50 per share as of 31 March 2011 and an unchanged number of 12.2 million 

shares, Kapsch TrafficCom’s market capitalization was EUR 762.5 million. The average daily turnover of the 

Kapsch TrafficCom share on the Vienna Stock Exchange was approximately EUR 1.24 million (double count), 

which clearly exceeds the previous year at EUR 0.29 million (double count).    

Key Data on the Share 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08

Number of shares 1 in million 12.20 12.20 12.20 11.70 5

Earnings per share (adjusted) 2 in EUR 1.81 2.64 (1.49) 1.06 2.60

Dividends per share in EUR 1.00 6 0.75 0.50 0.90

Free cash flow per share in EUR -1.63 3.41 1.63 -1.26

Offer price per share 3 in EUR 32.00

Share price 1 in EUR 62.50 25.26 14.80 31.82

P/E ratio 1 in EUR 34.56 9.57 13.96 12.23

Market capitalization 1 in million EUR 762.50 308.17 180.56 388.20

Performance of share in % 247.40 70.90 -53.49 -0.56

Performance of ATX Prime in % 45.21 69.80 -68.63 -26.00

Average trading volume 4 in million EUR 1.24 0.29 0.30 1.49

1	 as of 31 March
2	 2009/10 adjusted for the EUR 14 million fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway
3	 on 26 June 2007
4	 double count
5	 weighted average number of shares
6	 proposal of the managing board

Dividend Policy.

Kapsch TrafficCom’s policy is to recommend a distribution of dividends that would reflect a payout ratio of 

approximately one-third of annual profits. The company’s ability to pay dividends is determined on the basis of 

the annual financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG. The timing and amount of such dividends, if any, will 

depend upon the company’s future earnings and prospects, the capital requirements resulting from projects and 

acquisitions and the company’s financial condition and other factors considered relevant by the managing and 

supervisory boards. In any event, the dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders’ meeting. 

For the fiscal year 2010/11, the managing board will make a proposal to the shareholders’ meeting on 22 August 

2011, calling for the approval of a EUR 1.00 dividend per share for the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: EUR 0.75 

per share). Due to the outstanding operational development during the reporting year, the managing board’s 

proposal reflects a payout ratio of approximately 55 % in relation to the profit for the period attributable to 

equity holders of the Company (2009/10: approximately 28 %) and exceeds the long-term average based on the 

dividend policy.
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Shareholder Structure.

As of 31 March 2011 and unchanged compared to 31 March 2010, approximately 31.6 % of the shares were in 

free float, whereas the remaining approximately 68.4 % were held by KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH. As of 

31 March 2011, no other shareholder held more than 5 % of the voting rights in Kapsch TrafficCom. 

Core shareholder. KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DATAX HandelsgmbH. 

The shares in DATAX HandelsgmbH are held in equal proportions by Traditio-Privatstiftung, ALUK-Privatstiftung 

and Children of Elisabeth-Privatstiftung, each a private trust under the Austrian Law for Private Trusts (Privat

stiftungsgesetz). Each of these private trusts is managed by a separate executive board (Stiftungsvorstand) and 

no person serves on the executive board of more than one of the three private trusts. The beneficiaries of these 

private trusts are Georg Kapsch and members of his family (Traditio-Privatstiftung), Kari Kapsch and members of 

his family (ALUK-Privatstiftung) and Elisabeth Kapsch and members of her family (Children of Elisabeth-Privat

stiftung). 

Free float. Kapsch TrafficCom AG has a widely diversified shareholder structure. In addition to the core 

shareholder KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH (68.4 %), 22.3 % are held by institutional investors with the 

top ten in the aggregate holding 74.6 % of that share. The share of private investors totals 6.9 %, including the 

shares held by Erwin Toplak, the COO of Kapsch TrafficCom AG, and 2.4 % are held by other investors including 

shares in trading positions. Based on information available to the company, the majority of institutional investors 

comes from Anglo-Saxon countries, the U.K. and Ireland (23.1 %) as well as North America (27.0 %). Austrian 

institutional investors hold 11.4 % of the shares and the remaining 38.5 % are attributable to investors in 

Continental Europe (excluding Austria).     

 

Investor Relations.

Professional investor relations have a high priority at Kapsch TrafficCom. This department reports directly to the 

CEO, but its work is also integrated closely with the head of finance and administration. The goal of investor 

relations activities at Kapsch TrafficCom is to provide a comprehensive view of the company, thereby facilitating 

an appropriate valuation of the Kapsch TrafficCom share. 

Kapsch TrafficCom held international road shows and participated in investor conferences in Europe and the 

U.S.A. during the fiscal year 2010/11. The CEO and the investor relations team met with numerous investors 

throughout the world and discussed the company as well as its development and strategy. The Kapsch 

TrafficCom website, which represents an important means of communication and provides a wide range of 

information on the company and its stock, was completely redesigned and expanded in the reporting year.
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Memberships and Awards.

VÖNIX Sustainability Index. Sustainability has become a key factor for success in today’s business world. 

In Austria, listed companies that are considered leaders in the areas of social and ecological performance are 

listed in the VÖNIX (VBV Austrian Sustainability Index). On 22 June 2009 the shares of Kapsch TrafficCom AG 

were included in the VÖNIX Sustainability Index.

United Nations Global Compact. Kapsch TrafficCom has been a member of United Nations Global Compact 

(UNCG) since January 2010 and commits to the principles of the world’s largest network for corporate social 

responsibility and sustainable development. The goal of this globe-spanning pact between industry and civil 

society is to make globalization more socially and environmentally acceptable.

Vienna Stock Exchange Award 2011. In May 2011, Kapsch TrafficCom received the Vienna Stock Exchange 

Award 2011 in the category “Small and mid caps”. The Vienna Stock Exchange Award is a joint initiative of 

Aktienforum, Cercle Investor Relations Austria (C.I.R.A.), the Austrian National Bank (OeNB), the Austrian 

Association for Financial Analysis and Asset Management (ÖVFA), the Association of Austrian Investment 

Companies (VÖIG), the Vienna Stock Exchange and the Representative for Capital Market Development and 

Corporate Governance. The purpose of this award is to honor companies for their excellent work on the  

Austrian capital market.

Research Reports.

The regular analysis of the company by reputable domestic and international investment banks maintains the 

visibility of the Kapsch TrafficCom AG share in the financial community. Kapsch TrafficCom AG is currently 

covered by six analysts (in alphabetical order): Berenberg (London, UK), Deutsche Bank (Vienna, Austria), Erste 

Bank (Vienna, Austria), Macquarie Securities Group (Frankfurt, Germany), Raiffeisen Centrobank (Vienna, Austria) 

and WestLB (Duesseldorf, Germany).

Corporate Bond.

On 3 November 2010, Kapsch TrafficCom AG successfully issued a corporate bond with a tenor of seven years 

and a volume of EUR 75 million. The substantial demand allowed the bond to be priced at a re-offer spread  

of mid-swap plus 195 basis points. More than 70 % of the bond were purchased by retail investors, and  

the remainder were placed with domestic and international institutional investors. The proceeds are intended 

to finance the acquisition of Mark IV IVHS, the capital requirements of other potential projects and general 

corporate purposes.

 



Fotodoppelseite

*) What you don’t see here: Our ‘Incident Detection System’ reliably 
monitors tunnels and roads and automatically detects hazardous  
situations along the roadside. 

Incident Detection System – When accidents occur, seconds can be crucial. Fast and efficient coordination of the rescue 
effort is imperative for saving human lives. The Kapsch Incident Detection System uses smart video technology for reliable 
detection of events and hazardous situations, such as smoke, wrong-way drivers, illegally stopped vehicles or lost cargo, 
therefore assuring safe operation and traffic flows in tunnels and along roads.  



Fotodoppelseite
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The Company.
Corporate History.

The Kapsch Group was founded in 1892 by Johann Kapsch in Vienna, Austria. In the early 1990s, the 

Kapsch Group entered the road traffic telematics business. Initially solely acting as a system integrator, 

selected acquisitions, including the acquisitions of the electronic toll collection division of Bosch Telecom, 

Germany (1999), and Combitech Traffic Systems AB, Sweden (2000) provided access to an own technology 

portfolio. Following a reorganization of the Kapsch Group in 2002, Kapsch TrafficCom AG was created by means 

of a demerger from the former Kapsch AG. Since then Kapsch TrafficCom AG and its subsidiaries form the road 

traffic telematics division of the Kapsch Group. The company entered the business of tolling systems operations 

with the foundation of Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH in 2005 and, since then, has covered the entire value 

creation chain of its customers, from technology to integration and operations as a one-stop shop with its end-

to-end solution portfolio.

The Kapsch TrafficCom Group has accelerated its internationalization since 2006 by establishing 

subsidiaries and representative offices in various countries and by making selected acquisitions, including  

DPS Automation S.A. in Argentina. In June 2007, Kapsch TrafficCom made an initial public offering to support  

its global expansion and the controlled growth of the business. The company entered the North American  

market in 2008 by acquiring the assets of the U.S. TechnoCom Corp. Kapsch TrafficCom purchased a 20.47 % 

stake in the Norwegian competitor Q-Free ASA in January 2009, which was subsequently diluted to 18.40 %  

as a consequence of capital increases. 

In the fiscal year 2010/11, Kapsch TrafficCom AG acquired a 56.81 % stake in the South African TMT Services 

and Supplies (Proprietary) Limited. In addition, the Mark IV IVHS businesses in the United States, Canada and 

Mexico were acquired.  

Market.

Kapsch TrafficCom currently addresses the Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS) market, which 

comprises the following market segments: 

n	 Electronic toll collection (ETC) systems with technologies that enable drivers to pay toll fees without  

stopping at tollgates.

n	 Traffic management systems (TMS) that monitor traffic, optimize signal timing, and regulate the flow of traffic.

n	 Commercial vehicle operations (CVO) systems which are technologies to enhance motor carrier productivity 

and safety during interstate transportation.

n	 Public vehicle transportation management systems (PVTMS) which streamline transit, allow transit companies 

to locate vehicles and provide safety to commuters.

n	 Vehicle information systems (VIS) which include a host of applications that enable commuters to have  

a safe journey.

 



The Company | 16

Intelligent transportation systems are integrated networks of communication technologies, independent 

modules of sophisticated PC/satellite-based navigation systems and other electronic data sensing, collection 

and transmission systems that collectively enhance the transportation experience by enabling highly regulated 

and congestion-free traffic flow, guided, hassle-free, safer and collision-free on-road travel, faster emergency 

response times, automated and unobtrusive vehicle recognition and tracking, toll collection and fleet 

management.

Market size. According to Global Industry Analysts, September 2010, the size of the ITS market amounted to 

USD 11.8 billion in 2010 and is increasing steadily. The largest market segment is traffic management systems, 

accounting for almost 38 %. The fastest-growing ITS segment is electronic toll collection systems with a 

compounded average growth rate of 17.1 % between 2000 and 2010; based on a worldwide volume of about 

USD 2.8 billion, it had a nearly 24 % share of the ITS market in 2010.

Market drivers. Kapsch TrafficCom has identified the following four factors as the main drivers for its current market:

Funding of infrastructure projects. The growth in the number of vehicles requires additional financing to con-

struct new and maintain existing roads. Road user charging offers a constant source of financing and thus helps 

governments to provide the necessary financing for infrastructure projects. Efficient, in particular electronic 

toll collection systems offer a significant, constant and sustainable source of additional funds for govern-

ments, public authorities and concessionaires, which can be used for the expansion and maintenance of road 

infrastructures.

Reduction of congestion. Road user charging is largely perceived as an effective solution for reducing high levels 

of congestion, particularly in metropolitan areas, as mandatory payments for road usage encourage carpooling 

or the use of public transportation.

Reduction of environmental pollution through road traffic. Efforts to reduce environmental pollution have become 

a market driver for the introduction of toll collection systems. Such systems encourage reduced or modified 

vehicle usage and reduce the need to further expand the road network, thereby reducing emissions and 

pollution levels. Electronic toll collection systems, in particular for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic, also have a 

proven ability to decrease environmental pollution and carbon dioxide emissions by reducing congestion at toll 

plazas and not interfering with the traffic flow. Urban toll solutions also help to reduce congestion levels and 

environmental pollution.

Reduction of road accidents. In particular, traffic management systems are expected to lower accident rates and 

increase the probability of surviving an accident.

Market Positioning.

Kapsch TrafficCom is an international supplier of superior intelligent transportation systems. Its principle 

business is the development and supply of electronic toll collection systems, in particular for the multi-lane  

free-flow of traffic, and the technical and commercial operation of such systems. Kapsch TrafficCom also 

supplies traffic management systems (TMS). The recently acquired TMT is a specialist for PVTMS in the South 

African market. In the future, Kapsch TrafficCom will also address the CVO and VIS market segment through its 

newly introduced 5.9 GHz technology.  
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Products, Systems and Solutions.

Kapsch TrafficCom offers products, systems and services as a one-stop shop and covers the entire value 

creation chain of customers with its end-to-end solution portfolio. The core expertise of Kapsch TrafficCom 

includes toll collection systems, the operation of toll collection systems, urban traffic solutions, ITS and 

telematics solutions as well as products and components for the ITS market.

Toll collection systems. Kapsch TrafficCom develops, integrates, implements, maintains and operates 

electronic toll collection systems on single-lanes or for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic as well as manual and 

automatic toll collection systems. These products and systems support the road user charging process in many 

ways: as part of networks; for individual highway sections or areas; in urban environments or as nationwide 

systems for heavy traffic or for all vehicles. Both pre-paid and post-paid charging models are supported. The 

Kapsch TrafficCom systems follow international technical standards and offer outstanding transaction rates, 

data security and system reliability and a high rate of return, while minimizing risks. The solutions have an open, 

modular and flexible design.

Electronic toll collection systems for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic. Many years of experience from the 

implementation of almost 20 systems make Kapsch TrafficCom to an internationally recognized supplier in this 

field. These systems work without impeding the traffic flow, thereby ensuring maximum throughput and optimal 

utilization of existing road infrastructure. The systems leverage a variety of technologies in accordance with each 

toll project’s specific requirements, offering a secure, flexible combination of the benefits provided by microwave 

technology (dedicated short-range communication), satellite positioning (GPS/GNSS, GSM/GPRS) and video 

technology.

Electronic toll collection systems on single-lanes. Kapsch TrafficCom utilizes modern, high-performance traffic 

sensors based on a variety of technology platforms (video, laser, etc.), which can be integrated easily and  

cost-effectively into existing toll collection infrastructures. 

Manual and automatic toll collection systems. Kapsch TrafficCom offers systems for conventional road user 

charging and for manual and automatic toll collection, which can subsequently be upgraded to electronic toll 

collection systems. 

Enforcement systems. As an important part of toll collection systems, enforcement systems constitute an effec-

tive and visible deterrent against systematic toll evasion. This safeguards the road operator’s income, ensures 

equality for all road users and preserves the integrity of the system as a whole. Kapsch TrafficCom provides solu-

tions for stationary and mobile enforcement or a combination thereof based on video or laser-scanner technologies. 

Central systems. As another important part of toll collection systems, central systems support not only the 

tolling and enforcement processes, but also the payment processes ranging from the automatic validation of 

images to fully automatic invoicing and generation of payment reminders. The Kapsch TrafficCom central system 

has a highly flexible design and may be easily customized to accommodate customer-specific toll collection and 

charging requirements.

Operation of toll collection systems. Kapsch TrafficCom also operates toll collection systems to support  

the entire value creation chain of customers. Turnkey solutions minimize risks for road operators and investors 

and ensure consistent investment security. Kapsch TrafficCom is dedicated to maintaining quality in processes 

and results across all project phases and stages of the value chain. 

Road user services. These services include the planning and implementation of point-of-sale systems, the 

operation of call centers and the design of suitable web portals to meet the varied information needs of road 

users in a cost-effective and timely manner.



The Company | 18

Payment Solutions. Kapsch TrafficCom payment solutions include comprehensive services from invoicing to 

reminders and dunning, and support a variety of payment systems, such as cash, credit cards or fleet cards. 

To enable enforcement of the toll collection process, validation centers are implemented within the scope of an 

operations project and specific measures for mobile enforcement are provided.

Urban traffic solutions. Road user charging and access control are today regarded as highly effective tools 

for urban traffic management throughout the world. They contribute to lowering congestion and improving the 

quality of life by reducing harmful emissions and noise pollution. 

City tolling. Kapsch TrafficCom offers an electronic toll collection and enforcement system for city tolling solu-

tions, which is based primarily on automatic video recognition of license plates in conjunction with microwave 

communication. This solution is geared to the demands of urban environments and accommodates traffic 

congestion, stop and go traffic and undisciplined driving behavior (such as weaving and overtaking). Moreover,  

it provides versatile support for zone- or time-based pricing models.

Dynamic zones. This fully automatic Kapsch TrafficCom system enables urban traffic to be managed in 

accordance with changing traffic patterns and/or particulate matter concentrations. It makes each individual 

road user aware of the impact of his or her behavior on the environment and also permits highly responsive 

traffic management.

Dynamic parking. Kapsch TrafficCom offers solutions which enable local governments to introduce fully 

automatic time-based solutions for road parking. Charges are dependent upon the period a vehicle spends 

within a defined zone. This makes the entire process of calculating charges and monitoring payment simpler, 

more transparent and more reliable for both local government agencies and road users.

ITS and telematic solutions. Kapsch TrafficCom telematic solutions improve road safety and support the 

efficient use of existing infrastructure. The increasingly broadened solution portfolio is primarily based on 

incident detection systems, video-based traffic sensors and a multifunctional telematics platform. 

Incident detection systems. These systems make it possible to reliably identify key events or exceptional 

situations, such as congestion, accidents, or dangerous driving. As a result, they promote the reliable and safe 

flow of traffic, especially in critical areas such as tunnels.

Telematic platform. This platform comprises a modular software system that can be deployed alongside 

electronic toll collection solutions. It provides a multifunctional basis for a variety of telematic applications for 

urban planning, traffic management, road safety and mobility services.

Products and components for the ITS market. With a network of research and development centers, Kapsch 

TrafficCom develops core technologies and components for road user charging and telematic applications.  

Products include on-board units, roadside infrastructure (such as transceivers) or cameras as well as enforce-

ment and central systems. 

On-board units. State-of-the-art programming stations are available for the personalization of on-board units, 

and mobile readers for the mobile enforcement of on-board units. These products are designed for ease-of-

configuration with standardized interfaces, maintenance-free operation and user friendliness.
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References, Customers and Selected Projects.

Customers around the world rely on the products, systems, solutions and services of Kapsch TrafficCom –  

from Austria and the Czech Republic, to the U.S.A., Canada, Chile, Australia and South Africa. Customers  

include public sector organizations, private concessionaires and leading system integrators. The numbers  

not only speak for themselves – they speak for Kapsch TrafficCom: 260 customer references in 41 countries, 

almost 44 million delivered on-board units and more than 18,000 toll lanes. 

Europe. A nationwide electronic truck tolling system was launched in Austria on 1 January 2004. Kapsch 

TrafficCom was responsible for the entire turnkey system: the planning, design and implementation of the 

roadside infrastructure, the development of application software and the design and production of on-board 

units, system integration, implementation and start-up of the entire system, the coordination of subcontractors 

and the project roll-out.

In the Czech Republic, Kapsch TrafficCom was awarded a contract for the design, development, integration, 

installation, implementation, operation and maintenance of the nationwide electronic truck tolling system that 

started commercial operation on 1 January 2007. The project was completed in the record time of just nine 

months.

In Poland, an electronic toll collection system on an existing road network that initially covers 1,750 kilometers is 

in implementation. 

In Italy, Kapsch TrafficCom has deployed urban traffic solutions in, among other cities, Rome, Bologna, Piacenza, 

Genoa, Livorno, Arezzo, Ravenna, Lecce and Salerno.

Americas. In North America, the recently acquired Mark IV IVHS has enabled many landmark ITS deployments 

including: the non-stop, all-electronic toll road on Highway 407 ETR in Canada; interoperability between truck 

electronic preclearance systems and toll collection (PrePass); and the E-ZPass® system of the 24 toll authorities 

in 14 states who comprise the E-ZPass® Group in the northeastern region of the United States. E-ZPass® is a 

regional ETC system that can be used throughout the Northeast and Midwest of the United States.

In South America, Kapsch TrafficCom has established three electronic toll collection systems on highways in 

Chile: Costanera Norte, Autopista Central and Vespucio Norte Express. All three systems include technologies 

for vehicle detection and classification (VDC) and vehicle detection and registration (VDR).

Africa. KapschTrafficCom was responsible for the introduction of Africa’s first electronic toll collection system  

on the Platinum Toll Highway in South Africa in 2002. In 2009, Kapsch TrafficCom was awarded the contract  

for the implementation and operation of an electronic toll collection system for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic 

in the Gauteng province. This project is currently in the realization stage.

Asia-Pacific region. In Melbourne, Australia, Kapsch TrafficCom implemented the world’s first electronic toll 

collection systems for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic on an urban highway in 1999, including systems for 

vehicle detection and classification and for vehicle registration. Moreover, Kapsch TrafficCom has introduced 

other such systems in Australia: on the Western City Orbital and Eastlink in Melbourne, on the Hills Motorway 

(M2) in Sydney and the Clem 7 tunnel in Brisbane. 

In India, Kapsch TrafficCom implemented an electronic toll collection system (manual toll collection with 

electronic microwave communication) on highway No. 8 in New Delhi, India, including the largest toll plaza in 

Asia with 36 lanes, in 2007.
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Research and Development, Innovation and Quality.

Research and Development. The Kapsch TrafficCom Group has a network of research and development  

centers in Vienna and Klagenfurt (Austria), Jönköping (Sweden), Bologna (Italy), Buenos Aires (Argentina),  

Toronto (Canada), Carlsbad (California, U.S.A.) and Capetown (South Africa). These research and development 

centers are organized as competence centers. All research and development activities are coordinated from  

the headquarters in Vienna. 

Research and development activities are a high priority for the Kapsch TrafficCom Group in pursuing its 

strategic goals. The knowledge of entirely new technologies and their possible applications based on national 

and international standards forms the foundation for successful business developments and enables the entry 

into new markets. Successful research and development is the foundation for the sustained improvement of 

existing products and systems as well as the continuous reduction of production, installation, operating and 

maintenance costs, all of which are essential for maintaining a technological and competitive advantage.

The Kapsch TrafficCom Group focuses its activities primarily on new, innovative applications and applied 

research and development for all types of ITS solutions. The research and development activities are 

complemented in some areas by joint projects and close cooperation with universities, public and private 

institutes and technology and research companies.

Innovation. Kapsch TrafficCom defines its mission as consistently creating competitive advantages and benefits 

for its customers and partners, while ensuring that the company lives up to its responsibility to the environment. 

The objective of Kapsch TrafficCom is global leadership in quality and innovation for ITS solutions. 

Kapsch TrafficCom wins over and retains customer confidence through a strict focus on customer requirements. 

The company works to achieve long-lasting partnerships with satisfied customers through optimal service. 

Kapsch TrafficCom is committed to a permanent and integrated innovation process that reflects its market 

position as a leading innovator and secures this position over the long-term. 

Quality. The Kapsch TrafficCom quality processes are based on ISO 9001 and meet the requirements of the 

V-Model, a project management method to identify the improvement potential originally stemming from IT. The 

company follows an integrated management system for health and safety, security, environment and quality 

(HSSEQ), with quality certified according to ISO 9001, environment certified according to ISO 14001 and health 

and safety certified according to OHSAS 18001. Kapsch TrafficCom is also certified for IT-service-management 

according to ISO 20000. All processes are documented in line with the respective norms and frequently audited. 
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Employees.

The table below shows the allocation of employees within the Kapsch TrafficCom Group as of 31 March  

during the last five years:

31 March 2011 31 March 2010 31 March 2009 31 March 2008 31 March 2007

Breakdown by function

Intelligent transportation systems 2,024 879 785 647 553

Manufacturing and logistics 
(Kapsch Components 
GmbH & Co KG) 143 144 161 177 221

Total by function 2,167 1,023 946 824 774

Breakdown by region

Europe:

	 Austria 605 528 519 497 475

	 Sweden 134 122 110 97 89

	 Western Europe 15 13 10 1 0

	 Central and Eastern Europe 	
	 (excluding Austria) 195 152 148 128 108

Latin America 196 132 112 80 94

Asia and Africa 845 38 14 12 2

Australia and New Zealand 12 11 10 9 6

U.S.A. and Canada 165 27 23 0 0

Total by region 2,167 1,023 946 824 774

Training and education. Kapsch TrafficCom places great importance on the continued training and education 

of its employees. This involves not only promoting professional education, but also providing seminars and 

workshops for personality development and teamwork skills. Training sessions tailored to the particular needs of 

employees are offered within the framework of the Kapsch Academy. Selected employees are prepared for their 

future tasks in a management trainee program. The Group has implemented a job rotation program to promote 

the international exchange of staff between the various locations.

Profit participation plan. Kapsch TrafficCom is aware of the employees’ contribution to its success and 

acknowledges this through a profit participation plan that allows employees to share in the profit of the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group. The Kapsch TrafficCom Group rewards the commitment of its employees with a 5 % share 

in profit. Country-specific upper limits have been established to ensure that this distribution reflects local 

purchasing power. Every employee is entitled to participate in this program, which is independent of the person’s 

salary or wage.

External pension fund. Kapsch TrafficCom makes contributions to an external pension fund for employees of 

group companies in Austria under a defined contribution scheme. The amount of the payments is based on the 

individual employee’s income and the return on sales of the entity.

Working environment. The core corporate values – dynamism, respect, responsibility, family, discipline, 

performance, transparency and freedom – and their manifestation in everyday working activities contribute to  

a good working environment.
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Corporate Strategy.

The primary objective of Kapsch TrafficCom is to strengthen its position as an internationally recognized 

supplier of superior intelligent transportation systems and, in particular, as a provider of technical and 

commercial operation services. Striving for global quality and innovation leadership in the rapidly growing 

market, Kapsch TrafficCom is always a step ahead with its focus on the following principal strategies:

Capitalize on the growth in the global market as well as exploit new and further market opportunities. 

Kapsch TrafficCom intends to participate in the strong growth expected in the global ITS market and sees 

significant opportunities for the implementation and operation of systems across the world. The company 

intends to capitalize on its leading position and increase its market share in the regions where it already has 

a strong presence. In addition, Kapsch TrafficCom intends to continue and intensify the regional expansion 

of its multinational footprint into selected new markets. Kapsch TrafficCom also plans to target new growth 

opportunities and will participate in selected tenders for tolling projects of various scales on all continents.

 

In particular, Kapsch TrafficCom will participate in the tenders for further nationwide toll collection systems 

and, with its “Kapsch Area”, has a cost efficient hybrid solution that combines the advantages of microwave 

technology (dedicated short-range communication) and satellite technologies (GPS/GSM), thereby meeting 

specific customer requirements (e.g., all-road and all-vehicle tolling) in larger nationwide electronic toll collection 

systems. Kapsch TrafficCom intends to provide additional services and applications in connection with the 

electronic vignette, which the company believes may replace traditional paper vignettes over time.

Kapsch TrafficCom considers strategic acquisitions or joint ventures if such steps could more efficiently drive 

growth in selected geographical regions or could strengthen or expand the company’s technological know-how. 

The company is currently examining the further expansion of its business into the North American market. 

Kapsch TrafficCom also intends to expand its offering of ITS applications in a concerted and gradual manner. 

Permanently targeting technological leadership. Kapsch TrafficCom intends to leverage its technological 

leadership in order to further broaden and enhance its product and service portfolio.

Taking advantage of the newest technologies in practical applications is an integral part of the strategy and  

a key success factor for Kapsch TrafficCom. The networked international research and development centers of 

Kapsch TrafficCom are therefore constantly searching for new, forward-looking applications.

Expand the position as a commercial operator of toll collection systems. Kapsch TrafficCom plans to 

expand its position as a commercial operator of toll collection systems and, in particular, intends to build on its 

experience from the successful commercial operation of the nationwide electronic truck tolling system in the 

Czech Republic.

The company plans to constantly increase the volume of recurring revenues through new projects where Kapsch 

TrafficCom is also responsible for the commercial operation, the technical operation of systems and the supply 

of supplemental equipment and components for the extension of installed systems.
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*) What you don’t see here: Our video-based ‘Automatic Number  
Plate Recognition’ not only supports toll collection, but can assist  
federal and state authorities to fight crime.  

Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) Traffic Surveillance System – Authorities increasingly use video-based 
number plate recognition systems to improve public safety. The Kapsch ANPR Traffic Surveillance System can aid in the 
search and location of stolen vehicles or vehicles used in criminal acts, such as bank robberies. In flowing traffic, the 
system automatically and discreetly matches the license plate numbers of travelling vehicles to a list of vehicles sought  
by the respective authority.
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Sustainability.
Resource scarcity, demographic change, global warming, greater environmental awareness in transportation, 

investments in infrastructure, new requirements by our customers – all these developments call for long-term 

and responsible business activities. Kapsch TrafficCom has taken up these challenges and is dedicated to the 

issue of sustainability. 

The Kapsch TrafficCom AG sustainability report, which was published for the first time in 2009/10, is intended  

to make the progress and future objectives in this area more transparent. The target group for this report 

consists of our stakeholders, who are and will be actively integrated into the process. This represents an 

essential foundation for a sustainability management system that is – in line with the corporate philosophy –  

always a step ahead.

The focal points follow the claim of Kapsch TrafficCom: always future-oriented – always innovative – always 

performance-oriented – always aware of its responsibilities – always close to its customers, always one step 

ahead.

Climate protection. The Kapsch TrafficCom products make valuable contributions to climate protection. The 

use of electronic toll collection systems keeps vehicles from standing and waiting at toll stations, which reduces 

CO2 emissions by the vehicles. For the future, Kapsch TrafficCom is working intensively on linking these products 

with renewable energies. In addition, the company is actively reducing the indirect emissions caused by its 

production. Accordingly, the ventilation, climate control and lighting of the production and logistics hall at the 

subsidiary Kapsch Components were optimized in 2010 to reduce 175 tons of carbon dioxide per year.

Resource consumption. Kapsch TrafficCom AG constantly strives to use fewer resources in the creation  

of products and to increase the rate of recycling. These efforts are supported by awareness-raising measures 

and the reduction of waste through the partial use of compostable packaging. In addition, products with 

environmentally-oriented quality seals (eco label, Forest Stewardship Council – FSC) have preference in 

procurement.

Employee development and diversity. Committed employees represent the greatest capital of Kapsch 

TrafficCom AG. For this reason their development, diversity and equal opportunities are important to the com-

pany. An attractive range of career options, a great working climate and special promotion programs result in  

a low fluctuation rate and high average term of employment of over 10 years with the company.

Sustainable innovation. Kapsch TrafficCom makes an important contribution to a sustainable future with 

superior intelligent transportation systems. The company constantly invests in the development of innovative and 

environmentally friendly products, such as compostable product packaging or the operation of toll stations on 

the basis of photovoltaic modules and windmills. Research and development expenditures in the 2010/11 fiscal 

year amounted to EUR 37.3 million, which corresponds to approximately 10 % of sales or approximately 76 % of 

EBIT. 

Energy consumption and efficiency. Kapsch TrafficCom strives to minimize the direct environmental footprint 

of its production and administration activities. For example, it always pays attention to energy efficiency when 

investing in new production plants. At the subsidiary Kapsch Components, production optimization saved 

856,290 kWh of electricity per year – a success that was recognized with an energy efficiency award. 
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Product responsibility. The processes of the Kapsch TrafficCom AG quality management system are based 

on ÖNORM EN ISO 9001:2000 and also satisfy additional quality requirements. In addition, Kapsch TrafficCom 

operates an integrated quality management system and follows the general guidelines for environmental 

protection, general safety and workplace safety. Kapsch TrafficCom AG and its subsidiary Kapsch Components 

are certified in environmental management according to ISO 14001. Additional certifications are in planning.

Anti-corruption and compliance. As part of the internal risk management, all business units over which 

Kapsch TrafficCom AG has primary influence are audited with regard to their corruption risks and the first and 

second management level employees are trained in anti-corruption policy and anti-corruption processes. During 

the reporting period covered by the sustainability report, there were no corruption incidents or complaints due 

to anticompetitive behavior or the formation of a cartel or monopoly. There were also no reported discrimination 

incidents in the areas of human rights, promotion of diversity and enforcement of equal opportunities.

Work safety and employee health. A safe workplace and healthy employees are very important to the 

company, which is why two Austrian locations are certified according to the Occupational Health and Safety 

Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001. In addition, the company has implemented a number of initiatives and 

programs to promote employee health.

Supply chain management. Kapsch TrafficCom expects high standards in performance and integrity from all its 

partners. Supplier relationships are based on a high quality level, and the company expects its business partners 

to comply with applicable laws, industry rules and contractual conditions. As part of its social responsibility 

efforts, Kapsch TrafficCom places particular value on complying with recognized standards, e. g. for the protec-

tion of human rights, workplace safety, environmental protection, anti-corruption principles and the prohibitions 

on child labor and forced labor.

Stakeholder dialog. Kapsch TrafficCom communicates extensively with its stakeholders through a wide range of 

personal, written and electronic communication. 

Regional value creation. As an internationally active company, Kapsch TrafficCom AG understands that regional 

value creation gives rise to opportunities for both the company and the business environment. The men and 

women employed by the subsidiaries of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group come primarily from the local region, 

which allows for the use of the shared language as a valuable asset. When possible, materials and supplies  

are purchased from the respective local regions.

Outlook, challenges, goals. In the future, the Kapsch TrafficCom AG sustainability report will be published 

annually – in line with the membership of United Nations Global Compact (UNCG) – to show the progress on 

these issues. The next steps will be the development of a sustainability strategy which will form the basis for  

the definition of the most important action areas and the processes to meet these objectives.

The issue of sustainability will be firmly anchored in the Kapsch TrafficCom Group to best approach the 

challenges of tomorrow and remain, as ever, always one step ahead. 
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*) What you don’t see here: Our ‘Traffic Flow Analysis’ helps to better 
control the traffic of today and better plan the roads of tomorrow. 

Traffic Flow Analysis – Thorough assessment of road utilization is an essential prerequisite for optimizing existing roads 
and planning new road infrastructure. Based on data supplied by the toll collection infrastructure, Kapsch Traffic Flow 
Analysis gives traffic planners and road operators a powerful analysis tool to understand traffic movements, such as 
identifying the main routes through a country, how much traffic is going from A to B, and which routes are taken, or the 
percentage of transit traffic on a route.
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Business Segments and 
Subsidiaries.
Business Segments.

Kapsch TrafficCom categorizes its business into the three segments Road Solution Projects (RSP), Services, 

System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC), and Others (OTH). 

Road Solution Projects (RSP). This segment includes projects with an aggregate volume in excess of  

EUR 3 million. Generally, such systems are awarded in tender processes by public authorities or private sector 

concessionaires. The tolling systems can be designed to cover individual road sections as well as nationwide 

road networks.

The types of projects realized by this segment result in significant fluctuations in revenues, cost of materials 

and other production services, staff costs as well as other operating expense and, in certain projects (such 

as the nationwide electronic truck tolling system in the Czech Republic), also in project financing costs. The 

segment RSP shows the one-time effects from the realization of new projects. The business in this segment is 

characterized by a significant volatility in revenues and operating results from period to period depending on 

whether individual projects are in the preparation, commencement or subsequent implementation phase.

Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC). Once a system is implemented, Kapsch TrafficCom is 

typically responsible for its technical operation and maintenance. This segment is also responsible for supplying 

supplemental equipment and components (such as on-board units and transceivers) for the extension and the 

upgrade (such as the upgrade of manual to automatic or electronic toll collection) of existing systems. Since 

2005, Kapsch TrafficCom also offers the commercial operation of systems. The segment SEC also includes 

smaller scale projects with an aggregate volume of less than EUR 3 million that are often not awarded in tender 

processes. 

The segment SEC represents the company’s recurring activities. The business in this segment is characterized 

by relatively stable revenue streams over a certain period, since these services are provided mainly based on 

medium- or long-term service and framework agreements. Kapsch TrafficCom expects its service offering will 

generate a continuous stream of revenues in this segment going forward, in particular through the services 

rendered for the commercial operation of the nationwide electronic truck tolling system in the Czech Republic.

Others (OTH). The segment Others includes the non-core business activities of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group 

that are conducted by its subsidiary Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG. In this segment, engineering solutions, 

electronic manufacturing and logistics services are rendered to affiliated entities and third parties.
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Total revenues amounted to EUR 388.6 million in the fiscal year 2010/11, which represents an increase of 80 % 

compared to the same period of the previous year (fiscal year 2009/10: EUR 216.0 million).

The segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC) contributed 57 % to total revenues at 

EUR 223.3 million, an increase of 38 % compared to the same period of the previous year (fiscal year 2009/10: 

EUR 161.9 million). 

The top five markets in the segment SEC were the Czech Republic at EUR 80.9 million (corresponding to  

36 % of the total segment SEC revenues), Austria at EUR 32.6 million (15 %), South Africa at EUR 32.0 million 

(14 %), U.S.A. at EUR 17.2 million (8 %) and France at EUR 12.0 million (5 %). At EUR 48.6 million, 22 % of the 

total revenues of the segment SEC were generated outside the top five markets.

The segment Road Solution Projects (RSP) contributed 41 % to total revenues at EUR 158.9 million, which is 

an increase of 247 % compared to the same period of the previous year (fiscal year 2009/10: EUR 45.8 million). 

The top five markets in the segment RSP were South Africa at EUR 88.7 million (corresponding to 56 % of the 

total segment RSP revenues), Poland at EUR 39.7 million (25 %), Czech Republic at EUR 21.0 million (13 %), 

Australia at EUR 7.5 million (5 %) and Chile at EUR 0.7 million (1 %). At EUR 1.3 million, less than one percent  

of the total revenues of the segment RSP were generated outside the top five markets.

The segment Others (OTH) contributed 2 % to total revenues at EUR 6.4 million, which reflects a decrease of 

23 % compared to the same period of the previous year (fiscal year 2009/10: EUR 8.3 million). The top market 

was Austria at EUR 4.9 million (corresponding to 77 % of the total revenues of the segment OTH).

An analysis of the fiscal year 2010/11 by geographic region shows that Austria generated revenues of EUR 

37.5 million (corresponding to 10 % of the total revenues), Europe (excluding Austria) EUR 182.0 million (47 %), 

the Americas EUR 27.6 million (7 %) and the Rest of the World EUR 141.5 million (36 %). 

By country, the top five markets in the fiscal year 2010/11 were South Africa with revenues of EUR 120.7 million 

(corresponding to 31 % of the total revenues), the Czech Republic with EUR 102.0 million (26 %), Poland with 

EUR 39.7 million (10 %), Austria with EUR 37.5 million (10 %) and the U.S.A. with EUR 17.9 million (5 %). At EUR 

70.8 million, 18 % of the total revenues were generated outside the top five markets.   
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The parent company Kapsch TrafficCom AG holds, with the exception of the subsidiaries listed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, directly or indirectly 100 % of 
the shares in the fully consolidated subsidiaries. The company also has representative offices in São Paulo, Brazil and Beijing, China as well as a branch office in Zagreb, Croatia. 
Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG is the sole general partner (Komplementär) of Kapsch Components KG.
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*) What you don’t see here: Our ‘OBU-Based Access & Payment’  
makes it possible for vehicles equipped with an OBU to use toll 
roads or ferries without the need for tickets or cash. 

OBU-Based Access & Payment – In-vehicle on-board units for tolling represent an ideal method for accessing services  
and making cash-free payments. For example, they can be used for accessing and paying for parking facilities without 
a ticket and without cash. Other applications include payments at petrol stations, on ferries or at secured truck parking 
facilities along highways.
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Management Report.
Kapsch TrafficCom AG on the Consolidated Financial  
Statements as of 31 March 2011.

1	 Economic climate

1.1	 General economic situation

Global Economy

Following the financial and economic crisis, world trade has increased again since the start of 2009 and has largely been able to re-

gain pre-crisis levels. Real global trade is expected to increase by 10 % per year in 2011 and 2012 as well. The global economy also 

improved as a result of very expansive monetary and fiscal policy. The global gross domestic product rose by 4.5 % year-on-year, 

but slowed over the course of 2010. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) has forecasted growth of 4.4 % for 2011, and expects the 

global economy to continue growing by 4.5 % in 2012. 

From a regional perspective, the economic upturn has been very uneven. In the emerging markets, such as in Asia, recovery was 

observed earlier than in the industrial countries, such as the euro zone in particular. However, the expansion in Asia is now showing 

a slight decline, which can be attributed to the end of the significant inventory build-up following the crisis as well as attempts by 

China and other emerging countries to slow growth in order to prevent their economies from overheating and to counteract rising 

inflationary pressure. Asian and Latin American economies will continue to grow in 2011 and 2012, lending a noticeable impetus to 

the global economy.

In the euro region, very large differences exist between the individual countries. High-export and internationally competitive 

nations such as Germany and the Scandinavian countries exhibited positive growth figures for 2010, while the situation in Southern 

European countries and in Ireland appeared somewhat worse. The problematic national budgets of these euro countries are leading 

to an abrupt increase in lending rates and continue to put the European Currency Union to a hard test. In the interests of solidarity, 

the EU has resolved to provide EUR 110 billion of support to Greece and EUR 85 billion to Ireland. It is also assumed that Portugal 

will need between EUR 80 billion and EUR 90 billion. 

The oil price has risen again significantly in recent months due to the flare up of unrest in North Africa and the Near East and stood 

at roughly USD 110 per barrel Brent as of mid May. Raw materials prices are likewise increasing due to high demand. The price of 

gold is also rising, ending the reporting period at approx. USD 1.525 per Troy ounce.

2010 was a turbulent year for the financial markets. The European sovereign debt crisis and the relaxation of monetary policy by  

the US Federal Reserve dominated the international markets. The euro lost ground against the US dollar in the first half of 2010, but 

the euro exchange rate recovered again in the second half of the year. Demand for low-risk investments in German and American 

bonds increased. 

The final weeks of the fiscal year 2010/11 were dominated by the terrible catastrophe in Japan. Following the massive destruction 

caused by the earthquake and tsunami, the threat of a nuclear disaster has largely been the focus of attention. 

The consequences for the global economy are still difficult to estimate. Japan is faced with its largest reconstruction effort since 

World War II. The required investments and restoration of the destroyed infrastructure could mean a short-term boost to the 

Japanese economy. However, Japan is one of the few major economic powers with a strong focus on exports, and this leads to  

fears of massive economic losses due to production downtimes as well as the radioactive contamination of agricultural products 

and ocean water. According to economists, the direct consequences on the global economy should remain within limits. 
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The overall outlook for the global economy justifies the expectation that investors could remain in a risk-averse posture. The high 

national debts of the developed countries and rising raw materials prices will have a significant impact on growth.

U.S.A.

The economy in the United States. developed positively during 2010. The gross domestic product of the U.S.A. increased by 2.7 % 

in 2010, and indicators point toward a continuation of this positive trend. GDP growth of 2.2 % is forecasted for the year 2011 and a 

further increase in growth to 2.9 % for 2012.

Measures to stabilize the economy as well as extensive intervention by the US Federal Reserve (Fed) during the year 2010 are 

allowing banks to repair their balance sheets. Expansive monetary policy and the buyback of government bonds by the Fed have 

kept the USD exchange rate low. At the end of 2010, the euro was at 1.34 US dollars, while on 31 March 2011 it was 1.42 US dollars. 

Since the end of 2010, the Fed has held to a historically low interest rate between 0.0 % and 0.25 %. Experts expect the prime rate 

will be kept low over the short-term and the relaxed monetary policy will be maintained.

The labor market has recovered slightly in recent months, but is still characterized by delayed development. The unemployment 

rate remains high and was at 9.0 % in January 2011. In 2011, unemployment is expected to average between 8.8 % and 9.0 %. 

Developments in the areas of industrial production and exports are positive. Private consumer spending remained expansive despite 

belt-tightening, which can be attributed in part to the increased prices of food and fuel. Forecasts indicate that the consumption  

and real estate boom seen prior to the crisis will not return quickly. In particular, the recovery in the real estate market has remained 

very weak to date. No noticeable improvement is in sight for the construction industry as well.

Emerging Markets

The rapid implementation of government economic stimulus programs has boosted the emerging markets in the last two years. 

Emerging countries such as China and India have even seen a surplus of capital.

China exhibited GDP growth of 10.5 % in 2010. Although the government took measures to counteract the risk of currency apprecia-

tion and rising inflationary pressure, growth amounting to 9 % per year is expected for the years 2011 and 2012.

Japan made the turnaround in 2010 and was able to achieve an increase of 3.6 % in its gross domestic product. As a result of the 

recent natural catastrophes, serious estimates regarding future developments are almost impossible, and the opinions of experts 

also diverge extensively in this area.

Europe

Following the global crisis, recovery was also observed in the euro countries during 2010. The gross domestic product in the euro 

zone rose by 1.7 %, and stable growth of 1.5 % is expected for the years 2011 and 2012. Industry in the euro region was able to 

exceed production forecasts, and the volume of new orders also developed positively. At the start of the 4th quarter of 2010, the 

industrial capacity utilization of 77.6 % was far above the low of the previous year (69.6 %) but still fell short of the long-term average 

of 81.2 %.

In general, an analysis of the current economic situations in the euro countries shows significant differences.

 

The competitive export countries of the euro region, such as Germany and the neighbors with which it has strong economic 

relationships, such as Austria and Slovakia, are profiting from the massive growth in the emerging markets (in particular, from China). 

Germany, for instance, proved to be the economic motor for Europe in 2010 with growth of 3.6 %, and there are good prospects for 

continued stable growth in 2011 as well. Alongside the positive effects from the rise in global trade, German economic growth also 

benefits from the low interest rates in the euro zone. As a result, the country has been spared tax hikes and cost-cutting measures, 

benefiting companies and further promoting consumption.
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Other euro countries have encountered great difficulties in controling their national debts and lag behind in terms of growth. High 

public spending and austerity packages can be seen in Greece, Ireland, Portugal and Spain, and the economies of these countries 

are stagnating. Portugal is even in a recession at this time.

In recent months, all the nations of Europe have banded together to overcome this crisis through joint action. To this end, a com-

prehensive plan was passed for opposing the debt crisis in the euro region, stabilizing the economic and monetary union and 

improving competitiveness. The new crisis fund for high-debt euro countries was recently raised to EUR 700 billion. As of 2013, this 

money should be made available as credit financing under favorable conditions to euro countries that are unable to get their national 

budgets under control on their own despite austerity programs. Almost all EU states are helping to finance this rescue fund through 

cash contributions and guarantees. Strict criteria, including massive cost-cutting measures, must be met in order to take advantage 

of this aid. 

Although the EU began to assist Greece at the start of 2010 – in total, roughly EUR 110 billion should have been approved – the 

budget deficit for 2010 was again higher than expected at 10.5 %. Ireland requested assistance at the end of 2010 and received  

a loan of roughly EUR 85 billion.

     

The situation in Portugal also intensified in the spring of 2011. The goals for the budget deficit in 2010 were clearly missed at 9.1 %, 

and political turbulence has ensued since that time. The unemployment rate (11.2 % in January 2011) and inflation (roughly 3.5 % in 

February 2011) also rose considerably. At the start of April 2011, after receipt of a significantly worse rating and a correspondingly 

massive interest rate increase for Portuguese government bonds, the country requested assistance from the EU rescue fund. 

Estimates of the required aid run to EUR 80-90 billion.

In addition to the crisis fund, adherence to the stability package has once again received greater attention throughout the entire euro 

region. The new debt of a country may not exceed 3 % and the total debt level must be lower than 60 % of the GDP. If these criteria 

are not met, a deficit process must be followed by which 0.2 % of the GDP must be set aside as a pledge for improving the debt. 

If the debt situation does not improve, this pledge is treated as a penalty. The euro countries are also called upon to more closely 

coordinate their tax, pension and social policies in order to avoid differences in competitiveness.

Overall, the economic recovery in the euro region has been astonishingly robust despite the rising price of oil and continued debt 

problems.

The new EU countries were able to achieve GDP growth of 1.9 % in 2010 (2009: -3.3 %). Indicators point to continued GDP growth 

of 2.6 % in 2011 while growth as high as 3.6 % is expected for 2012. Poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Hungary have 

enjoyed good economic growth.

Inflation in the EU (EU-27) increased in 2010 primarily due to rising energy prices and was at 2.8 % in February 2011. To counteract 

this, the European Central Bank raised the prime rate from 1 % to 1.25 % at the start of April 2011, and another increase is expected 

over the course of 2011. The 3-month Euribor rate was 1.23 % on 31 March 2011.

The unemployment rate in the EU (EU-27) remained at a high level of 9.5 % in February 2011, only 0.1 % lower than the previous 

year. This figure also varies widely between the individual countries. The Netherlands, Luxembourg and Austria have the lowest rates, 

while the highest unemployment rates are reported by Spain, Lithuania and Latvia. Latvia, however, was also able to demonstrate 

the greatest reduction in unemployment, followed by Estonia and Sweden. The largest increase was reported by Greece and Ireland.
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Austria

The Austrian GDP increased by 2.0 % in 2010, which can be primarily attributed to the strong growth in exports (2010: +12.3 %) and 

rising investments. The GDP growth forecast for 2011 was recently revised upward to 2.5 %, and growth of 2.0 % is expected for 

2012 as well. 

Positive export developments can be attributed to the strong economic growth in Germany, which was in turn positively influenced 

by growing demand from Asia. Austria’s exporters also profited from increasing exports to Switzerland, Russia and the U.S.A.. 

According to forecasts, Austrian goods exports are expected to grow by 7 % in 2011 and 6.4 % in 2012. 

Consumption by private households remained a stable pillar of the economy in 2010 due to high real growth (tax reform, expansion 

of social transfers and low inflation). Consumer spending by private households increased by 1.1 % in 2010. Trade also profited from 

the positive development in consumer spending, making possible an increase of 2.8 % in value creation.

In 2011, it is expected that net real per capita income will decline somewhat due to lower salary conditions in the public sector and  

a slight increase in the inflation rate. Net real wages should recover somewhat in 2012. 

In February 2011, the inflation rate reached its highest level since September of the previous year. The Europe-wide harmonized 

consumer price index jumped to 3.1 % and exerted a damping effect on economic growth. This increase can be attributed above all 

to increased prices for fuels, heating oil and food. Approximately 0.4 % of this increase originates from the raising of indirect taxes 

for budget consolidation. On the other hand, core inflation, which excludes energy and unprocessed foods, remained low.

Overall, the Austrian economy is recovering very well compared with the rest of the world. Following on the economic stimulus 

programs, the austerity package and tax reforms were implemented relatively quickly and have already begun to show the desired 

effects, demonstrating that they were correctly dimensioned. It has been possible to keep many employees in their jobs by reducing 

working hours. In addition, innovative ideas helped Austrian companies successfully ride out the crisis.

However, the continued growth of the Austrian economy is subject to a number of uncertainties and risks. The EU countries are 

faced with the great challenge of overcoming the debt crisis and ensuring the stability of the monetary union in Europe. The unrest 

in the Near East and North Africa has led to increased oil prices and negatively impacted inflation. It remains to be seen how the 

situation in North Africa will develop. Due to the low trade volume with Japan, experts believe the catastrophe there will have only a 

negligible impact on the Austrian economy, with the exception of delivery bottlenecks. The potential influence of this situation on the 

global economy and thereby directly on Austria remains difficult to assess from today’s perspective. 

The development of the unemployment rate remains positive. Unemployment has continued to fall, reaching 6.9 % in March 2011 

according to the national calculation and 4.3 % according to the Eurostat definition. This places Austria alongside the Netherlands 

in the top ranks of the EU-27 countries (average of 9.6 %). According to the most recent forecasts, the unemployment rate should 

stabilize further, and an annual average of 4.1 % is expected for 2011 and 4.0 % for 2012.

1.2	  Development of the market for intelligent transportation systems

To allow for easier comparisons, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group makes use of the internationally prevailing terms for the intelligent 

transportation systems market. The study “Intelligent Transportation Systems – A global strategic business report” from Global 

Industry Analysts, September 2010, describes the ITS market as a diversifying market with the following, widely differing application 

and product segments.
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Electronic toll collection (ETC) systems with technologies that enable drivers to pay toll fees without stopping at tollgates.

Traffic management systems (TMS) that monitor traffic, optimize signal timing, and regulate the flow of traffic.

Commercial vehicle operations (CVO) systems which are technologies to enhance motor carrier productivity and safety during 

interstate transportation.

Public vehicle transportation management systems (PVTMS) which streamline transit, allow transit companies to locate vehicles  

and provide safety to commuters.

Vehicle information systems (VIS) which include a host of applications that enable commuters to have a safe journey.

According to Global Industry Analysts, the size of the ITS market amounted to USD 11.8 billion in 2010 and is increasing steadily. 

The largest market segment is traffic management systems, accounting for almost 38 %. The fastest-growing ITS segment is 

electronic toll collection systems with a compounded average growth rate of 17.1 % between 2000 and 2010; at a worldwide volume 

of about USD 2.8 billion, it had a share on the ITS market of roughly 24 % in 2010.

Market situation and market forces

Funding of infrastructure projects. Independent of the economic recession, the worldwide increase in road traffic is the most 

important growth factor for the ITS market. According to analyses by the EU (European Union 2010, “Energy and Transport 

in Figures”), commercial traffic increased by 2.3 % per year and in total by 33.7 % between 1995 and 2008. Commercial road 

traffic increased by 2.9 % per year and by 45.7 % in total. While the recent economic crisis triggered a fall in the volume of 

goods transport, this has already been largely compensated for by the subsequent upswing. Despite political pressure, goods 

transport could not be shifted significantly from road to rail or ship transport. This growth increases the financing burden for road 

infrastructure enormously, which in turn fosters greater demand and a high growth potential for ITS applications and the market 

segment electronic toll collection systems, in particular.

In 2005, the trans-European road network (TEN-V) with a total length of 84,700 km comprised one-fourth of the primary street 

network but carried 40 % of the total commercial traffic. It is predicted that TEN-V will be expanded by 4,800 km per year up to 

2020, of which 3,500 km will consist of existing roads. Major investments will be required in the new member states and along the 

corridor routes to these countries. The European Union estimates investments of EUR 600 billion will be required by 2020. The  

long-term forecasts for traffic growth continue to remain high.

In addition to dedicated short-range communication (DSRC) systems (microwave technology) according to the Comité Européen de 

Normalisation (CEN) 5.8 GHz standard, the use of satellite-based systems (satellite technology) has been expanding, depending on 

the application requirements. Significant growth potential also exists in the area of video-based systems for automatic number plate 

recognition (ANPR) for tolling and enforcement in urban environments

The high financing requirements for the preservation of road infrastructure are leading to new business models and private 

concessionaire models in the U.S.A.. Standard & Poor’s research estimates an annual demand of USD 92 billion for the preservation 

of highways and bridges and a further USD 125.6 billion for their improvement. While the standardized tolling technology based on 

5.8 GHz DSRC microwave is used in Europe, electronic toll collection systems in North America are based on proprietary protocols 

in the 915 MHz band. It is expected that a new communication protocol standard based on 5.9 GHz will gradually replace the 

existing technology in the U.S.A. over the coming years. In addition to the toll application, the communication standard 5.9 GHz 

WAVE (Wireless Access in the Vehicular Environment) is intended for car-to-car communication and for applications that increase 

traffic safety as well as additional ITS solutions for traffic information, traffic management and entertainment. These developments 

will also make it possible for European manufacturers to gain a foothold in the North America, which is also an important growth 

market for Kapsch TrafficCom.
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Reduction of congestion and environmental pollution through road traffic. To reduce traffic congestion and environmental 

pollution, city charging systems and environmental zones (low emission zones) are deployed in several major cities. Environmental 

pollution can be viewed as another key driver for the ITS market and also for electronic toll collection systems. In large conurbations 

and capital cities, in particular, there is a growing need for electronic systems to control and reduce traffic. This topic is politically 

very sensitive, and the development of this segment within electronic toll collection systems is therefore not as fast as originally 

expected. Traffic safety devices to monitor compliance with traffic regulations are another field of application in cities. Examples 

include systems to monitor traffic violations at junctions (e.g. jumping red lights) as well as systems to detect speeding. These ap-

plications, which fall under the traffic management system segment, enjoy fast-growing potential on the market both in and between 

cities, and for municipal authorities they often pave the way for larger and more extensive ITS solutions such as city charging.

The increasing traffic volume can be considered a global trend. Especially in Asia, an increased demand for electronic toll lanes  

is expected for the replacement and expansion of toll systems previously based on more traditional methods. India has one of the 

largest road networks in the world, amounting to 3.4 million km in 2004. Only 2 % is made up of highways, but these carry 40 % 

of the commercial traffic. Between 1992 and 2002, 52,000 km of highways were built in China and an additional 200,000 km are 

planned for the coming years.

Reduction of road accidents. Traffic management systems are particularly expected to increase the probability of surviving 

accidents and reduce accident rates.

2	 Economic situation of the Group

2.1	 Business development

The fiscal year 2010/11 was the most successful year in the history of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group. Historic highs were achieved 

both for revenue and EBIT. The expansion strategy was consequently continued in order to further extend the market positions in 

selected countries. The presence of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group in South Africa and North America was strengthened through 

company acquisitions. In Poland, organic growth was generated by an order for implementing and operating the nationwide truck 

toll system.

On 1 April 2010, Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH, Vienna, acquired the majority of shares in Payvend F&P A/S, Copenhagen, 

Denmark. The company was then renamed Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark. 

On 8 April 2010, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group purchased the majority of shares in TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, 

South Africa. The Group thereby also obtained a local partner that is a leader in the ITS segment traffic management systems and 

can contribute its expertise and services to the South African Gauteng project. TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd. engages in 

projects for traffic and parking monitoring in several South African cities, including speed monitoring in Johannesburg and in the 

Mpumalanga province. Over the course of fiscal year 2010/11, the new subsidiary also received a contract to deliver and operate an 

automatic fare collection system for the bus fleet of the city of Johannesburg that corresponds to roughly EUR 18 million.

The U.S., Canadian and Mexican business of MARK IV IVHS was taken over on 30 November 2010. This brings the largest provider 

of components for electronic toll systems based on the existing 915 MHz technology in North America into the Kapsch TrafficCom 

Group. The newly acquired subsidiaries are exclusive suppliers of the E-ZPass® Group, a consortium of 24 toll authorities in 14 US 

states. Projects are also running with customers in Canada and Mexico. In addition to current customer relationships, this takeover 

offers the ideal basis for participating in the expected technology migration from 915 MHz to 5.9 GHz WAVE. Initial demo and pilot 

projects based on the 5.9 GHz technology have already been implemented in the U.S.A. by the Kapsch TrafficCom Group.

Transport Telematic Systems LLC, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, was founded on 30 March 2011 together with a local partner.
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In a move that further highlights the planned growth course, a 4.25 % corporate bond with a volume of EUR 75 million and a tenor  

of seven years was successfully issued on 3 November 2010.

The ongoing implementation of the project in South Africa and the project acquired in October 2010 for building a nationwide truck 

tolling system in Poland dominated the past fiscal year.

The contract awarded by the South African National Roads Agency Ltd (SANRAL) in September 2009 for the implementation 

and operation of an electronic toll collection system for the multi-lane free-flow of traffic in the Gauteng province was in the 

implementation phase during the reporting period. After transfering the toll collection system as agreed in fiscal year 2011/12, the 

technical and commercial operation will be handled by the South African subsidiary. In a separate tender process for the delivery of 

over 1.8 million on-board units, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group was also able to win a large share of the contract amounting to over 

1.5 million units.

With the signing of a contract on 2 November 2010 for the implementation and operation of a nationwide electronic truck tolling 

system in Poland, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group was able to further expand its leading position in the European market. The first 

construction phase encompasses the existing road network of roughly 1,750 km and the technical as well as commercial operation 

up to 2018 with an order value of approximately EUR 560 million. The commissioning will take place in fiscal year 2011/12. The Polish 

contract partner GDDKiA (General Directorate for National Roads and Highways) expects an expansion of the road network to 

7,600 km by 2018.

In the Czech Republic, tolls are collected on 1,350 km of highways and expressways. 249 tolls stations and over 541,000 on-board 

units are currently in operation. The average toll transaction rate was increased from 99.0 % in calendar year 2009 to 99.3 % in 

calendar year 2010. 

In Austria, roughly 2,200 km of highways and expressways are tolled with a fully electronic toll collection system for trucks heavier 

than 3.5 tons permissible total weight. Since 2004, Kapsch TrafficCom has delivered the entire central and roadside infrastructure for 

490 toll stations as well as approximately 1 million on-board units (GO Boxes). The average toll transaction rate  

in Austria remained at the previous year’s high level of 99.88 %. 

Thanks to the outstanding system performance, contractually established bonus payments were earned in both the Czech Republic 

and Austria.

2.2	 Earnings situation

The highest revenue since the founding of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group was generated in fiscal year 2010/11. Revenue of EUR 

216.0 million in fiscal year 2009/10 was improved by 172.6 million, representing an increase of 79.9 %, to EUR 388.6 million in fiscal 

year 2010/11. EBIT in the reporting period was EUR 48.9 million, an increase of EUR 24.3 million that almost doubled the EUR 24.5 

million recorded in the previous fiscal year (+99.2 %). This led to an improvement in the EBIT margin from 11.4 % in the previous year 

to 12.6 % in the reporting year.

Revenue in the segment Road Solution Projects (RSP) reached EUR 158.9 million, or 246.7 % above the previous year’s value of  

EUR 45.8 million. The most important factors for this development were the ongoing implementation of the South African Gauteng 

project, the start of the project obtained in October 2010 for construction of a nationwide electronic truck toll system in Poland and 

the completion of the traffic management system in the Czech Republic. The segment RSP now represents 40.9 % of total sales 

(2009/10: 21.2 %).
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For the first time after two fiscal years, the segment RSP once again made a positive contribution of EUR 0.1 million to profit 

(2009/10: EUR -20.9 million). This can be primarily attributed to the projects in South Africa and Poland. Operating results continue 

to be impaired by the periodic costs allocated to this segment, the continued expenditures for entry into new markets (in particular 

costs connected with the acquisition of MARK IV IVHS, including the ancillary acquisition costs that are no longer capitalizable), the 

costs connected with the tender process for construction of a nationwide electronic truck toll system in France and upfront costs  

for pending tender processes.

The segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC) saw an improvement in sales amounting by EUR 61.4 million, 

increasing from EUR 161.9 million to EUR 223.3 million. This corresponds to a gain of 37.9 %. The primary factors driving this 

increase were the revenue of TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, taken over in April, which was reported 

for the first time in fiscal year 2010/11, the revenue from the U.S., Canadian and Mexican business of MARK IV IVHS, taken over in 

December, the contribution from the South African Gauteng project and expansions to the nationwide truck toll system in the Czech 

Republic. Sales of on-board units reached a record volume of 5.2 million delivered units, representing an increase of 46.9 % over 

the previous year. Sales in the U.S.A., South Africa, Turkey, France and Portugal proved particularly positive. The fiscal year 2010/11 

once again saw an improvement of revenue in the segment SEC, which amounted to 57.5 % of total revenue in fiscal year 2010/11 

(2009/10: 75.0 %).

The EBIT in the segment SEC was EUR 48.3 million (2009/10: EUR 45.3 million), resulting in an EBIT margin of 21.6 % (2009/10: 

28.0 %). The comparably high profit contribution in the previous fiscal year was attributable to the retroactive clarification of the 

assumption of costs for the transaction billing for the nationwide electronic truck toll system in the Czech Republic which became 

effective in the fiscal year 2009/10.

Revenue in the segment Others (OTH) fell from EUR 8.3 million in fiscal year 2009/10 to EUR 6.4 million in the past fiscal year. This 

decline can be attributed largely to the difficult economic environment in this special manufacturing area.

Despite the lower revenue, EBIT reached EUR 0.4 million (2009/10: EUR 0.2 million). The EBIT margin thus increased from 2.3 % to 

6.7 % in fiscal year 2010/11. 

Revenue by segment 2010/11 2009/10 +/- % 2008/09

Road Solution Projects (RSP)

Revenue (% of total revenue) in million EUR 158.9 (41 %) 45.8 (21 %) >100 % 56.8 (28 %)

EBIT in million EUR 0.1 -20.9 <-100 % -1.7

Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC)

Revenue (% of total revenue) in million EUR 223.3 (57 %) 161.9 (75 %) 38 % 135.6 (68 %)

EBIT in million EUR 48.3 45.3 7 % 31.7

Others (OTH)

Revenue (% of total revenue) in million EUR 6.4 (2 %) 8.3 (4 %) -23 % 8.0 (4 %)

EBIT in million EUR 0.4 0.2 >100 % -1.0

At 47 %, the largest share of total revenue was generated in the region of Europe. This increase of EUR 64.9 million can be attributed 

largely to the projects in Poland and the Czech Republic as well as the growth in component sales in France, Portugal and Turkey. 

Revenue in the rest of the world increased by EUR 97.0 million (>100 %). The projects in South Africa represented key factors here. 

Revenue in Austria fell by EUR 4.9 million since no significant expansions to the existing nationwide truck toll system took place  

during the past fiscal year. The region of America saw a revenue increase of EUR 15.5 million (>100 %). An increase was achieved in  

the U.S.A. and Canada due to the acquisition of the MARK IV IVHS companies, while lower sales in Chile negatively impacted the 

growth in this area.
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Revenue by region 2010/11 2009/10 +/-  % 2008/09

Austria (% of total revenue) in million EUR 37.5 (10 %) 42.4   (20 %) -12 % 37.8 (19 %)

Europe (excl. Austria) (% of total revenue) in million EUR 182.0 (47 %) 117.1  (54 %) 55 % 122.8 (61 %)

Americas (% of total revenue) in million EUR 27.6 (7 %) 12.1    (5 %) >100 % 14.0 (7 %)

Rest of the World (% of total revenue) in million EUR 141.5 (36 %) 44.5   (21 %) >100 % 25.6   (13 %)

The cost of materials and other production services rose from EUR 98.0 million to EUR 191.3 million in fiscal year 2010/11, which 

reflects an increase of EUR 93.2 million. Compared with the previous year, the share of costs for materials and other production 

services in relation to revenue changed from 45.4 % to 49.2 %. This can be attributed primarily to the higher share of external 

deliveries for the projects in South Africa (Gauteng and Johannesburg), the construction of the nationwide truck toll system in 

Poland and the expansion projects in the Czech Republic. 

Compared with the previous year, staff costs increased by EUR 26.8 million, rising from EUR 59.7 million to EUR 86.5 million in fiscal 

year 2010/11. At the same time, the average number of employees grew by 648 persons, changing from 973 to 1,621 in the past 

fiscal year. The integration of the newly acquired companies and the staff requirements connected with the technical and commercial 

operation projects obtained in South Africa and Poland represent the most important factors here. The staff cost ratio (staff costs in 

relation to total revenue) was reduced from 27.6 % in the previous year to 22.3 %. 

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by EUR 6.1 million compared with the previous year (2009/10: EUR 7.5 million; 

2010/11: EUR 13.6 million), resulting primarily from the company mergers. Other operating expenses rose from EUR 42.3 million to 

EUR 63.4 million in fiscal year 2010/11, for an increase of EUR 21.1 million. Increased expenses arose primarily in the form of legal 

and consulting costs, travel costs, office expenditures, maintenance costs and licensing and patent costs. These increases resulted, 

on one hand, from the integration of the newly acquired companies and, on the other, from the project-related expenses.

In fiscal year 2010/11, financial result amounted to EUR -7.6 million (2009/10: EUR 4.1 million). The lower finance income can be 

attributed largely to reduced interest effects in long-term receivables and the decline in exchange rate gains. Finance costs rose 

considerably as a result of the exchange rate losses, which mainly related to not-realized exchange rate losses. Furthermore the 

interest expenses relating to the corporate bond burdened the financial result.

The profit before income taxes was EUR 41.3 million, which is EUR 2.6 million lower than the previous year’s value. In the previous 

year, this item was largely influenced by a required reclassification of the shares held in Q-Free ASA, Norway, from associated 

companies to other investments. This balance sheet change led to an accounting gain of EUR 14.0 million that was recognized in 

profit and loss, thereby massively increasing the profit before taxes in fiscal year 2009/10. 

Despite the negative factors affecting the financial and tax results, profit for the period amounted to EUR 28.4 million (2009/10:  

EUR 36.5 million).
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2.3	 Assets and liabilities

The balance sheet total of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group was EUR 450.1 million on 31 March 2011 (31 March 2010: EUR 295.1 

million). Equity was EUR 191.5 million, resulting in an equity ratio of 42.5 % (31 March 2010: 57.0 %).

Non-current assets rose from EUR 101.4 million to EUR 159.7 million as at 31 March 2011. The largest changes were observed in the 

areas of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, and resulted almost exclusively from the acquisition of companies. 

The other financial assets and investments declined due to the negative exchange rate development of the shares in the Norwegian 

Q-Free ASA.

 

Current assets increased from EUR 193.7 million to EUR 290.4 million as at 31 March 2011. The increases in trade receivables  

as well as in inventories resulted predominantly from the large projects in South Africa and Poland as well as the newly acquired 

companies.

Non-current liabilities increased to EUR 117.4 million (31 March 2010: EUR 37.6 million). The largest change took place in non-current 

financial liabilities due to the successful issuing of the company bond with a volume of EUR 75.0 million, a tenor of seven years and 

an interest rate of 4.25 %.

Current liabilities amounted to EUR 141.2 million on the balance sheet date (31 March 2010: EUR 89.2 million). Trade payables and 

other current liabilities and deferred income exhibited an increase that originated primarily from the large projects in South Africa 

and Poland as well as the newly acquired companies. Current financial liabilities increased by EUR 13.8 million compared with the 

end of the previous fiscal year.

2.4	 Financial position

Net cash flow from operating activities declined to EUR -11.7 million in fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: EUR 46.5 million). The changes 

in net current assets resulting from the increase in trade receivables and inventories as well as the payment of income taxes could 

not be compensated by the increased operating result.

Net cash flow from investing activities amounted to EUR -60.9 million in the past fiscal year (2009/10: EUR -15.3 million) and was 

influenced by the payments for purchasing Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark, TMT Services and 

Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, and MARK IV IVHS.

Net cash flow from financing activities was EUR 65.5 million (2009/10: EUR -48.4 million) and was positively affected primarily by  

the issuing of the corporate bond.

As a result of outflows from operating and investing activities, cash and cash equivalents decreased to EUR 42.0 million on the 

balance sheet date (31 March 2010: EUR 47.7 million).

2.5	 Non-financial performance indicators

Reliability and accuracy of installed ETC systems. The toll transaction rate is a figure for assessing the accuracy and reliability 

of a tolling system. It shows the number of successful transactions in relation to all potential toll collection transactions of vehicles 

equipped with a functioning on-board unit. A high toll transaction rate translates to maximum toll revenue.
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In 2010, the average toll transaction rate of the existing truck tolling system in Austria amounted to approximately 99.9 %, placing  

it at an ever higher level as in 2009. During the same period, the average performance rate of the nationwide electronic tolling 

system in the Czech Republic was approximately 99.31 %, up 0.3 % from 99.0 % in 2009. The calculation of the average perfor-

mance rate is based on methods agreed upon with the respective customer, meaning that comparisons between the average 

performance rates achieved in different projects are only possible on a limited basis.

Staff. The average number of employees in the Kapsch TrafficCom Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 was 1,621, a 67 % increase 

against an average of 973 in the fiscal year 2009/10. As of 31 March 2011, the Group had a workforce of 2,167 (2,054 salaried and 

113 non-salaried employees).

The Group places great importance on the continued training and education of its employees. This involves not only promoting 

professional education and training, but also providing seminars and training sessions for developing one’s own personality and 

teamwork skills. The group companies make contributions to an external pension fund on behalf of their employees which are based 

on the length of employment and company profits. In addition, the Group maintains a profit participation program that offers the 

staff an opportunity to share in the profits of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG is certified pursuant to OHSAS 18001 for occupational health and safety and has implemented the necessary 

measures in its internal processes.

Environment. Valid certifications are held for quality management pursuant to ISO 9001 and environmental management pursuant 

to ISO 14001. In the future the Group will strive to fulfill its responsibilities toward environmental protection even more extensively, 

particularly with regard to the efficient and responsible use of natural resources. 

Corporate social responsibility

Kapsch TrafficCom has taken up the call for long-term and responsible business activities and is dedicated to sustainability on an 

economic, ecologic and social level. Sustainability reports will be published regularly in the future to show the progress on a group 

level and the continuing establishment of predefined objectives.

Living up to its socio-political responsibility, the entire Kapsch Group – organized by Kapsch AG – supports a number of 

contemporary art and cultural institutions and projects, and also initiates its own projects in this field. Selected training initiatives 

and extensive social measures complement this approach, which the company considers to be an obligation both in and outside  

the Group. The employees of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group hold this long-term commitment to social responsibility in high regard.

Music. A key element of this commitment covers sponsoring activities related to the Vienna Concert Hall (Wiener Konzerthaus). This 

cultural institution has an excellent reputation far beyond Austria’s borders. The Kapsch Group has been the main sponsor of the 

Vienna Concert Hall since 1992. The Modern Vienna festival – one of the world’s best known festivals of contemporary music – has 

been supported by Kapsch since its launch in 1989. 

Visual arts. Promoting less known artists is of particular concern to the Kapsch Group. In particular, young domestic and 

international artists are assisted by sponsorship campaigns. One example is the photo calendar that Kapsch Group has supported 

since 1994. The calendar is presented annually in late fall in a private exhibition. 

Educational institutions. As a company that is driven by technology and innovation, Kapsch TrafficCom is constantly interested 

in establishing contacts as early as possible with the best engineering talents. Since 2005, the Kapsch Group has supported 

Universitäre Gründerservice Wien GmbH which aims to support and accompany young entrepreneurs in the implementation of ideas 

relating to key business concepts. 
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Social activities. Kapsch TrafficCom takes pride in supporting selected social projects at home and abroad. One example of 

the numerous projects is ICEP – the Institute for Cooperation in Development Projects, whose activities help to improve the 

circumstances of people in developing countries. With the specific advancement of migration and integration, Kapsch TrafficCom 

contributes to social justice, the positive development of society and safety over the long-term.

2.6 Risk management

As a technology company, Kapsch TrafficCom Group operates in an ever-changing environment. Risks are therefore part of its  

day-to-day business. For the company, risk means the possibility of deviating from company objectives, meaning that the definition 

of risk encompasses both positive (opportunities) as well as negative (risks) deviations from planned objectives. 

Risk management system

Risk management has been positioned as a separate function within the finance department of Kapsch TrafficCom AG. Under 

the responsibility of a central risk manager, the risk management system comprises institutionalized processes for collecting and 

analyzing all relevant opportunities and risks pertaining to the Group’s projects and provides the basis for the timely planning and 

implementation of control measures. In the 2010/11 fiscal year risk management was developed into a company-wide opportunity 

and risk management system. In addition to project risks, Enterprise Risk Management also analyses strategic, technological, 

organizational, financial, legal and IT risks, reporting to management on a regular basis. The primary objective in this context is not 

to avoid risks but to deal with risks in a controlled and deliberate manner and to recognize and realize opportunities as they arise 

over time in order to make a valuable contribution to the management of the company.

The material risks faced by the Group and the respective risk management measures are briefly explained below:

Industry-specific risks 

Volatility of new orders. A major portion of the revenues of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group are generated in the segment Road 

Solution Projects (RSP). In this segment, the Group regularly participates in tenders for the implementation and operation of large 

electronic toll collection systems. On the one hand, there is a risk that tenders in which the Group participates or plans to partici-

pate could be delayed or withdrawn, for instance as a result of political changes, appeals or legal actions by unsuccessful bidders. 

On the other hand, a risk exists that Kapsch TrafficCom Group may not win its bids for new projects due to technological, financial, 

formal or other reasons. Continuing revenues from maintenance agreements and from technical operations also depend on the 

successful participation in tenders for systems. 

In the past, the revenues of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group have been heavily influenced by the realization of implementation projects 

in the given fiscal year. Significantly higher revenues were recorded, in particular, in 2003 (implementation of a nationwide electronic 

truck tolling system in Austria) and 2006/07 (implementation of a nationwide electronic truck tolling system in the Czech Republic).  

In the 2010/11 fiscal year sizeable revenue was generated from implementing an electronic toll system in South Africa as part of the 

Gauteng Project, and from starting to implement a nationwide electronic truck tolling system in Poland.

The strategy of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group is aimed at reducing the volatility of revenues from single large projects through 

increased geographic diversification and increased diversification of the product portfolio as well as sustained growth in the share  

of maintenance and operations of systems.

 

Risks of project execution. In connection with the installation of systems, Kapsch TrafficCom Group is usually contractually 

obligated to provide performance guarantees. Since electronic toll collection systems and other ITS solutions are frequently 

sophisticated and technologically complex systems that must be implemented within a short period, system and product defects 
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or missed deadlines may occur due to the limited time available. The failure to meet guaranteed performance levels or deadlines 

usually results in penalties and/or compensation, sometimes also compensation for lost toll revenues. Significant deadline overruns 

also frequently trigger contractual clauses, which enable clients to terminate contracts prematurely. A significant delay in a project, 

failure to achieve guaranteed performance levels or failure to implement a project would also reduce the chances of success in 

future tenders for systems. There is also the risk that Kapsch TrafficCom Group cannot execute projects in line within the set cost 

budgets.

Kapsch TrafficCom Group employs risk management methods and risk management procedures in order to guard against risks 

associated with projects.

Long-term contracts with public authorities. In many cases, the system contracts are awarded by public agencies. Framework 

agreements and service contracts in connection with tolling projects may include terms and conditions that are not negotiable in  

a tender process and that may be disadvantageous to the Kapsch TrafficCom Group. Moreover, in the case of long-term contracts, 

the margins earned can also differ from the original calculations due to changes in costs. Liabilities arising from contracts concluded 

by the Group may include liabilities regarding customers’ loss of profit, product liabilities and other liabilities. While the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group aims to include appropriate limitations to its liability in contracts, it is still impossible to guarantee that  

all contracts contain sufficient limitations to the Group’s liability or that these limitations can be enforced under applicable law.

Strategic risks

Innovation leadership. The leading market position of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group is, to a large extent, based on its ability to 

develop state-of-the-art, efficient and reliable systems, components and products. In order to maintain its technological leadership, 

the Kapsch TrafficCom Group invests a considerable portion of its revenues in research and development activities. However, if the 

Group does not succeed in developing new systems, components and products, this can be detrimental to its competitive position. 

Since its innovation leadership is based largely on technology, internal know-how and intellectual property, the global increase 

in product piracy and reverse engineering may have negative effects on the Group. In addition, any failures in protecting these 

technologies may have a negative impact on the Group’s competitive position. Moreover, it is possible that systems, components, 

products or services could infringe on the intellectual property rights of third parties.

The Kapsch TrafficCom Group places great importance on the protection of technologies and the company’s internal know-how, e.g. 

through patents and non-disclosure agreements with other parties. In order to avoid legal action and court proceedings, the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group constantly monitors potential intellectual property rights infringements.

Acquisition and integration of companies as a part of the Group’s growth. One of the strategic objectives of the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group is to grow internationally both by organic means and through selected acquisitions and joint ventures. In the 

implementation of this strategy, the Group has acquired and integrated companies around the world. However, a number of 

challenges remain in connection with this growth strategy in order to realize the desired synergies and objectives.

Country risk. The strong expansion of business activities in Eastern Europe and non-European countries has exposed the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group to a heightened political risk. Significant and unforeseeable political changes can exert a major influence on the 

ability to implement or operate ITS projects in these countries and also affect the availability and accessibility of funds. There may 

also be interference with the property rights of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group or problems with business practices and activities.
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Financial risks

Foreign exchange risk. The Group maintains branches, offices and subsidiaries in several countries outside the euro zone. A 

considerable portion of revenues and costs are denominated in the currencies of the respective foreign companies rather than in 

euros. Although the Group aims to hedge the net currency position of the individual contracts as necessary, currency fluctuations 

may result in exchange rate losses that may influence the consolidated financial statements (transaction risk). In addition, risks arise 

from the conversion of the separate financial statements of international companies into the Group currency, the euro (translation 

risk). Fluctuations in exchange rates may also result in a change in the competitive position of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group.

Interest rate risk. Within the framework of project financing, the Group regularly agrees to variable interest rates that are tied to 

market interest rates (Euribor, Pribor etc.). This exposes the Kapsch TrafficCom Group to interest rate risks. The Kapsch TrafficCom 

Group utilizes appropriate financial instruments to hedge against interest rate risks when these risks are significant. 

Liquidity risk. Sufficient financial resources must be available to ensure that the Kapsch TrafficCom Group can meet its payment 

liabilities at any time. The availability of medium and long-term financing is required to carry out large-scale projects (such as 

implementing a nationwide toll collection system under delayed payment terms from the client) and for acquiring other businesses. 

Additionally, implementing large-scale projects often requires the provision of significant bank guarantees to secure bid obligations 

(bid bonds) or to secure possible warranty claims (performance bonds). 

In financing agreements the Kapsch TrafficCom Group is subject to the customary restrictions in terms of its business policy, e.g. 

when drawing additional loans, using assets as collateral or providing guarantees for third parties. The availability of financing and 

bank guarantees depends on market conditions as well as the net assets and financial position of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group and 

the results of operations. A lack of liquid assets (even if the Group is otherwise solvent), of financing or of bank guarantees can have 

an extremely adverse impact on the net assets and financial position of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group and the results of operations. 

The issuing of a seven-year, EUR 75 million corporate bond in November 2010 helped the Kapsch TrafficCom Group to again improve 

its liquidity.

Credit risk. The Kapsch TrafficCom Group is exposed to the risk of non-payment by customers. The credit ratings of new and 

existing customers are checked on a regular basis. Many of the key customers of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group are public 

authorities, especially in connection with implementing and/or operating nationwide or regional toll collection systems. There is also 

a risk that the counterparties (including financial institutions assumed to have good credit ratings) of both original and derivative 

financial instruments cannot meet their payment obligations when due. A payment default or the recognition of impairment charges 

to receivables can be extremely detrimental for the net assets and financial position of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group and the results  

of operations.

Personnel risks

The success of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group depends heavily on key personnel with many years of experience in the industry. 

Moreover, the Group’s ability to recruit qualified staff, integrate them into the company and retain them over the long-term is crucial 

in its current growth phase. The loss of key personnel and difficulties in the recruitment of personnel may adversely affect the 

success of the Group. 

Kapsch TrafficCom Group has implemented a number of measures to counteract personnel risks, such as incentive schemes, 

training opportunities, etc.
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Legal risks

A variety of regulations and legal requirements must be observed in connection with participating in public tenders, establishing 

infrastructure for ITS solutions (such as tolling stations) and operating toll collection systems. Working out applicable legal regula-

tions and adhering to applicable legal regulations and requirements can result in considerable administrative and technical expense. 

The failure to meet regulations or official requirements can lead to severe penalties and also reduce the possibility of (successfully) 

taking part in tenders or continuing with the given business activity.

In connection with the acquisition of shares in Q-Free ASA, Norway, in January 2009, Norwegian authorities have initiated investi-

gation proceedings against Kapsch TrafficCom AG and Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft. Kapsch TrafficCom AG disagrees with the basis 

for these allegations and believes that any adverse impact on the financial position of Kapsch TrafficCom AG will not be material. 

Kapsch TrafficCom AG intends to vigorously defend against the allegations.

IT risks

As a technology group, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group is exposed to typical IT risks relating to security, confidentiality and the avail-

ability of data. For this reason, Kapsch TrafficCom AG has implemented an IT risk management system designed according to the 

corporate risk and IT security application method (CRISAM) and has been certified pursuant to ISO 27001 (information security 

management). The Kapsch TrafficCom Group is also certified according to ISO 20000 “IT service management” (similar to ITIL) for 

the operation of toll systems.

 

Summary assessment of the Group’s risk situation

From a current perspective, no risks have been identified that could endanger the continued operations of the Kapsch TrafficCom 

Group. Increasing geographic expansion, the diversification of the product portfolio and an increased share of recurring revenues 

(further growth in the segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales) are planned to further reduce the concentration of 

risks in the future.

2.7	 Internal Control System (ICS)

The Corporate Law Amendment Act (URÄG 2008) adopted the 8th EU Directive into Austrian law. Under this legislation, companies 

with a capital market orientation are henceforth obliged to include in their group management reports not only an outline of their risk 

management systems but also of the main features of their ICS with regard to the financial reporting process.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG started to analyze and document its existing internal processes for financial reporting on an ongoing basis in 

the fiscal year 2009/10. The results obtained so far were presented at the quarterly meetings of the audit committee for assessment 

and discussion.

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Group Accounting Manual represents the cornerstone for financial account-

ing and reporting throughout the whole Kapsch Group. The manual is published and regularly updated by the Kapsch Group and 

contains the essential financial and reporting procedures based on IFRS. Group-wide guidelines and work instructions represent 

another important pillar of the internal control system.

The central elements of the ICS process include regular compliance checks according to the principle of dual control, the 

segregation of duties and defined actions for monitoring the effectiveness and efficiency of operating activities, the reliability of 

financial reporting and the compliance with relevant legal regulations. The ICS guidelines of Kapsch TrafficCom AG follow the basic 

structure of the internationally recognized standards for internal control systems (COSO – Internal Control and Enterprise Risk 

Managing Frameworks of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission).

The accounting for all group transactions is handled by a variety of software solutions. In a number of countries, the accounting has 

been outsourced to locally-based tax accountants due to the size of the subsidiaries. Companies submit reporting packages to the 
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head office on a quarterly basis which contain all accounting data pertaining to the statement of comprehensive income, balance 

sheet and cash flow statement. The data is then transferred into the central consolidation system (Hyperion financial management). 

This financial information is verified on group-wide basis by the central Kapsch TrafficCom controlling department and subsequently 

forms the basis for the quarterly reports issued by the Kapsch TrafficCom Group in accordance with IFRS.

The supervisory board is kept informed of business developments by the managing board during regular meetings by way of 

consolidated presentations consisting of segment reporting, earnings development analyses containing comparisons of current 

figures with figures from the budget and the previous period as well as select financial figures, forecasts, group financial statements 

and developments in the number of employees and order inflow.

In keeping with the decentralized structure of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group, local management is responsible for the implementation 

and monitoring of the internal control system. The managing directors of the individual subsidiaries are responsible for establishing 

and designing internal control and risk management that meets the needs of the given company in view of accounting procedures, 

as well as for ensuring compliance with the group-wide rules and guidelines in this respect. The head of finance for the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group, the central controlling department and the internal audit department subsequently verify compliance with these 

audit procedures by local management, and the results are regularly reported to the audit committee.

 

2.8	 Research and development

The Kapsch TrafficCom Group has a network of research and development centers in Vienna and Klagenfurt (Austria), Jönköping 

(Sweden), Bologna (Italy), Buenos Aires (Argentina), Toronto (Canada), Carlsbad (California, U.S.A.) and Capetown (South Africa).  

As of 31 March 2011, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group employed approximately 350 (31 March 2010: approximately 230) research and 

development engineers in its research and development activities, including internal R&D project management, quality assurance/

testing, production engineering, documentation, international device certifications, standardization activities as well as support for 

all IPR/patent issues.

Research and development activities are a high priority for the Kapsch TrafficCom Group in pursuing its strategic goals. The 

knowledge of entirely new technologies and their possible applications based on national and international standards forms the 

foundation for successful business developments and enables the entry into new markets. The current focus is on countries  

such as the U.S.A., South Africa, South America and meanwhile also Russia. 

Major development efforts of the last fiscal year consisted of specifying and developing a new, generic and scalable roadside 

platform that integrates all major sensor systems into a single, common software platform. The main goals of this work include 

eliminating overlapping development work by different R&D centers and offering the international sales force the basis for a more 

flexible, adaptable and customer-specific approach in system sales. This new sensor platform is currently in its end-testing phase 

and will be put into operation for the first time as part of the project in South Africa. The main initiatives in the component business 

area lay in developing new and lower-cost on-board unit generations for CEN/DSRC microwave and GPS/GNSS satellite tolling as 

well as new WLAN-based 5.9 GHz technologies to support the business development approach in the U.S.A., which is still ongoing. 

These technologies are currently in the standardization process and will be used in road safety systems as well as tolling systems  

in the U.S.A. and in Europe.

Successful research and development is the foundation for the sustained improvement of existing products and systems as well as 

the continuous reduction of production, installation, operating and maintenance costs, all of which are essential for maintaining a 

technological and competitive advantage.

Research costs are recognized as expenses. The same applies to development costs, unless the IFRS criteria for classification 

as intangible assets are met. Since the income statement is structured by expense type, the research and development costs are 

reported under various income statement items, in particular under the cost of materials and other production services, staff costs 

and other operating expenses. In the fiscal year 2010/11, the Kapsch TrafficCom Group invested approximately EUR 37.3 million 

(2009/10: EUR 24.9 million) in research and development, representing approximately 10 % of revenue.
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2.9	 Disclosures pursuant to Section 267 UGB in connection with Section 243a UGB

1.	 The registered share capital of Kapsch TrafficCom AG amounts to EUR 12.2 million and is fully paid in. It is divided into  

12.2 million no-par value ordinary bearer shares.

2.	 There are no restrictions relating to the exercise of voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

3.	 As of 31 March 2011, approximately 31.6% of the shares of Kapsch TrafficCom AG were in free float. As of 31 March 2011, 

KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH held approximately 68.4 % of the shares. KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of DATAX HandelsgmbH, whose shares are equally held by Traditio-Privatstiftung, ALUK-Privatstiftung and 

Children of Elisabeth-Privatstiftung, each a private foundation under the Austrian Private Foundation Act (Privatstiftungsgesetz). 

As of 31 March 2011, no other shareholder held more than 5 % of the voting rights in Kapsch TrafficCom AG.

4.	 None of the shares convey special control rights. 

5.	 There are no restrictions regarding the execution of the voting rights by employees with a stake in the company. 

6.	 There are no special provisions on the appointment and removal of members of the managing board and the supervisory board.

7.	 The company has authorized capital (genehmigtes Kapital) of EUR 0.8 million. The subscription rights of the shareholders have 

been excluded with respect to this authorized capital. The managing board may, with the approval of the supervisory board, make 

use of the existing authorized capital within five years of the date on which the relevant authorization adopted at the general 

meeting of 15 May 2007 was recorded in the commercial register. 

8.	 No agreements have been entered into which become effective when a takeover bid for shares in the company is launched. 

9.	 There are no agreements between Kapsch TrafficCom AG and members of the managing board or the supervisory board or 

employees which become effective when a takeover bid for shares in the company is launched.

2.10 Outlook and targets

With a view to the fiscal year 2011/12, the company´s outlook on market developments over the long-term is optimistic even in a 

changed economic environment. Essential events will be the implementation and the start of operations of the systems in South 

Africa and Poland. In the U.S., the company expects the decision of the pending tender for the award of the E-Z Pass® Group 

contracts. In addition, the coming fiscal year will be driven by the preparation for the tenders expected in Hungary, Slovenia and 

Denmark as well as the by integration of MARK IV IVHS.

2.11	Material events after the balance sheet date

Financing activities

In April 2011, a revolving line of credit expiring on 31 December 2011 was contracted by the Group with a maximum amount of  

EUR 40 million (thereof EUR 20 million drawn at the date of this report) in connection with the tolling project in Poland.

	 Company foundation

On 1 April 2011, Kapsch Telematic Services FLLC, Minsk, Belarus was founded.

Vienna, 13 May 2011

 Mag. Georg Kapsch 	 Ing. Erwin Toplak	 André Laux

Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Operating Officer	 Executive Board member
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Statement of all Members of the 
Management Board.
Statement of all Members of the Management Board pursuant  
to Section 82 Para. 4 No. 3 BörseG (Austrian Stock Exchange Act)

We declare to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit or loss of the group as required by the applicable accounting standards and that the group management 

report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the position of the group, together with  

a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the group faces.

Vienna, 13 May 2011

 Mag. Georg Kapsch 	 Ing. Erwin Toplak	 André Laux

Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Operating Officer	 Executive Board member
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The consolidated financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG as of 31 March 2011 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted  
by the EU and with section 245a (1) of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) have been translated into English. In case of different interpretations the German original is valid.

Consolidated Financial Statements 
as of 31 March 2011.
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

All amounts in EUR Note 2010/11 2009/10

Revenue (1) 388,577,354 216,012,391

Other operating income (2) 7,564,449 10,938,947

Changes in finished and unfinished goods and work in progress (3) 7,461,759 5,135,163

Other own work capitalized 0 15,707

Cost of materials and other production services (4) -191,255,566 -98,041,051

Staff costs (5) -86,462,023 -59,701,767

Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment (6) -13,614,643 -7,485,401

Other operating expenses (7) -63,391,169 -42,333,317

Operating result 48,880,161 24,540,673

Finance income (8) 4,497,773 9,260,153

Finance costs (8) -12,117,209 -5,134,662

Financial result (8) -7,619,436 4,125,491

Result from associates (14) 0 15,243,465

Profit before income taxes 41,260,725 43,909,629

Income taxes (9) -12,825,554 -7,398,920

Profit for the period 28,435,171 36,510,709

Other comprehensive income for the period

Gains/losses recognized directly in equity:

Available-for-sale financial assets -2,276,947 2,776,231

Effects from disproportionate capital increase at associates 0 69,121

Currency translation differences 4,294,277 3,798,590

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income -258,963 -757,790

Other comprehensive income for the period net of tax (10) 1,758,367 5,886,150

Total comprehensive income for the period 30,193,538 42,396,859

Profit attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company 22,062,116 32,215,536

	 Minority interests 6,373,055 4,295,173

28,435,171 36,510,709

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

	 Equity holders of the Company 23,608,360 37,676,550

	 Minority interests 6,585,178 4,720,309

 30,193,538 42,396,859

Earnings per share from the profit for the period 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company (in EUR) (30) 1.81 2.64

Earnings per share from the profit for the period 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company (in EUR), adjusted *) (30) 1.81 1.49

*) Adjusted for the fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway (see note 30).
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Consolidated balance sheet.  

All amounts in EUR Note 31 March 2011 31 March 2010

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment (12) 19,404,442 15,823,618

Intangible assets (13) 88,687,320 28,528,781

Shares in associates (14) 0 0

Other non-current financial assets and investments (15) 34,489,914 38,937,076

Other non-current assets (16) 9,017,638 8,480,571

Deferred tax assets – due from tax group leader (22) 1,879,894 1,302,201

Deferred tax assets – non-tax group (22) 6,229,622 8,347,863

159,708,830 101,420,110

Current assets

Inventories (17) 49,484,611 37,582,150

Trade receivables and other current assets (18) 190,885,049 101,448,315

Other current financial assets (15) 8,036,841 6,897,848

Cash and cash equivalents (19) 42,000,584 47,743,108

290,407,085 193,671,421

Total assets 450,115,915 295,091,531

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital (20) 12,200,000 12,200,000

Capital reserve 70,077,111 70,077,111

Retained earnings and other reserves 94,065,714 80,936,724

176,342,825 163,213,835

Minority interests 15,170,566 5,034,869

Total equity 191,513,391 168,248,704

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities (21) 74,112,367 10,060,250

Liabilities from post-employment benefits to employees (23) 16,314,606 14,316,080

Non-current provisions (26) 686,388 582,733

Other non-current liabilities (24) 10,422,739 9,353,264

Deferred income tax liabilities – due to tax group leader (22) 1,794,041 1,812,366

Deferred income tax liabilities – non-tax group (22) 14,081,707 1,471,490

117,411,848 37,596,183

Current liabilities

Trade payables 72,531,371 41,332,197

Other liabilities and deferred income (25) 36,881,453 25,932,719

Current tax payables 3,973,331 5,900,286

Current financial liabilities (21) 23,082,571 9,236,566

Current provisions (26) 4,721,950 6,844,878

141,190,676 89,246,646

Total liabilities 258,602,524 126,842,829

Total equity and liabilities 450,115,915 295,091,531
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

All amounts in EUR

Attributable to equity holders of the Company Minority interests Total equity

Share capital Capital reserve
Consolidated retained 

earnings and other 
reserves

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2009 12,200,000 70,077,111 47,769,158 4,193,524 134,239,793

Dividend for 2008/09 -6,100,000 -2,287,948 -8,387,948

Effects from the acquisition of  
minority interests 1,591,016 -1,591,016 0

Total comprehensive income 37,676,550 4,720,309 42,396,859

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 12,200,000 70,077,111 80,936,724 5,034,869 168,248,704

Dividend for 2009/10 -9,150,000 -3,245,699 -12,395,699

Effects from business combinations  
and the acquisition of minority interests -1,329,370 6,796,218 5,466,848

Total comprehensive income 23,608,360 6,585,178 30,193,538

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 12,200,000 70,077,111 94,065,714 15,170,566 191,513,391

Consolidated cash flow statement.

All amounts in EUR Note 2010/11 2009/10

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating result 48,880,161 24,540,673

Adjustments for non-cash items and other reconciliations:

Depreciation and amortization (6) 13,614,643 7,485,401

Increase/decrease in obligations for post-employment benefits (23) 114,354 102,064

Increase/decrease in other non-current liabilities and provisions (24, 26) 103,655 58,691

Increase/decrease in other non-current receivables and assets 757,768 0

Increase/decrease in trade receivables (non-current) (16) -537,067 9,911,672

Increase/decrease in trade payables (non-current) (24) 971,092 -5,494,549

Other (net) -1,825,561 3,243,138

62,079,045 39,847,090

Changes in net current assets:

Increase/decrease in trade receivables and other assets (18) -72,588,781 38,826,166

Increase/decrease in inventories (17) -8,098,837 -3,362,366

Increase/decrease in trade payables and other current payables 28,696,976 -14,304,162

Increase/decrease in current provisions (26) -2,218,992 -3,777,964

-54,209,634 17,381,674

Cash flow from operations 7,869,411 57,228,764

Interest received (8) 1,173,389 676,682

Interest payments (8) -3,476,705 -2,642,103

Net payments of income taxes -17,229,370 -8,808,142

Net cash flow from operating activities -11,663,275 46,455,200
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All amounts in EUR Note 2010/11 2009/10

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (12) -6,362,478 -3,878,745

Purchase of intangible assets (13) -1,888,740 -957,846

Purchase of securities, investments and other non-current financial assets (15) -69,125 -6,279,899

Payments for acquisition of companies (net of cash acquired) -52,180,953 0

Payments for acquisition of minority interests -1,000,000 -4,226,308

Payments for the acquisition of shares in companies consolidated at equity (14) 0 -103,918

Proceeds from the disposal of shares in subsidiaries 35,999 0

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 553,619 144,624

Net cash flow from investing activities -60,911,678 -15,302,092

Cash flow from financing activities

Dividends paid to company shareholders -9,150,000 -6,100,000

Dividends paid to minority shareholders of group companies -3,245,699 -2,287,948

Increase in other non-current financial liabilities (21) 64,052,117 0

Increase in current financial liabilities (21) 13,938,131 1,937,233

Decrease in current financial liabilities (21) -92,126 -41,910,208

Net cash flow from financing activities 65,502,423 -48,360,924

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -7,072,530 -17,207,816

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (19) 47,743,108 60,229,653

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -7,072,530 -17,207,816

Currency translation differences on cash and cash equivalents 1,330,006 4,721,271

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (19) 42,000,584 47,743,108
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

General information.

Kapsch TrafficCom Group is an international supplier of superior intelligent transportation systems (ITS). 

The business activities of the Kapsch TrafficCom Group are subdivided into the following three segments:

n	 Road Solution Projects

n	 Services, System Extensions, Components Sales

n	 Others

The segment Road Solution Projects relates to the installation of ITS solutions. 

The segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales relates to the sale of services (maintenance and operation) and 

components in the area of ITS solutions. 

The segment Others relates to non-core business activities conducted by Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG. In this segment, Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group offers engineering solutions, electronic manufacturing and logistics services to affiliated entities and third parties.  

Group structure.

DATAX HandelsgmbH, Vienna, is the ultimate parent of Kapsch Group. Until June 2007 KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna, a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of DATAX HandelsgmbH, had been the sole shareholder of the parent company Kapsch TrafficCom AG. Under 

an initial public offering in June 2007 and as a result of further changes in share ownership in the fiscal year ending 31 March 2009, 

KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH reduced its share to 68.42 %.

Consolidated group.

The parent company, Kapsch TrafficCom AG, is a joint stock corporation incorporated and domiciled in Vienna, Austria. The address of 

its registered office is 1120 Vienna, Am Europlatz 2. Since 26 June 2007 the shares of the parent company have been listed in the Prime 

Market segment of the Vienna Stock Exchange.

The following subsidiaries are part of the consolidated group:

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom AG, Vienna

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Construction & Realization spol. s r.o., Prague, Czech Republic

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Ltd., Manchester, United Kingdom

n	 Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG, Vienna

n	 Kapsch Components GmbH, Vienna

n	 ArtiBrain Software Entwicklungsgesellschaft mbH, Vienna

n	 Kapsch-Busi S.p.A., Bologna, Italy

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom d.o.o., Ljubljana, Slovenia

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom S.r.l., Milan, Italy

n	 Transport Telematic Systems LLC, Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates *)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Russia OOO, Moscow, Russia

n	 Kapsch Telematik Technologies Bulgaria EAD, Sofia, Bulgaria
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n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires, Argentina

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Kazakhstan LLC, Astana, Kazakhstan

n	 PREMID a.s., Bratislava, Slovakia

n	 Jibesoev GmbH, Vienna

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom AB, Jönköping, Sweden

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Australia Pty Ltd, Melbourne, Australia

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Chile S.A., Santiago de Chile, Chile

n	 DPS Automation Chile S.A., Santiago de Chile, Chile

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom France SAS, Paris, France

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom (M) Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Limited, Auckland, New Zealand

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom South Africa (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa

n	 Electronic Toll Collection (PTY) Ltd., Centurion, South Africa

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom South Africa Holding (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa  

(formerly Triple Advanced Investments 22 (Pty) Ltd., South Africa)     

n	 TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 SafeTCam (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Traffic Software Solutions (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 TMT Services and Supplies (Gauteng) (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Electronic Tolling Operations (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Crestwave 61 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Crestwave 63 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 TMT Services and Supplies (North) (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Berrydust 51 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands *)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Holding II US Corp., Sterling, U.S.A.  *)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Technologies Holding Corp., Sterling, U.S.A. **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Holding Corp., Sterling, U.S.A. **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Inc., Sterling, U.S.A. **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Canada Inc., Halifax, Canada   *)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom HoldCo Inc., Halifax, Canada *) 

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Coöperatief U.A., Amsterdam, Netherlands *)

n	 Mark IV Holdings B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Corp., Mississauga, Canada **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City, Mexico **)

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom Holding Corp., Sterling, U.S.A.

n	 Kapsch TrafficCom U.S. Corp., Sterling, U.S.A.

n	 KapschTrafficCom Inc, Carlsbad, U.S.A.

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH, Vienna

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services Kft., Budapest, Hungary

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services spol. s r.o., Prague, Czech Republic

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH Deutschland, Berlin, Germany

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services Danmark ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark **)

n	 Kapsch Telematic Services Sp. z o.o., Warsaw, Poland (formerly Durante Investments Sp. z o.o., Poland) 

n	 VTI Industrial Electronics (Proprietary) Limited, Germiston, South Africa

*) Companies newly established in the fiscal year 2010/11

**) Acquisition in the fiscal year 2010/11
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Accounting and measurement.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below:

1	 Basis of preparation

Pursuant to § 245a UGB, the consolidated financial statements as of 31 March 2011 have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). Presentation currency is the euro (EUR). 

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 March 2011 are prepared under the historical cost convention, with the exception 

of available-for-sale securities and derivative financial instruments, which are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions 

which influence the amount and presentation of assets and liabilities reported at the balance sheet date, and income and expenses 

recorded during the reporting period. Although these estimates are made by the management board to the best of its knowledge 

and are based on current transactions, actual figures may differ from these estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of 

judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are material to the consolidated financial statements are 

disclosed in Note 21.

a)	 New and amended standards and interpretations that have been adopted by the EU and applied for the first time  

in the fiscal year:

IFRS 3 (revised) “Business combinations” and consequential amendments to IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial 

statements” are effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of 

the first annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised standard was applied to business combinations 

occurring on or after 1 April 2010. The major change concerns the accounting for acquisitions of less than 100 percent of the shares 

in a company. The option to recognize the goodwill from an acquisition under the full goodwill method, i. e. including the amount of 

the share attributable to the non-controlling shareholders, was introduced. In addition, acquisitions and/or partial sales of shares 

without loss of control are to be reported directly in equity as transactions between shareholders. The full incidental acquisition 

costs are to be reported as expenses. Except for the incidental acquisition costs in the fiscal year ending 31 March 2011 for the 

acquisition of Mark IV IVHS (see Note 28), amounting to EUR 2.8 million and from now on reported as expenses, the first time 

adoption of the revised standards did not have any material impact on the Group’s assets, financial position and earnings.

All other new regulations (standards, amendments to standards, interpretations) mandatory for the first time in the fiscal year had no 

material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

b)	 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that have not yet been applied:

IFRS 9 “Financial instruments” was issued in November 2009. This standard is the first step in the process to replace IAS 39, 

“Financial instruments: recognition and measurement”. IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classification and measuring 

financial assets and is likely to affect the Group’s accounting for its financial assets. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 

2013 but is available for early adoption. However, the standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. At present, the date of 

endorsement is uncertain. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. However, initial indications are that it may affect the 

Group’s accounting for its available-for-sale debt investments, as IFRS 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and losses 

in other comprehensive income if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading. Fair value gains and losses on 

available-for-sale debt investments, for example, will therefore have to be recognized directly in profit or loss. 
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A number of amendments to standards and interpretations, as well as a new interpretation have already been published, but have 

either not yet been adopted by the European Union or have been adopted by the European Union, but are not yet mandatory. 

The impact of these regulations on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is not material or cannot be adequately 

assessed and, therefore, is not presented in detail.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared by the management board on the undersigned date and released for 

publication. The entity financial statements of the parent company, which have been included in the consolidated financial 

statements after adoption of the applicable accounting standards, have not yet been approved by the supervisory board. The 

supervisory board and, in the event of presentation to the general meeting of shareholders, the general meeting of shareholders 

could amend the entity financial statements in a way that might affect the presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

2	 Consolidation

a)	 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial  

and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and  

effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group  

controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They  

are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for 

the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by 

the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 

arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 

value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 

recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, 

the difference is recognized directly in the profit for the period.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, as well as when there are indications of impairment. If an impairment requirement 

is identified, goodwill will be reduced immediately by the amount of the impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 

reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those 

cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the 

goodwill arose.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized 

losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 

policies adopted by the Group.
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b)	 Transactions and non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases from 

non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net 

assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, 

with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes 

of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 

disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income  

are reclassified to profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts 

previously recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

c)	 Associates

Associates are accounted for by the equity method. Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence, but not 

control, generally accompanied by a shareholding of between 20 % and 50 % of the voting rights. The Group’s share of its associ-

ates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognized in the income statement and its share of post-reserve movements is recognized 

in reserves. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is included in the investment in associates, net of any impairment losses. 

The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share  

of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does 

not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Significant unrealized gains from transactions between the Group and associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 

in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 

transferred. 

3	 Currency translation

a)	 Translation of financial statements in foreign currencies

In accordance with IAS 21, financial statements of foreign subsidiaries which are included in the consolidated financial statements 

are translated as follows: 

Income statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated into the Group’s functional currency at average exchange rates of the 

reporting periods, balance sheets at the prevailing mean exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising 

from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are recognized in shareholders’ equity under “currency translation 

differences”. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are recognized in the income statement as part of the  

gain or loss on disposal of shares in foreign entities. 

Goodwill and fair value write-ups arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity 

and translated at the closing rate.
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b)	 Foreign currency transactions 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of 

monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the income statement. Non-cash items in the 

balance sheet are translated at historical exchange rates, non-cash items which were recognized at their lower net realizable value 

are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the time of measurement.

4	 Financial instruments and risk management

Material financial instruments presented in the balance sheet include “cash and cash equivalents”, “securities”, “financial assets  

and investments”, “receivables and payables” and “loans”. For the accounting and measurement policies applicable for these items 

refer to the explanation of the respective balance sheet item.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, particularly foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. The 

Group’s risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the 

Group’s financial performance. The Group does not employ hedge accounting as envisaged by IAS 39.

a)	 Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk arising from fluctuations in the value of financial instruments, other balance sheet items (e. g. 

receivables and payables) and/or cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations. 

In particular, foreign exchange risk exists where business transactions are made or could arise in the normal course of business in  

a currency other than the company’s functional currency (referred to as foreign currency below).

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily  

with respect to the Czech Crown. Customer orders are invoiced mainly in the respective local currencies of the group companies. 

Only in case the Group expects to be exposed to significant foreign exchange risk, major orders denominated in foreign currencies 

are hedged by forward foreign exchange contracts.

If the exchange rate of the stated currencies as of 31 March 2011 (31 March 2010) had changed by the percentage rate (“volatility”) 

stated below, the profits before tax, provided all other variables had remained unchanged, would have been higher or lower, 

respectively, by the following amounts. 

Currency Volatility Hypothetical impact on result in TEUR

2010/11 2009/10

AUD 10 % 152 –

CAD 10 % 468 –

CZK 10 % 1,850 2,991

PLN 10 % 581 –

SEK 10 % 441 672 *)   

USD 10 % 435 149

ZAR 10 % 846 160

*) prior year figure adjusted 

b)	 Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from fluctuations in the value of financial instruments, other balance sheet items (e. g. receivables 

and payables) and/or cash flows due to fluctuations in the market interest rates.  
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For fixed-interest balance sheet items, the risk comprises the present value risk. In case the market rate for the financial instrument 

fluctuates, either a profit or a loss may result if the financial instrument is sold prior to maturity. 

For variable-interest balance sheet items, the risk relates to the cash flow. With variable-interest financial instruments, adjustments 

in the interest rates may result from changes in the market rates. Such changes would entail changes in interest payments. As a 

result of the corporate bond with a fixed interest rate issued in November 2010, variable-interest (both short-term and long-term) 

financial liabilities account only for a minor part of financial interest balance sheet items. If the market interest rate had been 100 

basis points higher (lower) as of 31 March 2011, this, as in the prior year, would not have had a material impact on the result of the 

Group. At the balance sheet date, no financial derivatives were used to hedge the interest rate risk.

c)	 Credit risk  

As part of the Group’s risk management policy, the Group only deals with recognized creditworthy third parties, and implements 

policies to ensure that the Group sells to customers with appropriate credit histories. In addition, the Group monitors its receivables 

balances on an ongoing basis in order to limit its exposure to bad debts. Certain of the Group’s policies limit the amount of its 

credit exposure to any financial institution, depending on the rating of the institution. With the exception of the tolling projects in 

the Czech Republic, South Africa and Poland (see Note 18), there is no concentration of credit risk relating to trade receivables, 

since the Group generally has a large number of customers worldwide. Based on the Group’s experiences, the default risk for trade 

receivables can be considered low.

d)	 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management shall involve securing the availability of sufficient cash and cash equivalents as well as the 

possibility of funding through the availability of adequate credit lines. Providing for adequate liquidity is statutory for every company 

under the Austrian commercial code. The Group provides for its liquidity through available credit lines. 

e)	 Capital management 

The objectives of the Group with respect to capital management, on the one hand, include securing its going concern in order to 

be able to provide the equity holders with dividends and the other stakeholders with appropriate services, and on the other hand, 

maintaining an optimal capital structure.

The Group monitors its capital based on net gearing, calculated from the ratio of net debt (net assets) to equity. Net debt (net 

assets) includes non-current and current financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, bank balances and current securities. 

in TEUR 2010/11 2009/10

Non-current financial liabilities 74,112 10,060

Current financial liabilities 23,083 9,237

Total financial liabilities 97,195 19,297

Cash on hand and at banks 42,001 47,743

Current securities 8,037 6,898

Net assets (+) / debt (-) -47,157 35,344

Equity 191,513 168,249

Net gearing 25 % n.a.

The change over the prior year is primarily due to the corporate bond issued in November 2010 (see Note 21).
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5	 Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design and 

testing of new or improved products) are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are fulfilled:  

a)	 it is technically feasible to complete the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 

b)	 management intends to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; 

c)	 there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 

d)	 it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 

e)	 adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset are available; and

f)	 the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development can be reliably measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense. Development costs previously 

recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalized development costs are recorded as 

intangible assets and amortized from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life, not 

exceeding three years. 

Development assets are tested for impairment annually in accordance with IAS 36.

 
6	 Intangible assets

Acquisition costs of computer software, industrial property and similar rights are capitalized and amortized systematically on a 

straight-line basis over their useful lives ranging from 4 to 30 years. Acquired customer contracts (tolling contracts) are amortized 

from 2 to 10 years. The carrying amount of each intangible asset is tested for impairment when a triggering event occurs. 

7	 Other financial assets

a)	 Securities 

Financial assets recognized under non-current assets and other short-term financial assets include only available-for-sale securities. 

Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses arising from the changes in fair value are recog-

nized in equity under a separate item.

The difference arising on the sale of financial assets between the proceeds and the carrying amounts is taken through profit or 

loss. Additionally, the amount recognized in equity is taken through profit or loss. All acquisitions and sales are recognized at the 

respective date of the transaction, transaction costs are included in acquisition costs. 

At each balance sheet date the Group, assesses whether there is objective evidence of impairment of each significant individual 

financial asset or group of financial assets. If such evidence exists, the Group accounts for that impairment and the amounts 

previously recognized in equity are removed from equity and recognized in profit or loss. The amount of the impairment is measured 

as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 

If in subsequent periods the fair value of the impaired financial instruments increases and that increase can be directly related to 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognized in profit or loss, the Group reverses the impairment loss. In case of debt 

instruments the reversal is recognized in profit or loss, in case of equity instruments it is recognized directly in equity. 
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b)	 Other investments 

Other available-for-sale investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot  

be reliably measured are carried at cost less impairment. 

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired. 

c)	 Derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss  

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for as stand-alone derivatives and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial instruments are recognized immediately in the income statement under  

“other gains/losses net”. 

8	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over 

the expected useful lives of the assets. 

The useful lives range between 3 to 26 years for plants and buildings on leasehold land, 4 to 20 years for technical equipment and 

machinery and 3 to 10 years for other equipment, factory and office equipment. 

Impairment is charged for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying amount of an asset. The recoverable 

amount represents the higher of fair value less cost to sell or value in use of an asset. For purposes of impairment testing, the assets 

are grouped down to the lowest level where separate cash flows are identifiable. 

The difference between the proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment and their carrying amount is taken through 

profit or loss and recognized in the operating result.

9	 Leases

a)	 Finance leases – accounting for leasing agreements from the lessee’s perspective

Leasing agreements by which the Group as lessee assumes substantially all risks and rewards associated with the use of an asset 

are accounted for as finance leases. 

The respective assets are capitalized under non-current assets at the lower of the net present value of minimum lease payments 

or the fair value of the leased asset and are depreciated over their expected useful lives or shorter lease term, if applicable. The 

difference between the minimum lease payments and the accrued net present value is recognized as deferred interest expense. The 

interest component is spread over the term of the lease using the effective interest rate method. 

b)	 Operating leases – accounting for leasing agreements from the lessee’s perspective

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 

leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement 

on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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10	 Government grants

Government grants with regard to assets relate to purchased non-current assets (technical equipment) and are deferred and  

taken through profit or loss over the estimated useful life of the respective asset.

Other government grants received as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred are immediately taken through profit  

or loss.

11	 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. 

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labor, other direct costs and related 

production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realizable value is the estimated 

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

12	 Construction contracts

The Group accounts for construction contracts in accordance with IAS 11. When the outcome of a construction contract can 

be estimated reliably and it is probable that the contract will be profitable, contract revenue is recognized over the period of the 

contract. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an 

expense immediately. The construction progress is represented by the ratio of costs incurred by the balance sheet date and the 

estimated total costs for the respective project. 

The carrying amount results from comparing the total of accumulated costs incurred by the balance sheet date plus the profit 

calculated according to the percentage of completion method (prorated) or loss (in full) on the respective construction contract to 

the invoiced amounts. The balance is recognized either under current assets (amounts due from customers for contract work) or 

under current liabilities (amounts due to customers for contract work). 

13	 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less allowance for bad debt. An allowance for bad debt is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will 

not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the allowance is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. 

The amount of the allowance is recognized in the income statement. 

14	 Cash and cash equivalents

For the presentation of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call and other 

cash at banks. Overdrafts are recognized in the balance sheet under current financial liabilities.
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15	 Other provisions

Provisions are set up when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to third parties as a result of past events, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

 

Provisions for warranties, liabilities for construction flaws, serial and systems problems mainly serve as coverage for obligations for 

free repairs and replacement deliveries, in accordance with the general sales and delivery conditions or due to individual agreements 

and are measured using rates based on past experience regarding direct labor and material costs incurred, overheads, replacement 

deliveries or rebates. A provision is recognized for the best estimate of the costs of defects to be rectified under the warranty for 

products sold before the balance sheet date.

16	 Employee benefits

The Group provides various post-employment benefits to employees and other long-term benefits either based on individual 

agreements or in accordance with local labor law provisions. 

For the calculation of liabilities arising from pension obligations and termination benefits in accordance with IAS 19, the projected 

unit credit method is used. According to this method, post-employment costs for employee benefits are recognized in the income 

statement in such a way that scheduled costs are spread over the employees’ years of service on the basis of an expert opinion by  

a qualified actuary, who completely remeasures the schemes annually. The obligation for pension payments and termination benefits 

is calculated as the present value of future benefits using an interest rate based on the average yield on industrial bonds of the  

same maturity. Actuarial gains and losses exceeding the corridor (= up to 10 % of benefit obligation or 10 % of plan assets, if any,  

at beginning of period) are charged to the income statement over the average remaining service of the active staff. 

Contributions paid by the Group under a defined contribution pension scheme are charged to the income statement under staff 

costs in the period in which they occur.

For the calculation of liabilities arising from obligations for anniversary bonuses in accordance with IAS 19, the projected unit credit 

method is used. Anniversary bonuses are special lump-sum payments stipulated in the Collective Agreement and dependent on 

compensation and years of service. Eligibility is determined by a certain number of service years. The calculation of liabilities arising 

from obligations for anniversary bonuses is performed in the same way as to the calculation for liabilities arising from termination 

benefits, however without taking the corridor method into consideration. 

17	 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, if the deferred income tax arises from 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) 

that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 

income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which 

the temporary differences can be utilized.

Temporary differences mainly arise in connection with depreciation (amortization) periods of non-current assets, provisions for 

pension benefits, other post-employment benefits, differences regarding the measurement of receivables and payables and tax loss 

carry-forwards.
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Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 

be reversed in the foreseeable future.

In March 2005, the major Austrian group companies of the entire Kapsch Group formed a tax group according to Sec. 9 of the 

Austrian Corporate Income Tax Act. The group taxation regime applies for the respective entities effective from the tax year 2005 

(i.e. fiscal year 2004/05). Tax group leader is KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH, the parent of this group. Principally, this entity 

is the only entity which has tax receivables or tax liabilities. Tax group members, such as the Austrian companies in the Kapsch 

TrafficCom Group, merely reflect receivables or liabilities with the tax group leader and not with tax authorities. Any tax loss incurred 

by a member of the tax group prior to the effective date of the tax group is not available for utilization by the leader of the tax group. 

Such tax losses are only available for utilization against future taxable income by the entity in which they initially arose. 

Accordingly, deferred taxes arising in entities which are members of the tax group and where the right of set off of taxable income 

and losses exists are shown as “deferred tax assets – due from group leader” or “deferred tax liabilities – due to group leader”. 

Those deferred tax effects arising in periods prior to the formation of the tax group or representing tax losses from periods prior to 

the formation of the tax group are shown as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. 

18	 Liabilities

Liabilities are recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies  

are measured at the current rate at the balance sheet date. Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction  

costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Borrowing costs  

are charged to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 

19	 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities occur for two reasons. For one, they comprise possible obligations that arise from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed by uncertain future events that are at least partly beyond an entity’s control. For another, they comprise 

present obligations that fail to meet general or special recognition standards (i.e. the amount of settlement of an obligation cannot 

be measured with sufficient reliability or an outflow of resources to settle the obligations is not deemed probable). 

The Group discloses contingent liabilities unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote 

and a liability does not have to be recognized pursuant to IFRS. 
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20	 Revenue recognition 

In accordance with IAS 18, revenue is recognized in the income statement upon delivery when the significant risks and rewards  

of ownership of the goods are transferred to the customer, net of discounts and eliminated sales within the Group. Sales of services 

are recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to completion of the specific transaction 

assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. 

Revenue for construction contracts is recognized in accordance with the “percentage-of-completion method”, provided the 

conditions under IAS 11 are met.

Other revenue is recognized by the Group as follows:  

n	 Revenue from expenses recharged is recognized on the basis of the accumulated amounts in accordance with the respective 

agreements.

n	 Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

21	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely 

equal the related actual results. 

In particular estimates and assumptions regarding revenue recognition have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year. 

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its construction contracts. Use of the percentage-of-

completion method requires the Group to estimate the expected profit mark-up for the construction contract. Sensitivity analyses  

on assumptions made by management indicate that no material effect is to be expected, if the actual final results should deviate by 

10 % from estimates. The analysis of assumptions made in the past as well as of actual profit mark-ups showed that the estimates 

had been reliable up to now. 

Further areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements include capitalized 

goodwill, inventories, deferred taxes and provisions for warranties. Sensitivity analyses of the assumptions made by management 

in connection with capitalized goodwill, inventories, deferred taxes and provisions for warranties indicate that no material effect will 

arise if the actual final outcomes were to differ by 10 % from the estimates made. Sensitivities for the acquired goodwill (break-even 

interest rate) are detailed in Note 13.

22	 Segment information

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-

maker. The chief operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources to the operating segments and assessing their 

performance. The management board has been identified as the chief operating decision-maker.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Figures in the disclosure notes are presented in Euro thousands (TEUR) unless otherwise stated.

1	 Segment Information

Operating segments

The Group reports three main operating segments (see section “General Information”):   

n	 Road Solution Projects (RSP) 

n	 Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC) 

n	 Others (OTH)

The segment results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2011 are as follows (in EUR million): 

Road Solution 
Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales 
Others

Consolidated
Group

Revenue 158.9 223.3 6.4 388.6

Operating result 0.1 48.3 0.4 48.9

The segment results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows (in EUR million): 

Road Solution 
Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales 
Others

Consolidated
Group

Revenue 45.8 161.9 8.3 216.0

Operating result -20.9 45.3 0.2 24.5

The segment assets and liabilities as of 31 March 2011 and capital expenditure, depreciation and amortization and other  

non-cash-effective expenses for the period then ended are as follows (in EUR million): 

Road Solution 
Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales 
Others

Consolidated
Group

Assets 138.6 215.4 3.4 357.5

Investments in associates 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Unallocated assets 92.6

Total assets 138.6 215.4 3.4 450.1

Liabilities 56.2 87.9 1.5 145.5

Unallocated liabilities 113.1

Total liabilities 56.2 87.9 1.5 258.6

Capital expenditure 0.0 7.0 0.0 7.0

Depreciation and amortization 1.6 11.8 0.2 13.6

Other non-cash-effective expenses 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.9
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The segment assets and liabilities as of 31 March 2010 and capital expenditure, depreciation and amortization and other  

non-cash-effective expenses for the period then ended are as follows (in EUR million): 

Road Solution 
Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales 
Others

Consolidated
Group

Assets 66.2 121.1 4.6 191.9

Investments in associates 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Unallocated assets 103.2

Total assets 66.2 121.1 4.6 295.1

Liabilities 33.2 69.8 1.3 104.3

Unallocated liabilities 22.6

Total liabilities 33.2 69.8 1.3 126.8

Capital expenditure 0.8 4.0 0.0 4.8

Depreciation and amortization 1.8 5.3 0.4 7.5

Other non-cash-effective expenses 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4

The breakdown of revenue by customer who contributed more than 10 % to the revenue for the year is as follows. In addition,  

the respective segments are shown (in EUR million):

2010/11 2009/10

Revenue
Road Solution

Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales
Revenue

Road Solution
Projects

Services, System 
Extensions, 

Components Sales

Customer 1 99.7 X X 78.6 X X

Customer 2 98.7 X X 9.0 X X

Customer 3 39.7 X 0.0

Information by region

Revenue is segmented by the location of the customer and balance sheet figures by the location of the Company. 

The figures for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2011 are as follows (in EUR million):

Austria
Europe 

(excl. Austria)
Americas Rest of World

Consolidated
Group

Revenue 37.5 182.0 27.6 141.5 388.6

Non-current non-financial assets 13.2 46.9 41.4 6.6 108.1

The figures for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows (in EUR million):

Austria
Europe 

(excl. Austria)
Americas Rest of World

Consolidated
Group

Revenue 42.4 117.1 12.1 44.5 216.0

Non-current non-financial assets 15.8 13.9 14.5 0.1 44.4
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2	 Other operating income 

2010/11 2009/10

Income from the sale of non-current assets 72 2

Income from costs recharged 62 43

Sundry operating income 7,431 10,895

7,564 10,939

Sundry operating income mainly relates to research funding awards received and to the assumption of costs of transactions  

billed for the nationwide electronic truck tolling system in the Czech Republic.

3	 Change in finished and unfinished goods and work in progress

2010/11 2009/10

Change in unfinished goods and work in progress -235 3,217

Change in finished goods 7,697 1,918

7,462 5,135

4	 Costs of materials and other production services

2010/11 2009/10

Cost of materials 82,315 32,066

Cost of purchased services 108,940 65,975

191,256 98,041

5	 Staff costs

2010/11 2009/10

Wages 2,345 2,197

Salaries and other remunerations 67,026 43,317

Expenses for social security and payroll-related taxes and contributions 15,181 12,484

Expenses for termination benefits (see Note 23) 573 569

Expenses for pensions (see Note 23) 556 502

Contributions to pension funds and other external funds (see Note 23) 264 164

Fringe benefits 517 468

86,462 59,702

As of 31 March 2011, the number of staff amounted to 2,167 persons (31 March 2010: 1,023 persons) and averaged 1,621 persons  

in the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: 973). 

6	 Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment

2010/11 2009/10

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,595 5,145

Amortization of intangible assets 7,020 2,340

13,615 7,485

Low-value assets are capitalized as property, plant and equipment or intangible assets and written off in the year of acquisition.
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7	 Other operating expenses

2010/11 2009/10

Rental expenses 8,470 7,094

Legal and consulting fees 13,096 7,252

Allowance and write-off of receivables 584 371

Marketing and advertising expenses 6,086 8,671

Travel expenses 7,243 4,353

Maintenance 3,752 1,538

Communication and IT expenses 5,641 3,407

Training costs 1,652 855

Losses on disposal of non-current assets 282 35

Insurance costs 2,181 720

License and patent expenses 3,155 1,167

Office expenses 3,563 886

Taxes and charges 280 245

Adjustment provision for warranties -489 504

Commissions and other fees 2,488 994

Transport costs 954 842

Automobile expenses 2,586 1,583

Other 1,869 1,815

63,391 42,333

The item “Other” includes membership dues and bank charges as well as other administrative and selling expenses.

8	 Financial result

2010/11 2009/10

Interest and similar income:

	 Interest income 1,034 454

	 Income from securities 139 223

	 Income from interest accretion of long-term receivables 437 1,825

	 Gains from the disposal of financial assets 18 7

	 Currency translation differences 2,869 6,752

4,498 9,260

Interest and similar expenses:

	 Interest expense -3,417 -2,642

	 Expense from interest accretion of long-term payables -362 -701

	 Losses on disposals and write-down of financial assets, investments and securities 0 -79

	 Expenses from other investments -469 -22

	 Expenses from currency hedging -1,340 -1,219

	 Currency translation differences -6,530 -471

-12,117 -5,135

-7,619 4,125
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9	 Income taxes

2010/11 2009/10

Current taxes -10,329 -7,915

Deferred taxes (see Note 22) -2,496 516

Total -12,826 -7,399

Thereof income/expense from group taxation -102 112

The reasons for the difference between the arithmetic tax income/expense based on the Austrian corporate income tax rate of  

25 % and the recognized tax income/expense are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Profit before income taxes 41,261 43,910

Arithmetic tax expense based on a tax rate of 25 % (2009/10: 25 %) -10,315 -10,977

Unrecognized deferred tax assets on current losses -1,421 -183

Derecognition of deferred tax assets recognized on prior year losses -1,179 0

Different foreign tax rates 383 109

Tax allowances claimed and other permanent tax differences -929 162

Income and expenses not subject to tax and other differences 636 3,490

Recognized tax expense -12,826 -7,399

For further information on deferred tax assets and liabilities see Note 22.

10	 Other comprehensive income

2010/11 Before taxes
Tax expense/

income
After taxes

Fair value gains/losses on available-for-sale financial assets:

	 Unrealized gains/losses in the current period -2,277 -259 -2,536

Currency translation differences 4,294 0 4,294

Fair value changes recognized in equity 2,017 -259 1,758

2009/10 Before taxes
Tax expense/

income
After taxes

Fair value gains/losses on available-for-sale financial assets:

	 Unrealized gains/losses in the current period 2,776 -758 2,018

	 Gains/losses recognized in the income statement 69 0 69

Currency translation differences 3,799 0 3,799

Fair value changes recognized in equity 6,644 -758 5,886
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11	 Additional disclosures on financial instruments by category

2010/11 2009/10

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Other non-current financial assets and investments 34,490 38,937

Other current financial assets 8,037 6,898

42,527 45,835

Loans and receivables:

Other non-current assets 9,018 8,481

Trade receivables 79,329 83,999

Cash and cash equivalents 42,001 47,743

130,348 140,223

Financial liabilities at (amortized) cost:

Non-current financial liabilities 74,112 10,060

Other non-current liabilities 10,423 9,353

Trade payables 72,531 41,332

Current financial liabilities 23,083 9,237

180,149 69,982

Financial instruments are recognized in the income statement with the following net results:

2010/11 2009/10

Available-for-sale financial assets -312 128

Loans and receivables -2,189 8,559

Financial liabilities at (amortized) cost -5,118 -4,562

-7,619 4,125

12	 Property, plant and equipment

Land and 
buildings

Technical equipment 
and machinery

Construction
in progress

Other equipment, 
factory and office 

equipment
Total

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2009 4,416 6,745 25 5,701 16,887

Currency translation differences 12 133 6 219 371

Change in consolidated entities 0 0 0 -7 -7

Additions 201 2,017 191 1,470 3,879

Disposals -36 -43 -27 -52 -160

Scheduled depreciation -662 -3,100 0 -1,383 -5,145

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 3,930 5,751 194 5,948 15,824

Acquisition/production cost 4,805 26,687 194 13,108 44,794

Accumulated depreciation -875 -20,936 0 -7,160 -28,971

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 3,930 5,751 194 5,948 15,824

Currency translation differences -5 39 -19 98 112

Reclassification 3 0 -3 0 0

Addition resulting from company acquisition 425 2,137 516 2,207 5,284

Additions 716 2,866 463 1,434 5,477

Disposals -93 -37 -355 -213 -698

Scheduled depreciation -720 -3,417 0 -2,458 -6,595

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 4,256 7,337 796 7,015 19,404

Acquisition/production cost 6,767 38,337 796 18,095 63,995

Accumulated depreciation -2,511 -31,000 0 -11,081 -44,591

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 4,256 7,337 796 7,015 19,404
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13	 Intangible assets

Capitalized 
development costs

Concessions and 
rights

Goodwill Total

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2009 296 5,059 20,734 26,089

Currency translation differences 9 -93 -148 -232

Additions 0 5,021 0 5,021

Disposals 0 -10 0 -10

Scheduled amortization -124 -2,216 0 -2,340

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 181 7,761 20,586 28,529

Acquisition/production cost 8,013 16,070 20,586 44,669

Accumulated amortization -7,832 -8,309 0 -16,141

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 181 7,761 20,586 28,529

Currency translation differences 1 7 -589 -581

Reclassification 0 -2,168 2,168 0

Addition resulting from company acquisition 0 40,995 24,942 65,937

Additions 0 655 1,233 1,888

Disposals 0 -65 0 -65

Scheduled amortization -60 -6,960 0 -7,020

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 122 40,224 48,341 88,687

Acquisition/production cost 8,675 55,157 48,341 112,173

Accumulated amortization -8,553 -14,933 0 -23,485

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 122 40,224 48,341 88,687

The addition in goodwill results from the acquisitions of TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, the  

U.S.-American, Canadian and Mexican operations of Mark IV IVHS (see Note 28) and from subsequent earn-out payments for 

the acquisition of Kapsch TrafficCom Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires, Argentina. The remaining goodwill results from the acquisition 

of Kapsch TrafficCom AB, Jönköping, Sweden, the “Mobility Solutions” business of TechnoCom Corporation, Encino, U.S.A., the 

acquisition of Kapsch-Busi, S.p.A, Bologna, Italy, and the acquisition of Kapsch TrafficCom, Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires, Argentina.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill was allocated to two cash-generating units (CGU) (“Road Solution Projects” and 

“Services, System Extensions, Components Sales”). The following assumptions were made:  

Road Solution Projects
Services, System Extensions,  

Components Sales

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU TEUR 38,084 TEUR 10,256

The carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives allocated to the CGU TEUR 0 TEUR 0

Determination of recoverable amount of CGU Value in use Value in use
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Cash-generating unit “Road Solution Projects”:

Key assumptions for determining expected cash flows of the CGU:

n	 The Management has based its determination on the assumption that after the successful implementation of tolling systems, 

in particular in Austria, the Czech Republic, Switzerland, Australia, South America, South Africa and Poland, demand for tolling 

systems will increase, in particular as a result of tight public budgets.

n	 The planning for the segment Road Solution Projects is based on projects in the Czech Republic, South Africa, U.S.A., Australia 

and Poland as well as on the fact that tenders in several countries are already in progress.

n	 4 years of detailed planning

n	 15.4 % (2009/10: 14.3 %) discount rate before tax

n	 Due to the growth potential of this business unit, the cash flows beyond the four-year period of detailed planning were accounted 

for at a continuous growth rate of 4.0 % (2009/10: 4.0 %) in the determination of value. 

Effects of changes in key assumptions on the recoverable amount:

n	 Management has based its determination on the assumption that realistically possible changes in key assumptions on which  

the recoverable amount is based will not result in the carrying amount of goodwill of the CGU exceeding the recoverable amount 

of the CGU. The break-even interest rate is 20.1 %.

Cash-generating unit “Services, System Extensions, Components Sales”:

Key assumptions for determining expected cash flows of the CGU:

n	 The Management has based its determination on the assumption that the Group will remain the preferred supplier for operation, 

maintenance and supply of components for tolling projects installed in previous years. 

n	 The planning for the segment Services, System Extensions, Components Sales is based on ongoing maintenance for existing 

tolling systems in Austria, Switzerland, the Czech Republic, Australia, South America, South Africa and Poland, on the 

commercial operation in the Czech Republic, South Africa and Poland as well as on component orders for customers worldwide, 

particularly in the U.S.A., Canada, Mexico, Australia, Turkey, Spain, Portugal, Denmark, France, Greece, Chile, Thailand, South 

Africa and Poland.

n	 4 years of detailed planning 

n	 15.1 % (2009/10: 13.7 %) discount rate before tax 

n	 Due to the growth potential of this business unit, the cash flows beyond the four-year period of detailed planning were accounted 

for at a continuous growth rate of 4.0 % (2009/10: 4.0 %) in the determination of value.

Effects of changes in key assumptions on the recoverable amount:

n	 The Management has based its determination on the assumption that realistically possible changes in key assumptions on  

which the recoverable amount is based will not result in the carrying amount of goodwill of the CGU exceeding the recoverable 

amount of the CGU. The break-even interest rate is 45.6 %.

Development costs relate to expenses which in accordance with IAS 38 are capitalized and amortized over 3 years once the assets 

are available for commercial use. Additional research and development costs of the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to 

EUR 37,3 million (2009/10: EUR 24.9 million). In the fiscal year 2010/11, EUR 14,9 million thereof (2009/10: EUR 7.4 million thereof) 

was project-specific development costs and charged to the customer. The remaining amount of EUR 22,4 million (2009/10: EUR 17.5 

million) was recognized as an expense.
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14	 Shares in associates

Shares in associates developed as follows: 

2010/11 2009/10

Carrying amount as of 31 March of prior year 0 12,302

Share in result 0 1,205

Addition 0 104

Currency translation differences 0 760

Effects from disproportional capital increases 0 69

Fair value adjustment on the date of losing significant influence according to IAS 28.18 0 14,038

Reclassification to “other non-current financial assets and investments” 0 -28,479

Carrying amount as of 31 March of fiscal year 0 0

In January 2009, the Group acquired an investment in the amount of 20.47 % in Q-Free ASA, Norway. In the third quarter of the fiscal 

year ending 31 March 2010, the share of Kapsch TrafficCom AG was diluted to below 20 % as a result of a capital increase at Q-Free 

ASA. This made a reclassification to the item “other non-current financial assets and investments” necessary (see Note 15). The 

accounting profit arising at the time of the dilution was recognized in income in accordance with IAS 28.18.

15	 Current and non-current financial assets

2010/11 2009/10

Other non-current financial assets and investments 34,490 38,937

Other current financial assets 8,037 6,898

42,527 45,835

Other non-current financial assets and investments
Available-for-sale 

securities
Available-for-sale

investments
Other Total

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2009 3,437 347 0 3,784

Currency translation differences 0 0 417 417

Addition from reclassification 0 28,479 0 28,479

Additions 0 0 6,432 6,432

Change in fair value 79 -255 0 -176

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 3,517 28,571 6,849 38,937

Currency translation differences 0 0 520 520

Additions 69 0 505 574

Change in fair value -103 -3,313 0 -3,416

Write-down 0 -343 -157 -500

Disposals 0 0 -1,625 -1,625

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 3,483 24,916 6,092 34,490
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Other current financial assets
Available-for-sale

securities
Other Total

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2009 3,946 0 3,946

Additions 0 0 0

Disposals 0 0 0

Change in fair value 2,952 0 2,952

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2010 6,898 0 6,898

Additions 0 0 0

Disposals 0 0 0

Change in fair value 1,139 0 1,139

Carrying amount as of 31 March 2011 8,037 0 8,037

As of 31 March 2011, available-for-sale securities relate to government and bank bonds as well as shares in investment funds. As of 

31 March 2011, the other investments classified as available-for-sale mainly relate to a 18.40 % investment in Q-Free ASA, Norway (see 

Note 14). These financial assets are measured at fair value based on quoted market prices (level 1 pursuant to IFRS 7). Unrealized gains 

and losses are recognized in other comprehensive income of the period (see Note 10).  

In the fiscal year 2010/11, other non-current financial assets mainly relate to a fixed-term investment in the amount of TEUR 5,597 

(2009/10: TEUR 6,697). The fixed-term investment is pledged as a collateral for guarantees issued by the Group.  

16	 Other non-current assets

2010/11 2009/10

Truck tolling system Czech Republic 9,017 8,480

Other 1 1

9,018 8,481

Other non-current assets relate to trade receivables (long-term) that are due from the Czech Ministry of Transport for the installation 

of the Czech truck tolling system. As in the prior year, they fall due between 1 and 5 years as of the balance sheet date. 

Long-term receivables were discounted on the basis of cash flows using an interest rate of 4.14 % to 5.00 % (for the part which was 

funded by external loans) and an interest rate for alternative investments of 2.89 % (for that part which was funded by internal cash 

flows of the Group). Thus, the fair values approximate the carrying amounts. 

Gross cash flows of other non-current assets are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Up to 2 years 7,705 7,338

Between 2 and 3 years 1,753 1,554

More than 3 years 1 0

9,459 8,892

Long-term receivables in the amount of TEUR 0 (2009/10: TEUR 8,480) were pledged as collateral to banks (see Note 21).
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17	 Inventories

2010/11 2009/10

Purchased parts and merchandise, at acquisition cost 13,520 9,079

Unfinished goods and work in progress, at production cost 9,062 9,297

Finished goods, at production cost 26,903 19,206

49,485 37,582

Individual inventory items were written down, where necessary, to their net realizable values. The write-downs of inventories  

amount to TEUR 9,793 (2009/10: TEUR 7,029).

18	 Trade receivables and other current assets

2010/11 2009/10

Trade receivables, less allowance for bad debt 79,329 83,999

Gross amount due from customers for contract work 84,225 7,301

Receivables from tax authorities (other than income tax) 10,030 2,779

Other receivables and prepaid expenses 17,301 7,370

190,885 101,448

Allowances for bad debt developed as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Balance as of 31 March of prior year 587 278

Addition resulting from company acquisition 207 0

Addition 421 425

Utilization -27 0

Disposal -108 -115

Balance as of 31 March of fiscal year 1,079 587

Maturity structure of trade receivables and other current assets:

2010/11 2009/10

Not yet due 176,618 81,753

Overdue, but not impaired:

	 Less than 60 days 12,059 16,061

	 More than 60 days 3,288 4,221

191,965 102,035

The fair values in the next fiscal year approximate the carrying amounts. Except for the tolling project in the Czech Republic, there is 

no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables, as the Group generally has a large number of customers worldwide. 

Trade receivables (current) relating to the installation of the Czech truck tolling system in the amount of TEUR 4,361 (2009/10: TEUR 

17,712) and to the operation and maintenance of the system in the amount of TEUR 27,907 (2009/10: TEUR 23,117) are due from 

Ředitelstvím silnic a dálnic ČR (RSD), a company of the Czech Republic. 

Trade receivables in an amount of TEUR 7,353 (2009/10: TEUR 17,712) were pledged as collateral to banks (see Note 21).
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Amounts due from customers for contract work are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Construction costs incurred plus recognized gains 136,707 7,301

Less amounts billed and prepayments received -52,481 0

84,225 7,301

As of 31 March 2011, amounts due from customers for contract work relate to the tolling project in South Africa in the amount  

of TEUR 43,273 and to the tolling project in Poland in the amount of TEUR 39,692.

19	 Cash and cash equivalents

2010/11 2009/10

Cash on hand 65 20

Deposits held with banks 41,935 47,723

42,001 47,743

The carrying amounts of this item also represent cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as presented  

in the cash flow statement.

20	 Share capital

2010/11 2009/10

Carrying amount as of 31 March of fiscal year 12,200 12,200

The registered share capital of the Company amounts to EUR 12,200,000. The share capital is fully paid in. The total number  

of shares issued is 12,200,000. The shares are ordinary bearer shares and have no par value. 

 

21	 Current and non-current financial liabilities

2010/11 2009/10

Current

Loans for acquisitions 10,000 0

Other current loans 13,083 9,237

23,083 9,237

Non-current

Loans for acquisitions 0 10,000

Corporate bond 73,796 0

Other 316 60

74,112 10,060

Total 97,195 19,297

In November 2010, Kapsch TrafficCom AG issued a corporate bond with a volume of EUR 75 million, a maturity of 7 years and an 

interest rate of 4.25 %. Considering offsetting capital expenses according to IFRS, the addition of non-current financial liabilities was 

TEUR 73,732 and led to an effective interest rate of 4.54%.

The other non-current financial liabilities mature in 1 to 5 years.
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The fair values and the gross cash flows of non-current financial liabilities are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Carrying amount 97,195 19,297

Fair value 92,227 18,736

Gross cash flows:

Up to 1 year 23,083 9,237

Between 1 and 3 years 9,754 10,543

Between 3 and 5 years 6,273 0

More than 5 years 78,442 0

117,551 19,779

Interest rates on current and non-current financial liabilities are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Total financial liabilities:

Carrying fixed interest rates 79,579 1,937

Carrying variable interest rates 17,616 17,360

97,195 19,297

Average interest rates:

Short-term loans 1.65 – 2.25 % 1.67 – 3.25 %

Loans for acquisitions 3.53 % 3.19 %

Corporate bond 4.54 % –

Other 2.50 % 2.50 %

Other non-current assets amounting to TEUR 0 (2009/10: TEUR 8,480), trade receivables (current) amounting to TEUR 7,353 

(2009/10: TEUR 17,712) as well as 9.9 million shares in Q-Free ASA were pledged as collateral for guarantees issued by banks and 

for loans granted. A bill of exchange amounting to TEUR 1,425 (2009/10: TEUR 1,425) was issued for an export promotion credit.  

 

22	 Deferred tax assets/liabilities

2010/11 2009/10

Deferred tax assets – due from tax group leader 1,880 1,302

Deferred tax assets – non-tax group 6,230 8,348

8,110 9,650

Deferred tax liabilities – due to tax group leader 1,794 1,812

Deferred tax liabilities – non-tax group 14,082 1,471

15,876 3,284

Balance -7,766 6,366

Deferred taxes due to tax loss carry-forwards and other temporary differences deductible in the future are recognized only to the 

extent of their potential realization. In these consolidated financial statements, tax loss carry-forwards in the amount of TEUR 

14,087 (2009/10: TEUR 2,080) have not been recognized, because it was uncertain whether there would be sufficient taxable profits 

available against which to offset them. All other deferred tax assets have been recognized in the respective group companies as 

future deductible items. Deferred tax assets are normally realized after more than 12 months.
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Deferred tax assets/liabilities are attributable to the following positions:

 31 March 2009

Addition 
resulting from 

company 
acquisition

Taken through 
profit or loss

Taken through 
equity

Currency 
translation 
differences

31 March 2010

Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carry-forwards 2,804 0 584 0 25 3,413

Provisions disallowed for tax purposes 1,140 0 695 0 33 1,868

Depreciation disallowed for tax purposes 40 0 -42 0 2 0

Other 4,258 0 -19 -20 150 4,369

8,242 0 1,218 -20 210 9,650

Deferred tax liabilities

Special depreciation/amortization  
of non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other 1,871 0 702 738 -27 3,283

1,871 0 702 738 -27 3,283

Total change 6,371 0 516 -758 237 6,366

 31 March 2010

Addition 
resulting from 

company 
acquisition

Taken through 
profit or loss

Taken through 
equity

Currency 
translation 
differences

31 March 2011

Deferred tax assets

Tax loss carry-forwards 3,413 0 -195 0 1 3,219

Provisions disallowed for tax purposes 1,868 0 -817 0 26 1,077

Depreciation disallowed for tax purposes 0 0 894 0 0 894

Other 4,369 1,391 -2,871 26 6 2,921

9,650 1,391 -2,990 26 33 8,110

Deferred tax liabilities

Special depreciation/amortization  
of non-current assets 0 0 2 0 0 2

Other 3,283 12,798 -496 285 3 15,874

3,283 12,798 -494 285 3 15,876

Total change 6,366 -11,407 -2,496 -259 30 -7,766

23	 Liabilities from post-employment benefits to employees

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet:

2010/11 2009/10

Termination benefits 5,912 5,561

Pension benefits 10,403 8,755

16,315 14,316

Termination benefits

The obligation to set up a provision for termination benefits is based on the respective labor law.

Retirement benefits

Liabilities for retirement benefits recognized at the balance sheet date relate to retirees only. All pension agreements are based on past 

service cost and are, except for the pension plans acquired in the course of the business combination Mark IV IVHS, not covered by 

external plan assets (funds). In addition, contributions are paid to an external pension fund for employees of the Group (see Note 5).
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For the valuation of termination benefits and pension benefit obligations including plan assets an interest rate of 5 % (2009/10: 

5 %) was used, and for compensation increases a rate of 3 % (2009/10: 3 %). In addition, the calculation was based on the earliest 

possible statutory retirement age, including transition provisions and using the mortality tables AVÖ 2008-P (2009/10: AVÖ 2008-P) 

by Pagler & Pagler. Pension increases were estimated at 2-3 % (2009/10: 2-3 %).

The following amounts are recognized in the income statement as expenses for termination benefits:

2010/11 2009/10

Current service cost 182 183

Interest expense 322 305

Actuarial losses 70 81

Total, included in staff costs (Note 5) 573 569

Change in liabilities recognized in the balance sheet:

Carrying amount as of 31 March of prior year 5,561 5,294

Total expense according to the table above 573 569

Payments -223 -302

Carrying amount as of 31 March of fiscal year 5,912 5,561

Actuarial present value of obligations (defined benefit obligation) 7,094 6,516

Unrecognized actuarial gains/losses -1,183 -954

Amount recognized in the balance sheet 5,912 5,561

The following amounts are recognized in the income statement as expenses for retirement benefits:

2010/11 2009/10

Current service cost 4 0

Interest expense 533 502

Actuarial adjustment 17 0

Gains from external plan assets 1 0

Total, included in staff costs (Note 5) 556 502

Change in liabilities recognized in the balance sheet:

Carrying amount as of 31 March of prior year 8,755 8,920

Addition resulting from business combinations 2,024 0

Total expense according to the table above 556 502

Payments -720 -667

Total 10,616 8,755

Fair value of plan assets -213 0

Carrying amount as of 31 March of fiscal year 10,403 8,755

Actuarial present value of obligations (defined benefit obligation) 11,877 9,998

Unrecognized actuarial gains/losses -1,261 -1,243

Fair value of plan assets -213 0

Amount recognized in the balance sheet 10,403 8,755
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24	 Other non-current liabilities

2010/11 2009/10

Truck tolling system Czech Republic 6,185 5,021

Other 4,238 4,332

10,423 9,353

Other non-current liabilities relate to trade payables (non-current) in the amount of TEUR 6,185 (2009/10: TEUR 5,021) due to 

subcontractors for the installation of the Czech truck tolling system. As in the prior year, these liabilities are due in more than 1 year 

and less than 5 years as of the balance sheet date. These non-current liabilities were discounted on the basis of cash flows using 

discount rates that correspond to those rates applied in discounting non-current receivables from the Czech truck tolling system 

(see Note 16). Thus, the fair values approximate the carrying amounts.

Other non-current liabilities mainly relate to a liability in the amount of TEUR 3,500 (2009/10: TEUR 3,500) from a put option for 

shares in Kapsch-Busi S.p.A, Bologna, Italy, and to the non-current portion of a contingent payment obligation in the amount of 

TEUR 574 (2009/10: TEUR 755) from the acquisition of the “Mobility Solutions” business of TechnoCom Corporation, Encino, U.S.A., 

in the fiscal year ending 31 March 2009.

The gross cash flows of other non-current liabilities are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Less than 2 year 9,151 4,394

Between 2 and 3 years 1,450 4,910

More than 3 years 405 305

11,006 9,610

25	 Other liabilities and deferred income

2010/11 2009/10

Amounts due to customers for contract work 300 1,679

Prepayments received 205 1,746

Non-current employee liabilities 13,381 9,790

Liabilities to tax authorities (other than income tax) 1,556 3,400

Other liabilities and deferred income 21,439 9,318

36,881 25,933

Amounts due to customers for contract work are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Construction costs incurred plus recognized gains -202 -13,872

Less amounts billed and prepayments received 503 15,551

300 1,679
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26	 Provisions

2010/11 2009/10

Non-current 686 583

Current 4,722 6,845

5,408 7,428

The provisions changed as follows:

31 March 2009

Addition 
resulting from 

company 
acquisition

Addition
Utilization/

disposal

Currency 
translation 
differences

31 March 2010

Obligations from anniversary bonuses 524 1 78 -20 0 583

Other 0 0 0 0 0 0

Non-current provisions, total 524 1 78 -20 0 583

Warranties 1,820 0 1,029 -653 165 2,361

Losses from pending transactions  
and rework 934 0 0 -224 0 710

Legal fees, costs of litigation  
and contract risks 3,228 0 36 -2,473 99 891

Other 4,640 0 9,382 -11,260 120 2,883

Current provisions, total 10,623 0 10,447 -14,609 384 6,845

Total 11,147 1 10,525 -14,629 384 7,428

31 March 2010

Addition 
resulting from 

company 
acquisition

Addition
Utilization/

disposal

Currency 
translation 
differences

31 March 2011

Obligations from anniversary bonuses 583 0 52 -29 0 605

Other 0 98 0 -14 -3 81

Non-current provisions, total 583 98 52 -44 -3 686

Warranties 2,361 45 100 -1,163 136 1,480

Losses from pending transactions  
and rework 710 0 0 -710 0 0

Legal fees, costs of litigation  
and contract risks 891 0 55 461 35 1,442

Other 2,883 51 1,761 -2,910 15 1,800

Current provisions, total 6,845 96 1,916 -4,322 186 4,722

Total 7,428 194 1,969 -4,366 183 5,408

The provision for anniversary bonuses relates to non-current entitlements by employees based on collective labor agreement 

provisions. The valuation was based on an interest rate of 5 % (2009/10: 5 %), the earliest possible statutory retirement age including 

transition provisions and using the mortality tables AVÖ 2008-P (2009/10: AVÖ 2008-P) by Pagler & Pagler, increases in salary were 

considered at 3 % (2009/10: 3 %). 

As manufacturer, dealer and service provider the Group issues product warranties at the time of sale to its customers. Usually, under 

the terms of the warranty contract, the Group has the obligation to repair or replace manufacturing or software defects that become 

apparent within the period under guarantee.
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In case the Group expects warranty claims on products sold or services rendered during the period under guarantee, a 

corresponding provision will be set up in the financial statements. Based on the expectation that the majority of the expenditure 

will be incurred in the short or medium term, the best estimate for the cost of warranty is used for the recognition of the provision. 

Likewise, historical data is taken into account in the calculation of the amount of the provision. According to past experience, it  

is probable that there will be claims under the warranties.

Other provisions mainly include provisions for commissions and bonuses, credits receivable, discounts granted to customers  

and legal and consulting fees.

27	 Contingent liabilities, other commitments and operating lease commitments

The Group’s contingent liabilities primarily result from large-scale projects. Other commitments mainly relate to contract and 

warranty bonds, bank guarantees, performance and bid bonds and sureties.

Details of contingent liabilities and other commitments are as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Contract, warranty, performance and bid bonds

City Highway Santiago 0 263

City Highway Sydney and Melbourne 2,306 2,881

Truck Tolling System Austria 12,500 12,500

Truck Trolling System Czech Republic 9,414 10,046

Tolling project Poland 24,656 0

Tolling projects South Africa: Gauteng, Marian Hill, Huguenot 120,208 117,084

Other 967 1,069

170,051 143,844

Bank guarantees 1,975 2,419

Sureties 544 30

172,570 146,293

For details of securities for above mentioned contingent liabilities and other commitments see Note 15 and Note 21. In addition, 

various assets of Kapsch TrafficCom AB, Jönköping, Sweden, amounting to TEUR 10,075 are pledged in favour of a Swedish bank in 

order to secure contingent liabilities.

Operating lease commitments:

The future payments from non-cancellable obligations from rental and operating lease contracts are presented below:

2010/11 2009/10

Up to 1 year 8,969 6,304

Between 1 and 5 years 25,198 16,550

Over 5 years 12,860 11,146

47,027 34,000
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28	 Business combinations

Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark (formerly Payvend F&P A/S).

On 1 April 2010, Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH, Vienna, acquired 60 % of the shares in Payvend F&P A/S, Copenhagen, Denmark 

at a purchase consideration of TEUR 750. Subsequently, the company was renamed to Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, 

Copenhagen, Denmark.

Purchase consideration 750

Less share of fair value of net assets acquired 750

Goodwill 0

Assets and liabilities resulting from the acquisition are shown as follows (provisionally determined):

Fair value
Carrying amount  

of the seller

Intangible assets 1,667 1,667

Liabilities, other liabilities and deferred income -417 -417

Net assets acquired 1,250 1,250

Thereof controlling interest (60 %) 750

Thereof non-controlling interest (40 %) 500

The acquired company contributed revenue of TEUR 9 and a net income of TEUR -234 to the Group’s result of the period from  

1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011.

TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG, Vienna, through a subsidiary, acquired 51.43 % of the increased share capital of TMT Services and Supplies 

(Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, as part of a capital increase on 8 April 2010. The consideration paid in connection with the 

capital increase amounted to a total of ZAR 75 million. This investment was increased to 56.81 % by an additional purchase of 

shares on 30 August 2010. The business combination involves the entities TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South 

Africa, SafeTCam (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, Traffic Software Solutions (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, TMT Services 

and Supplies (Gauteng) (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, Electronic Tolling Operations (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, 

Crestwave 61 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, Crestwave 63 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa, TMT Services and Supplies 

(North) (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa and Berrydust 51 (Pty) Ltd., Cape Town, South Africa.

For the remaining share of 43.19 %, a put-option has been granted to the minority shareholders by the Group. 

Purchase consideration (including contingent elements) 7,885

Less share of fair value of net assets acquired 6,420

Goodwill 1,465
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Assets and liabilities resulting from the acquisition are shown as follows (provisionally determined):

Fair value
Carrying amount  

of the seller

Intangible assets 6,683 403

Property, plant and equipment 1,267 1,267

Receivables and other assets 4,577 4,577

Cash and cash equivalents 7,170 7,170

Liabilities, other liabilities and deferred income -7,215 -5,456

Net assets acquired 12,483 7,961

Thereof controlling interest (51.43 %) 6,420

Thereof non-controlling interest (48.57 %) 6,063

The acquired company contributed revenue of TEUR 34,204 and a net income of TEUR 5,125 to the Group’s result for the period 

from 8 April 2010 to 31 March 2011. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2010, there would not have been a significant change 

in revenue or profit of the Group.

MARK IV IVHS, U.S.A., Canada, Mexico.

Kapsch TrafficCom AG agreed on 5 November 2010 (signing) to acquire the business of MARK IV IVHS, part of MARK IV, LLC (U.S.), 

in the U.S., in Canada and in Mexico. Closing date for this acquisition was 30 November 2010. This business combination involves 

the entities Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Technologies Holding Corp., Sterling, U.S.A., Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Holding Corp., Sterling, 

U.S.A., Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Inc., Sterling, U.S.A., Mark IV Holdings B.V., Amsterdam, Netherlands, Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS 

Corp., Mississauga, Canada, and Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS, S.A. de C.V., Mexico City, Mexico.

Purchase consideration (including contingent elements) 55,071

Less share of fair value of net assets acquired 31,595

Goodwill 23,476

Assets and liabilities resulting from the acquisition are shown as follows (provisionally determined):

Fair value
Carrying amount  

of the seller

Intangible assets 32,647 0

Property, plant and equipment 4,011 2,561

Receivables and other assets 15,716 15,716

Cash and cash equivalents 4,255 4,255

Liabilities, other liabilities and deferred income -25,034 -14,411

Net assets acquired 31,595 8,121

The business acquired contributed TEUR 19,327 to the revenue of the Group. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2010, there 

would have been an increase in the revenue of the Group of TEUR 38,650. It is not possible to indicate the effects on the group 

result of the period, as the seller was under creditor protection pursuant to “Chapter 11” in the prior period and the necessary 

results attributable to the assets and liabilities transferred in the course of the business combination were not available.
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29	 Related parties

The following transactions were performed with related parties:

KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna

From January 2005, the company has provided services to the Group in the area of group consolidation and legal advice. Expenses 

incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 490 (2009/10: TEUR 494). The company invoiced to the Group 

expenses in connection with the implementation of the corporate performance management-tool (“CPM-Tool”- particularly with 

regard to synergies with the consolidation tool HFM) in the amount of TEUR 158 (2009/10: TEUR 0). Furthermore, the company 

invoices insurance costs (directors & officers liability insurance) to the Group in the amount of TEUR 22 (2009/10: TEUR 0).

In December 2005, the company issued a parental guarantee to FöreningsSparbanken AB, Stockholm, Sweden, in favor of the group 

company Kapsch TrafficCom AB, Jönköping, Sweden, in the amount of EUR 20.2 million. For the project in South Africa (Gauteng), 

the company also issued parental guarantees in favor of Kapsch TrafficCom AG to Unicredit Bank Austria AG, Vienna, and to 

Raiffeisen Bank International AG, Vienna, in September 2009. As of the balance sheet date 31 March 2011, the assumed guarantees 

amount to EUR 29.7 million. The annual fee for the assumption of the liabilities is 0.5 % of the guaranteed amounts. Expenses 

incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 241 (2009/10: TEUR 202). 

In January 2007, KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH issued an unconditional and irrevocable first demand payment guarantee up  

to EUR 40 million with respect to the payment obligations of Kapsch TrafficCom Construction & Realization spol. s r.o., Prague, 

Czech Republic, resulting from the credit and guarantee facilities agreement granted by Ceskoslovenska Obchodni Banka A.S., 

Prague, Czech Republic, UniCredit Bank Austria AG, Vienna, and Raiffeisen Bank International AG, Vienna, for the delivery and 

operation of the Czech truck tolling system. The annual fee for the assumption of the liability is 0.5 % of the guaranteed amount. 

Expenses incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 110 (2009/10: TEUR 199). This guarantee was released 

on 20 October 2010, expenses incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 110 (2009/10: TEUR 199).  

KAPSCH-Group Beteiligungs GmbH acts as the tax group leader in a tax group formed in March 2005, of which Austrian 

subsidiaries of this Group are members. Accordingly, all post-formation tax effects of the group companies which are tax group 

members are considered to be related party transactions (see Note 9 and 22).

Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna

In connection with the use of the KAPSCH trademark and logo, the company invoices license fees to the Group. The license  

fee amounts to 0.5 % of all third-party sales of the Group, whereby the annual minimum fee is TEUR 250. Expenses incurred by  

the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 1,924 (2009/10: TEUR 1,104). 

Activities in the area of corporate development, public relations, sponsoring and other marketing activities are carried out centrally 

by Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft for all group companies. Cost allocated to the Group in the fiscal year 2009/10 amounted to TEUR 

1,591 (2009/10: TEUR 1,024). 

Furthermore, the company invoices management and consulting services (including costs for the chairman of the board of the 

company, Georg Kapsch, and costs for consulting services of certain supervisory board members of the company) to the Group. 

Expenses incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 1,400 (2009/10: TEUR 1,184). 

Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft has entered into various insurance contracts covering all group companies. The cost allocated to the 

Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 355 (2009/10: TEUR 309). Furthermore, Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft serviced  

a software tool and invoiced to the Group TEUR 55 (2009/10: 24). 
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Kapsch Partner Solutions GmbH, Vienna

The company provides human resources services (payroll services, administration, recruiting, advice on labor law and human 

resources development) to the Group and provides apprentices and trainees. Expenses incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 

2010/11 amounted to TEUR 1,092 (2009/10: TEUR 920).

Kapsch Financial Services GmbH, Vienna

The company leases telephone and IT equipment (hardware and software) to the Group and provides call centre services and  

IT support. Expenses incurred by the Group in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 869 (2009/10: TEUR 2,246).

Kapsch BusinessCom AG, Vienna

The company delivers hardware (IT equipment) on behalf of Kapsch TrafficCom AG, Vienna, and provides maintenance and other 

services for various customer projects, the three largest of which by far are the “Truck Tolling System Austria”, the “Truck Tolling 

System Czech Republic” and the “Truck Tolling System Poland”. The deliveries and services performed amounted to TEUR 6,141  

in the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: TEUR 2,868). 

The company provides IT, EDP and telephone services to the Group in the amount of TEUR 2,725 (2009/10: TEUR 376), as well as 

other services in the amount of TEUR 456 (2009/10: TEUR 928).

The Group invoices consulting services in the area of public relations to the company. Income of the Group resulting from these 

services in the fiscal year 2010/11 totaled TEUR 44 (2009/10: TEUR 44). 

Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG provides logistics services to the company in the amount of TEUR 71 (2009/10: TEUR 97),  

and other services in the amount of TEUR 100 (2009/10: TEUR 128). 

Kapsch CarrierCom AG, Vienna

Kapsch TrafficCom AG provides services in the area of public relations to the company. Income of the Group resulting from this 

service in the fiscal year 2010/11 amounted to TEUR 44 (2009/10: TEUR 44). 

Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG provides logistics services to the company in the amount of TEUR 663 (2009/10: TEUR 617) 

and provides the company with other deliveries and services in the amount of TEUR 45 (2009/10: TEUR 19). 

Kapsch s r.o., Prague

The company provides technical maintenance services for the Czech truck tolling system and is responsible for the current IT 

support for the Czech subsidiaries. Expenses incurred for this in the fiscal year 2010/11 totaled TEUR 2,736 (2009/10: TEUR 1,910). 

Furthermore, the company provided public relations services amounting to TEUR 91 in the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: TEUR 95) 

and other services amounting to TEUR 133 (2009/10: TEUR 0).

Kapsch Sp. z o.o., Warsaw

The company provides hardware (IT equipment) and renders maintenance and other services for the tolling project in Poland to the 

Group. This services amounted to TEUR 2,857 in the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: TEUR 0). 

Kapsch Immobilien GmbH, Vienna

On 15 July 2008, a new lease agreement was concluded for the location Am Europlatz 2 and a waiver of termination was agreed  

for 10 years. It is possible to partly terminate the agreement after 5 or 7 years, respectively. Investments in the amount of TEUR 53 

(2009/10: TEUR 0) were made for the adaptation in the field of garage and parking deck. Lease expenses incurred by the Group 

amounted to TEUR 3,193 in the fiscal year 2010/11 (2009/10: TEUR 3,245).
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Lease income of the Group resulting from the sub-lease to related parties in the fiscal year 2010/11 totaled TEUR 386  

(2009/10: TEUR 267). 

Services are usually negotiated with related parties on a cost-plus basis. Goods are bought and sold at arm’s length. 

Liabilities for pension benefits include pension obligations (pensions in payment) to the widow of Dr. Karl Kapsch, a former  

board member of Kapsch Aktiengesellschaft.

The following tables provide an overview of revenue and expenses at the respective balance sheet date as well as receivables  

from and payables due to related parties at the respective balance sheet dates:

2010/11 2009/10

Parent company

Revenue 0 0

Expenses 884 907

Affiliated companies

Revenue 1,583 1,401

Expenses 21,667 10,807

Other related parties

Revenue 0 1

Expenses 4,193 5,790

31 March 2011 31 March 2010

Parent company

Trade receivables and other assets 1,696 1,798

Trade payables and other payables 96 459

Affiliated companies

Trade receivables and other assets 262 307

Trade payables and other payables 4,405 1,971

Other related parties

Trade receivables and other assets 0 0

Trade payables and other payables 412 198

 30	Earnings per share

Earnings per share (basic earnings) is calculated by dividing the profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company 

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding, if any, ordinary shares purchased by the 

Company and held as treasury shares. As of 31 March 2011, as in the prior year, no treasury shares were held by the Company. 

2010/11 2009/10

Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company (in EUR) 22,062,116 32,215,536

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 12,200,000 12,200,000

Earnings per share (in EUR) 1.81 2.64

Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the Company, adjusted  
for the fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway (see note 14) 22,062,116 18,177,176

Number of shares 12,200,000 12,200,000

Earnings per share, adjusted (in EUR) 1.81 1.49
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The consolidated financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG as of 31 March 2011 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted  
by the EU and with section 245a (1) of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) have been translated into English. In case of different interpretations the German original is valid.

31	 Events after the balance sheet date

Financing activities

In April 2011, a revolving line of credit expiring on 31 December 2011 was contracted by the Group with a maximum amount of  

EUR 40 million (thereof EUR 20 million drawn at the date of this report) in connection with the tolling project in Poland.

	 Company foundation

On 1 April 2011, Kapsch Telematic Services FLLC, Minsk, Belarus was founded.

32	 Supplementary disclosures

The consolidated group companies are listed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements under the item “consolidated group”. The 

parent company Kapsch TrafficCom AG, Vienna, with the exception of Kapsch Telematic Services sp. z o.o., Poland, Electronic Toll Collection 

(PTY) Ltd., South Africa, Kapsch Telematic Services Danmark A/S, Denmark, Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S, Denmark, Kapsch 

Telematic Services GmbH, Vienna, Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH Deutschland, Germany, Kapsch Telematic Services Kft., Hungary, 

Kapsch Telematic Services spol. s r.o., Czech Republic, Kapsch TrafficCom Construction & Realization spol. s r.o., Czech Republic, TMT 

Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, SafeTCam (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, Traffic Software Solutions (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, TMT 

Services and Supplies (Gauteng) (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, Electronic Tolling Operations (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, Crestwave 63 (Pty) Ltd., 

South Africa, Crestwave 61 (Pty) Ltd., South Africa, TMT Services and Supplies (North) (Pty) Ltd., South Africa and Berrydust 51 (Pty) Ltd., 

South Africa, directly or indirectly holds 100 % of the shares in the fully consolidated subsidiaries. With regard to additional disclosures 

in accordance with § 265 (2) UGB for the companies mentioned above, the protection-of-interest clause pursuant to § 265 (3) UGB was 

applied. 

The average number of staff in the fiscal year 2010/11 was 1,551 salaried employees and 70 waged workers (2009/10: 921 salaried 

employees and 52 waged workers). 

Expenses for the auditor

The expenses for the auditor amount to TEUR 184 (2009/10: TEUR 109) and are broken down as follows:

2010/11 2009/10

Audit of the consolidated financial statements 61 40

Other assurance services 111 43

Tax consulting services 0 0

Other services 12 26

184 109

Compensation and other payments to members of the management and the supervisory board

The compensation paid to members of the management board is shown below:

Managing board remuneration 2010/11 in TEUR Fixed Variable Total

Georg Kapsch 416 405 821

Erwin Toplak 360 57 417

André Laux 278 56 334

Total 1,054 518 1,573
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The consolidated financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG as of 31 March 2011 prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted  
by the EU and with section 245a (1) of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB) have been translated into English. In case of different interpretations the German original is valid.

Expenses for termination benefits for members of the management board amount to TEUR 43. 

Individual pension agreements are granted to Erwin Toplak and André Laux. Annually, approximately TEUR 19 is paid by  

Kapsch TrafficCom AG to an external pension fund.

Remunerations paid to supervisory board members amount to TEUR 21 (2009/10: TEUR 19).

As in the previous years, no advances or loans were granted to members of the management and supervisory board, nor any 

guarantees issued in their favor. 

In the fiscal year 2010/11, the following persons served on the managing board: 

Mag. Georg Kapsch (Chief Executive Officer) 

Ing. Erwin Toplak

André Laux 

In the fiscal year 2010/11, the following persons served on the supervisory board:

Dr. Franz Semmernegg (Chairman)

Dr. Kari Kapsch (Deputy Chairman)

William Morton Llewellyn 

Delegated by the works council:

Ing. Christian Windisch

Dipl.-Ing. Werner Dreschl (until 19 November 2010)

Claudia Rudolf-Misch (from 20 November 2010)

Authorized for issue:

Vienna, 13 May 2011

 Mag. Georg Kapsch 	 Ing. Erwin Toplak	 André Laux

Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Operating Officer	 Executive Board member
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Auditor’s Report.
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Kapsch TrafficCom AG, Vienna, for the fiscal year from 1 April 

2010 to 31 March 2011. These consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31 March 2011, the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity for the year ending 31 March 2011, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and with the legal provisions applicable in Austria. This 

responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable under the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility and Description of Type and Scope of the Statutory Audit

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit  

in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria and Austrian Standards on Auditing, as well as in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing (ISA) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the 

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and  

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 

of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures  

that are appropriate under the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of  

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

Our audit did not give rise to any objections. Based on the results of our audit, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements 

comply with legal requirements and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as of 31 March 2011 and of its financial 

performance and its cash flows for the financial year from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2011 in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
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Comments on the Management Report for the Group.

Pursuant to statutory provisions, the management report for the Group is to be audited as to whether it is consistent with the 

consolidated financial statements and whether the other disclosures in the management report for the Group do not give rise to a 

misstatement of the Group’s financial position. The auditor’s report also has to contain a statement as to whether the management 

report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether the disclosures pursuant to Section 243a  

UGB are appropriate.

In our opinion, the management report for the Group is consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The disclosures pursuant 

to Section 243a UGB are appropriate.

Vienna, 13 May 2011

PwC INTER-TREUHAND GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

signed:

Felix Wirth

Austrian Certified Public Accountant



Fotodoppelseite



Fotodoppelseite

*) What you don’t see here: Our ‘Hazardous Goods Transport  
Tracking’ keeps hazardous goods transports in sight to ensure the 
maximum level of safety.

Hazardous Goods Transport Tracking – Thousands of hazardous materials transports take place every day, often in densely 
populated areas. Accidents involving vehicles carrying dangerous goods can have potentially disastrous consequences. The 
GNSS-based toll collection system from Kapsch provides an ideal infrastructure for continuous tracking of hazardous material 
transports and monitoring transports according to defined routes, corridors and exclusion areas. In event of an incident, a 
monitoring center can communicate rapidly with responders, providing precise information on the nature of the hazard and 
the exact location of the truck.
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Services.
Addresses of Major Companies.

Austria

Kapsch TrafficCom AG (Headquarter)
Am Europlatz 2
1120 Vienna
Phone: +43 50 811 0
Fax: +43 50 811 2109
ktc-hq.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch TrafficCom AG –  
Development Center Telematic Solutions
Lakeside Park B03
9020 Klagenfurt
Phone: +43 50 811 7810
ktc.at-klu.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH
Am Europlatz 2
1120 Vienna
Phone: +43 50 811 0
Fax: +43 50 811 1219
kts.at.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch Components GmbH & Co KG
Gutheil-Schoder-Gasse 17
1230 Vienna
Phone: +43 50 811 4053
Fax: +43 50 811 4202
kcomp.at.info@kapsch.net

Argentina 

Kapsch TrafficCom Argentina S.A.
Juana Azurduy 2440
C1429BZJ Buenos Aires
Phone: +54 11 4703 5500
Fax: +54 11 4703 4777
ktc.ar.info@kapsch.net

Australia 

Kapsch TrafficCom Australia (Pty) Ltd.
Level 10
636 St Kilda Road
Melbourne VIC 3004
Phone: +61 3 8656 7900
Fax: +61 3 8656 7901
ktc.au.info@kapsch.com.au 

Bulgaria 

Kapsch Telematik Technologies Bulgaria EAD
42 Prohlada Str.
Boyana District
Sofia 1619
Phone: +359 2 959 00 29
Fax: +359 2 959 00 89
ktc.bg.info@kapsch.net 

Canada 

Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Corp.
6020 Ambler Drive
Mississauga, Ontario
Canada L4W 2P1
Phone: +1 905 624-3020
Fax: +1 905-625-6197
ktc.ca.info@kapsch.net

Chile 

Kapsch TrafficCom Chile S.A.
Avenida del Parque 4161
Oficina 202
Ciudad Empresarial
8580675 Huechuraba
Santiago de Chile
Phone: +56 2 795 1200
Fax: +56 2 465 9742
ktc.cl.info@kapsch.cl

China 

Kapsch TrafficCom AG Beijing
Beijing Representative Office
Hotel Kunlun, Room 309
2 Xin Yuan Nan Road
100004 Beijing
Phone: +86 10 6808 0050
Mobile: +86 139 0109 7834
ktc.cn.info@kapsch.net

Croatia 

Kapsch TrafficCom – Podruznica Zagreb
Ulica grada Vukovara 284
10 000 Zagreb
Phone: +385 1 272 06 58
ktc.hr.info@kapsch.net

Czech Republic 

Kapsch Telematic Services spol. s r.o.
Ke Štvanici 656/3
186 00 Praha 8
Phone: + 420 225 026 111
Fax: +420 225 026 222
kts.cz.info@kapsch.net

Denmark

Kapsch Telematic Services Solutions A/S
Store Kongensgade 49
1264 Copenhagen
Phone: +45 70 22 00 89
Fax: +45 33 12 24 24
ktss.dk.info@kapsch.net

France 

Kapsch TrafficCom France SAS
Site de Immontigny 1 Rue Jean Pierre Timbaud CS 80737
78066 Saint Quentin en Yvelines Cedex
Phone: +33 6 03 48 27 59
Fax: +33 1 44 54 52 34
ktc.fr.info@kapsch.net

Germany 

Kapsch Telematic Services GmbH Deutschland
Friedrichstraße 171
10117 Berlin
Phone: +49 30 46999 3476
Fax: +49 30 46999 3477
kts.de.info@kapsch.net

Hungary 

Kapsch Telematic Services Kft.
Bocskai út 77-79
1113 Budapest
Phone: +36 1 372 6400
Fax: +36 1 372 6444
kts.hu.info@kapsch.net

Italy 

Kapsch TrafficCom S.r.l.
BlendTower, Piazza Quattro Novembre, 7
20124 Milano (MI)
Phone: +39 (02) 89827 365
Fax: +39 (02) 95441 448
ktc.it.info@kapsch.it

Kapsch-Busi S.p.A.
Via C. Bonazzi, 2
40013 Castel Maggiore (BO)
Phone: +39 (051) 6324011
Fax: +39 (051) 6324022
kapsch-busi.it.info@kapsch.it

Kazakhstan 

Kapsch TrafficCom Kazakhstan LLC
33, Dinmukhamed Kunayev street, Office 1103
Astana 010000
Phone/Fax: +7 7172 50 20 18
ktc.kz.info@kapsch.net

Malaysia 

Kapsch TrafficCom (M) Sdn Bhd
4th Floor, Tower Block
Syed Kechik Foundation Building
Jalan Kapas, Bangasar
59100 Kuala Lumpur
Phone: +60 3 2092 1161
ktc.my.info@kapsch.net

Mexico 

Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS, S.A. de C.V.
Lago Nyassa #27 
Col. Granada, Mexico, D.F.   
C.P. 11520
Phone/Fax: +52 55 8488 5444 
ktc.mx.info@kapsch.net 

New Zealand 

Kapsch TrafficCom Ltd.
PO Box 37542 Parnell, Auckland 1151
13 O’Connel Street, Central Auckland
Phone: +61 3 8656 7900
Fax: +61 3 8656 7901
ktc.nz.info@kapsch.com.au

Poland

Kapsch Telematic Services Sp. z o.o.
Poleczki Business Park - Building A1
ul. Poleczki 35
02-822 Warsaw
Phone: +48 22 351 47 00
Fax: +48 22 351 47 09 
kts.pl.info@kapsch.net

Russian Federation 

Kapsch TrafficCom Russia OOO
Bakhrushina Street 32/1
Office No. 509
115054 Moscow
Phone/Fax: +7 (495) 956 63 29
ktc.ru.info@kapsch.net
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Slovenia 

Kapsch TrafficCom d.o.o.
Ribičičeva ulica 33
1000 Ljubljana
Phone: +38 0590 34 283
Fax: +38 0590 34 286
ktc.si.info@kapsch.net

South Africa 

Kapsch TrafficCom SA (Pty) Ltd.
6th Floor, Helvetia House
1 Greenvale Road
Wilbart, Germiston 1401
Gauteng
Phone: +27 11 455 2280
Fax: +27 11 455 2276
ktc.za.info@kapsch.co.za

Electronic Toll Collection (Pty) Ltd.
COC
No. 36 Assegaai Wood Street
Rooihuiskraal
Extension 39
Centurion
Postal address:
P O Box 68383
Highveld Park 0169
Phone: +27 11 083 2000
Fax: +27 11 083 3325

TMT Services and Supplies (Pty) Ltd. 
Ground Floor, Building D
Plattekloof Park, Bloulelie crescent
Plattekloof, Cape Town, 7500, South Africa
Postal address:
PO Box 234 , Century City 
Cape Town 7446
Phone: +27 (0) 21 929 5300
Fax: +27 (0) 21 929 5394
info@tmtservices.co.za

Sweden 

Kapsch TrafficCom AB
Bataljonsgatan 10, Box 1063
551 10 Jönköping
Phone: +46 36 290 1500
Fax: +46 36 290 1501
ktc.se.info@kapsch.net

United Kingdom 

Kapsch TrafficCom Ltd.
Unit 2 espace
26 St. Thomas Place
Ely CAMBS CB7 4EX
Phone: +44 0 1353 644 010
Fax: +44 0 1353 611 001
ktc.uk.info@kapsch.net

U.S.A. 

Kapsch TrafficCom U.S. Corp.
21515 Ridgetop Circle, Suite 290
Sterling, VA 20166
Phone: +1 (703) 885 1976
ktc.us-dc.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch TrafficCom Inc.
2035 Corte del Nogal, Suite 105
Carlsbad, CA 92011
Phone: +1 (760) 602 8535
ktc.us-san.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Inc. 
54 S. Commerce Way, Suite 100
Bethlehem, PA 18017
Phone: +1 (610) 419 1479
ktc.us-be.info@kapsch.net

Kapsch TrafficCom IVHS Inc. 
703 Giddings Ave, Ste U6
Annapolis, MD 21401
Phone: +1 (301) 535 1563
ktc.us-an.info@kapsch.net
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Glossary.

ANPR Automatic number plate recognition 

CEN Comité Européen de Normalisation (European Committee for Standardization) – responsible for defining  
common legislative procedures for contractual obligations among toll operators to achieve interoperability  
in toll systems in Europe (CEN Standards)

DSRC Dedicated short-range communication

ETC Electronic toll collection 

GHz Gigahertz

GNSS Global navigation satellite system

GPS Global positioning system 

GPRS General packet radio service

GSM Global system for mobile communication

ISO International organization for standardization

ITS Intelligent transportation systems

LAN Local area network 

VPS Vehicle positioning systems

MHz Megahertz

MLFF Multi-lane free-flow

OBU On-board unit (also called tag)

Transceiver Device that has both a transmitter and a receiver

Transponder Automatic device that receives, amplifies and transmits a signal on a different frequency

VDC Vehicle detection and classification

VDR Vehicle detection and registration

WLAN Wireless local area network

WAVE Wireless access in vehicular environment

  



Seven-Year Review of Key Data.

Earnings Data 1 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

Revenues in million EUR 388.6 216.0 200.3 185.7 198.6 116.2 121.9

EBITDA  in million EUR 62.5 32.0 35.0 39.0 30.8 21.0 18.7

    EBITDA margin in % 16.1 14.8 17.5 21.0 15.5 18.1 15.4

EBIT in million EUR 48.9 24.5 29.0 34.9 26.9 17.3 13.0

EBIT margin in % 12.6 11.4 14.5 18.8 13.5 14.9 10.7

Profit before tax in million EUR 41.3 43.9 21.9 42.8 27.0 17.8 13.5

Profit for the period  (adjusted) 2 in million EUR 28.4 36.5 (22.5) 16.4 32.1 20.3 12.3 14.2

Earnings per share 3 (adjusted) 2 in EUR 1.81 2.64 (1.49) 1.06 2.60 2.04 1.24 1.43

Free cash flow 4 in million EUR -19.9 41.6 19.9 -14.8 -39.1 14.4 18.6

Capital expenditure 5 in million EUR 8.3 4.8 22.2 4.0 2.3 1.3 3.0

Employees 6 2,167 1,023 946 824 774 569 572

Business Segments 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

Road Solution Projects (RSP)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 158.9 (41 %) 45.8 (21 %) 56.8 (28 %) 47.0 (25%) 105.0 (53 %) 18.7 (16 %) 30.0 (25 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 0.1 (0.1 %) -20.9 (-45.6 %) -1.7 (-2.9 %) 6.3 (13.4 %) 11.6 (11.0 %) 2.7 (14.5 %) 2.2 (7.2 %)

Services, System Extensions, Components Sales (SEC)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 223.3 (57 %) 161.9 (75 %) 135.6 (68 %) 128.8 (69 %) 80.6 (41 %) 76.2 (66 %) 78.0 (64 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 48.3 (21.6 %) 45.3 (28.0 %) 31.7 (23.4 %) 29.1 (22.6 %) 15.8 (19.6 %) 13.5 (17.7 %) 11.5 (14.7 %)

Others (OTH)

Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 6.4 (2 %) 8.3 (4 %) 8.0 (4 %) 10.0 (5 %) 13.0 (7 %) 21.3 (18 %) 13.9 (11 %)

EBIT (EBIT margin) in million EUR 0.4 (6.7 %) 0.2 (1.9 %) -1.0 (-12.6 %) -0.4 (-4.3 %) -0.5 (-3.7 %) 1.1 (5.2 %) -0.6 (-4.5 %)

Regions 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

Austria – Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 37.5 (10 %) 42.4 (20 %) 37.8 (19 %) 36.6 (20 %) 47.3 (24%) 57.9 (50 %) 51.0 (42 %)

Europe (excl. Austria) – Revenues  
(percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 182.0 (47 %) 117.1 (54 %) 122.8 (61 %) 105.2 (57 %) 122.9 (61%) 29.4 (25 %) 27.7 (23 %)

Americas – Revenues (percentage of Revenues) in million EUR 27.6 (7 %) 12.1 (5 %) 14.0 (7 %) 18.8 (10 %) 15.4 (8 %) 9.4 (8 %) 23.8 (20 %)

Rest of World – Revenues (percentage of 
Revenues) in million EUR 141.5 (36 %) 44.5 (21 %) 25.6 (13 %) 25.2 (14 %) 13.0 (7 %) 19.5 (17 %) 19.4 (16 %)

Balance Sheet Data 31 March 2011 31 March 2010 31 March 2009 31 March 2008 31 March 2007 31 March 2006 31 March 2005

Total assets in million EUR 450.1 295.1 324.5 298.4 227.2 131.9 133.5

Total equity 7 in million EUR 191.5 168.2 134.2 133.4 45.6 39.1 37.4

Equity ratio 7 in % 42.5 57.0 41.4 44.7 20.1 29.6 28.0

Net assets (+) / debt (-) in million EUR -47.2 35.3 5.0 28.4 -12.5 37.2 29.4

Capital employed in million EUR 288.7 187.5 193.4 161.3 78.2 48.6 47.8

Net working capital in million EUR 175.9 104.6 122.3 131.4 56.8 43.2 42.5

1	 only continuing operations 
2	 2009/10 adjusted for the EUR 14 million fair value adjustment of the share in Q-Free ASA, Norway
3	 earnings per share in each of fiscal year 2010/11, 2009/10 and 2008/09 relate to 12.2 million shares, in fiscal year 2007/08 relate to a weighted average number of 11.7 million 
	 outstanding shares and in each of fiscal year 2006/07, 2005/06 and 2004/05 relate to 10.0 million shares
4	 operating cash flow minus capital expenditure from operations (excl. payments for acquisition of companies and purchases of securities and investments)
5	 capital expenditure from operations (excl. payments for acquisition of companies and purchases of securities and investments)
6	 as of 31 March of each year
7	 incl. minority interests
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Financial Calendar.

22 August 2011
Interim financial report Fiscal Year 2011/12-Q1

22 August 2011
Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting for Fiscal Year 
2010/11

29 August 2011
Deduction of dividends for Fiscal Year 2010/11 
(ex-day)

5 September 2011
First day of payment for Fiscal Year 2010/11 
dividends

30 November 2011
Interim financial report Fiscal Year 2011/12-Q2

29 February 2012
Interim financial report Fiscal Year 2011/12-Q3

22 June 2012
Results Fiscal Year 2011/12

24 August 2012
Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting for Fiscal Year 
2010/11

31 August 2012
Deduction of dividends for Fiscal Year 2011/12 
(ex-day)

7 September 2012
First day of payment for Fiscal Year 2011/12 
dividends

Information on the  
Kapsch TrafficCom Share.

Investor Relations Officer
Marcus Handl

Shareholders’ Telephone
+43 50 811 1120

E-Mail
ir.kapschtraffic@kapsch.net

Website
www.kapsch.net

Stock exchange
Vienna, Prime Market

ISIN
AT000KAPSCH9

Trading Symbol
KTCG

Reuters
KTCG.VI

Bloomberg
KTCG AV



Kapsch TrafficCom AG  |  Am Europlatz 2  |  1120 Vienna  |  Austria  |  www.kapschtraffic.com 

Investor Relations  |  Marcus Handl  |  Phone +43 50 811 1120  |  Fax +43 50 811 99 1120  |  E-mail ir.kapschtraffic@kapsch.net

Corporate Communications  |  Alf Netek  |  Phone +43 50 811 1710  |  Fax +43 50 811 99 1710  |  E-mail alf.netek@kapsch.net 

Kapsch TrafficCom is an international supplier of superior Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS). Its principle business is the 

development and supply of electronic toll collection systems, in particular for the multi-lane free-flow of the traffic, and the technical 

and commercial operation of such systems. Kapsch TrafficCom also supplies traffic management systems, urban traffic solutions  

and selected ITS and telematic applications. With 260 references in 41 countries on all 5 continents, and with almost 44 million  

on-board units delivered and more than 18,000 lanes equipped, Kapsch TrafficCom has positioned itself among the internationally 

recognized suppliers of electronic toll collection systems worldwide. Kapsch TrafficCom is headquartered in Vienna, Austria, and  

has subsidiaries and representative offices in 25 countries.


